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Management’s review includes the sections ‘Man-
agement’s report’ and ‘Portfolio Companies’ 
 
This publication is a translation of the Danish An-
nual Report 2015. The original Danish text shall 
be contolling for all purposes, and in cases of dis-
crepancy, the Danish wording shall be applicable. 
 
Published in March 2016 by Aktieselskabet Schouw & Co. 
 

As in previous years, Schouw & Co. will not be printing and distributing a conventional annual report. 
We have published a shareholder magazine to accompany our full-length annual report and readers 
may benefit from reading the annual report in conjunction with the shareholder magazine. The share-
holder magazine is available in a print version and electronically at www.schouw.dk 
 
The annual report contains a full presentation of financial statements and a full management's re-
port, whereas the articles in the shareholder magazine provide supplementary information about our 
portfolio companies in the interviews with our subsidiary CEOs. 
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There have been many good years in Schouw & 
Co.’s almost 140-year history, but 2015 was defi-
nitely one of the very best. We generated EBIT of 
DKK 831 million and, through that, cash flows 
from operations of almost DKK 1.2 billion. Both 
were best-ever performances in Schouw & Co. his-
tory and substantially better than we had dared 
hope for at the beginning of the year.  
 
Our very solid performance comes on the back of 
the platform we have established over the past 
few years. We are strongly committed to future-
proofing our businesses by giving priority to de-
velopment, innovation and long-term investment. 
 
A common characteristic of all of our businesses 
in their busy everyday operations and challenging 
market conditions is their ever-present commit-
ment and dedication to visionary, innovative 
thinking and a long-term approach. It is a culture 
we value very highly at Schouw & Co.   
 
The last few months have been full of intense ac-
quisition activity, and we are very pleased with 
the additions of Specma and GPV to the Schouw 
family.   
 
Our acquisition of Swedish company Specma has 
taken Hydra-Grene a very significant step towards 
becoming the leading Nordic supplier of hydrau-
lics solutions, both for local manufacturers and 
for global industrial groups. This is a transfor-
mation we have wanted for the company for many 
years. 
 

We also look forward to adding a new business to 
our portfolio after the GPV acquisition, which 
will presumably be completed soon. It has been 
ten years since we last added a new leg to 
Schouw & Co., and we are very excited about our 
new exposure to the international electronics in-
dustry. We are confident that through active own-
ership we can accelerate growth and bring the 
company to a new and stronger level, just as we 
have done with our other portfolio businesses. 
 
Our focus in 2016 will be on helping our already 
large and strong companies become even better 
prepared to meet the challenges and opportunities 
that may come their way.  
 
We never forget how important every single 
penny is, and together with our ongoing focus on 
margin management, that will be our foundation 
for generating attractive cash flows in the coming 
years as well. Long-term investment in innovation 
and in developing value-creating products and 
services will be a priority for us in future-proofing 
our strategic platform.  
 
Jens Bjerg Sørensen, President and CEO 
Aarhus, 4 March 2016 
 

 

 
 
  

Sustained value creation and future-proofing 
I N T R O D U C T I O N  
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Realised in 2015 
 Revenue rose to DKK 12.6 billion. (2014: 11.8). 

 EBIT up to DKK 831 million (2014: 708), which 
was much better than expected during the year. 

 Cash flows from operations improved by more 
than DKK 500 million to DKK 1,171 million, 
mainly due to lower working capital. Free cash 
flow of DKK 602 million. 

 All portfolio companies reported revenue and 
EBIT improvements relative to 2014. 

 NIBD was a net deposit of DKK 511 million.  
 High level of activity in portfolio companies:  
BioMar set up a joint venture in China, Fibertex 
Personal Care resolved investment in printing fa-
cilities in Malaysia, Fibertex Nonwovens acquired 
company in Turkey, and Hydra-Grene agreed to 
acquire its much larger Swedish peer Specma. 
 Our ROIC improved for the sixth consecutive 
year, reaching 18.3%, excluding goodwill, and 
15.1% when stated including goodwill. 

 
Outlook for 2016 
 Still very competitive markets, but earnings are 
expected to remain attractive. 

 Completion of GPV expected . First time in ten 
years, a new leg is added to the portfolio.  

 We expect 2016 revenue to be around DKK 14.2 
billion (2015: 12.6) and EBIT in the range of DKK 
760-850 million (2015: 831). These numbers are 
stated without the effect of the GPV acquisition. 

 The share of profit in associates etc. is expected 
to be DKK 75-85 million after tax. 

 Proposal to increase the dividend for the 2015 
financial year by 25% to DKK 10 per share.  

BioMar 
Volumes sold were down on 2014, but revenue 
was up by 6%, mostly due to higher raw materials 
prices and currency appreciation. EBIT grew to 
DKK 447 million (2014: 434) mainly as a result of 
changes in foreign exchange rates, proper cost 
control and margin management in all regions. 
Facing challenging market conditions, and a 
slight drop in EBIT is expected relative to 2015. 
 
Fibertex Personal Care 
Revenue was marginally up from 2014, but EBIT 
was up by 47% to DKK 253 million (2014: 171) 
due to efficient operations, attractive raw materi-
als prices and favourable FX rate developments. 
EBIT for 2016 is expected lower than in 2015. 
 
Fibertex Nonwovens 
Revenue up by 17% and EBIT up by 23% to DKK 
76 million in 2015. Improvements expected to 
continue in 2016, which will be a year of consoli-
dating past investments. 
 
Hydra-Grene 
Revenue up to DKK 603 million (2014: 566), and 
EBIT up by 30% to DKK 78 million, driven by a 
high level of activity in the wind turbine segment. 
Specma acquisition will lift 2016 revenue and 
earnings, but market expectations moderate.  
 
Kramp (20% owned) 
Revenue up by 5% to DKK 5,126 million and 
EBIT rose by 17% to DKK 474 million. Revenue 
expected to improve and EBIT to remain flat in 
2016 despite the challenging conditions facing the 
agricultural sector. 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 

6.6% 
 Revenue growth from 

 2014 to 2015 

17.5% 
 EBIT growth from 2014 to 2015 

18.3% 
 Sixth consecutive increase in 

ROIC (excluding goodwill) in 2015 

Best EBIT performance in Schouw & Co. history 
H I G H L I G H T S  

DKK 10 
 Dividend raised for the fifth consecutive 

year. This year by DKK 2 per share. 
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GROUP SUMMARY (DKK MILLION) 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

     
Revenue and income      
Revenue 12,566 11,784 11,645 12,478 11,929
Operating profit before depreciation (EBITDA) 1,214 1,070 1,039 1,163 1,049
Depreciation and impairment losses 383 363 354 390 403
Operating profit (EBIT) 831 708 685 772 646
Profit after tax in associates and joint ventures 86 28 -21 -5 -26
Value adjustment of financial investments* 0 0 499 -68 -556
Financial items, net (ex. financial investments) -46 -35 -53 -86 -107
Profit before tax 871 701 1,109 613 -41
Profit for the year from continuing operations 645 428 860 469 -72
Profit for the year from discontinued operations 0 0 508 29 0
Profit for the year 645 428 1,368 498 -72

     
Cash flows  
Cash flows from operating activities 1,171 628 667 862 419
Cash flows from investing activities -569 -355 522 -365 -803
Of which investment in property, plant and equipment -354 -233 -346 -351 -565
Cash flows from financing activities -324 -563 -687 -660 471
Cash flows from discontinued operations 0 0 434 30 0
Cash flows for the year 278 -290 936 -133 87

     
Invested capital and financing      
Invested capital excluding goodwill 4,464 4,528 4,045 5,100 5,407
Total assets 10,516 9,882 9,696 10,381 9,901
Working capital 1,598 1,775 1,424 1,892 2,147
Net interest bearing debt (NIBD) -511 44 -23 2,023 2,745
Share of equity attributable to shareholders of Schouw & Co. 6,656 6,071 5,743 4,624 4,196
Non-controlling interests 21 3 3 3 34
Total equity 6,677 6,074 5,746 4,627 4,230

     
Financial data  
EBITDA margin (%) 9.7 9.1 8.9 9.3 8.8
EBIT margin (%) 6.6 6.0 5.9 6.2 5.4
EBT margin (%) 6.9 6.0 9.5 4.9 -0.3
Return on equity (%) 10.2 7.2 26.4 11.3 -1.7
Equity ratio (%) 63.5 61.5 59.3 44.6 42.7
ROIC excluding goodwill (%)  18.3 16.9 16.1 15.2 13.8
ROIC including goodwill (%)  15.1 14.0 13.3 12.9 11.8
NIBD/EBITDA  -0.4 0.0 0.0 1.7 2.6
Average number of employees during the year 2,382 2,139 2,052 2,873 3,287
 

 
GROUP SUMMARY (DKK MILLION) 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

      
Per share data   
Earnings per share (of DKK 10) 27.48 18.08 57.46 21.09 -3.07
Diluted earnings per share (of DKK 10) 27.38 18.02 57.28 21.07 -3.06
Dividend per share (of DKK 10) 10.00 8.00 6.00 5.00 4.00
Net asset value per share (of DKK 10) 282.10 258.44 240.49 196.25 178.62
Share price at year end (of DKK 10) 387.00 290.00 222.50 149.00 92.50
Price/net asset value 1.37 1.12 0.93 0.76 0.52
Market capitalisation at year end 9,131 6,812 5,313 3,511 2,173
 
 

Definitions of financial ratios 
Earnings per share (EPS) and diluted earnings per share (EPS-D) are calculated in accordance with 
IAS 33. Other key ratios are calculated in accordance with "Recommendations and Ratios 2015" is-
sued by the Danish Finance Society.  
 
The financial ratios in the annual report are calculated in the following manner: 

 

Return on equity 
Profit for the year excluding non-controlling interests 

Avg. equity excluding non-controlling interests 

ROIC excluding goodwill 
EBITA 

Avg. invested capital excluding goodwill 

ROIC including goodwill 
EBITA 

Avg. invested capital including goodwill 

Equity ratio 
Equity at year end 

Total liabilities and equity at year end 

Earnings per share (EPS) 
Profit for the year excluding non-controlling interests 

Average number of shares in circulation 

Diluted earnings per share (EPS-D) 
Profit for the year excluding non-controlling interests 

Diluted average number of shares in circulation 

Net asset value per share 
Equity at year end, excluding non-controlling interests 

No. of shares at year end excl. treasury shares 

Price/net asset value (P/NAV) 
Market capitalisation at year end 

Equity at year end, excluding non-controlling interests 
Market capitalisation Number of shares, ex treasury shares, x share price 

 

Financial highlights and key ratios 
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BioMar 

F A C T S  BioMar is the world’s third-largest manu-
facturer of quality feed for the fish farming indus-
try. The core business areas are feed for salmon, 
trout, sea bass, sea bream and tilapia. 

G E O G R A P H Y  Head office in Aarhus, Denmark. Pro-
duction facilities in Norway, Scotland, Denmark, 
France, Spain, Greece, Chile and Costa Rica. 

O W N E R S H I P  In 2005, Schouw & Co. took a 68.8% 
majority interest in BioMar, then a listed company. 
BioMar became a wholly owned subsidiary follow-
ing a merger in 2008. 

www.biomar.com 

 

Fibertex Nonwovens 

F A C T S  Fibertex Nonwovens is among Europe's 
leading manufacturers of nonwovens, i.e. non-wo-
ven textiles used for many different industrial pur-
poses.  

G E O G R A P H Y  Head office in Aalborg, Denmark. 
Production facilities in Denmark, France, the 
Czech Republic, Turkey, the USA and South Af-
rica.  

O W N E R S H I P  Fibertex was founded in 1968 and 
was acquired by Schouw & Co. in 2002.  

www.fibertex.com 

Kramp 

F A C T S  Kramp is Europe's leading trading and lo-
gistics company supplying spare parts and acces-
sories for agriculture. 

G E O G R A P H Y  Head office in Varsseveld, the Neth-
erlands. Central warehouse facilities covering most 
of Europe. 

O W N E R S H I P  Kramp was founded in 1951. 
Schouw & Co. became a 20% shareholder in 2013, 
when the wholly owned subsidiary Grene merged 
with Kramp. 

www.kramp.com 

Fibertex Personal Care 

F A C T S  Fibertex Personal Care is among the 
world's largest manufacturers of spunbond/spun-
melt nonwoven textiles for the personal care in-
dustry, manufacturing mainly diapers, sanitary 
towels and incontinence products.  

G E O G R A P H Y  Head office in Aalborg, Denmark. 
Production facilities in Denmark and Malaysia and 
printing facilities in Germany.  

O W N E R S H I P  Fibertex was founded in 1968 and 
was acquired by Schouw & Co. in 2002. The Per-
sonal Care activities have been a part of Fibertex 
since 1998 and were hived off as an independent 
portfolio company of Schouw & Co. at the begin-
ning of 2011. 

www.fibertexpersonalcare.com 

Hydra/Specma 

F A C T S  Hydra-Grene and Specma are specialised 
trading and engineering companies whose core 
business areas are trading and producing hydraulic 
components and systems development for industry 
as well as related consulting services. 

G E O G R A P H Y  Head office in Skjern, Denmark. Fa-
cilities in Denmark, Sweden, Finland, Poland, the 
UK, China, India, the USA and Russia. 

O W N E R S H I P Hydra-Grene was founded as an inde-
pendent company in 1974 and has been a part of 
the Schouw & Co. Group since 1988. Specma was 
founded in 1920 and has been a part of the Group 
since 2016.  

www.hydra.dk and www.specma.com 

Other investments 

X E R G I  Xergi is one of Europe's leading suppliers 
of turnkey biogas systems. Its core business con-
sists of technology development, system design 
and installation as well as system operation and 
maintenance. Schouw & Co. co-owns Xergi on a 
fifty/fifty basis together with Dalgasgroup 
(Hedeselskabet).  

I N C U B A  I N V E S T  Schouw & Co. holds a 49% stake 
in Incuba Invest A/S, a development and venture 
operation supporting entrepreneurial environ-
ments and investing actively in new companies.  

P R O P E R T Y  In addition to the operational proper-
ties of the portfolio companies, Schouw & Co. also 
owns a small number of properties, including the 
parent company head office in Aarhus and two 
properties in Frederikshavn, Denmark. 

Our businesses 
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Financial performance  
The companies of the Schouw & Co. Group had 
another good year in 2015. Expectations were  
relatively moderate at the beginning of the year, 
as volatility raised challenging prospects, but fa-
vourable developments especially in the fourth 
quarter due among other things to the positive ef-
fects of raw materials prices and foreign exchange 
rates enabled us to raise our profit guidance sev-
eral times during the year. 
   
FOURTH QUARTER 2015 Q4 2014 Q4 Change 
Revenue 3,078 3,102 -24 -1%
EBITDA 358 296 63 21%
EBIT 259 199 61 31%
Associates etc. 10 12 -2 -15%
Profit before tax 282 201 81 40%
Cash flow from operations 551 342 209 61%

 
The Group's companies improved consolidated 
revenue by 7% from DKK 11,784 million in 2014 
to DKK 12,566 million in 2015. The revenue per-
formance was composed of several opposing fac-
tors, including changing prices of raw materials, 
foreign exchange rates and volume sales, but all of 
our consolidated businesses reported revenue im-
provements. 
 
EBIT rose from DKK 708 million in 2014 to DKK 
831 million in 2015. The 17% EBIT improvement 
was driven mainly by Fibertex Personal Care, but 
BioMar, Fibertex Nonwovens and Hydra-Grene 
also contributed. 
 
The large associate Kramp reported EBIT im-
provements as expected. Kramp is recognised as 
an associate in the Schouw & Co. consolidated fi-
nancial statements at a 20% share of its profit as 

stated after tax. The recognised share of profit for 
2015 amounted to DKK 71 million, against DKK 
22 million in 2014. However, a comparison with 
2014 should take into account the fact that the 
recognised share of the profit in Kramp for the 
first four months of 2014 was reduced by DKK 36 
million in adjustments that were mainly the result 
of the purchase price allocation prepared in con-
nection with the merger of Kramp and Grene in 
2013. 
 
Xergi, which is recognised as a joint venture, 
achieved the expected revenue and earnings im-
provements, and a DKK 9 million share of the 
profit has been recognised under Profit/loss after 
tax in joint ventures for 2015, compared with 
DKK 5 million in 2014. 
 
Consolidated net financial items were an expense 
of DKK 46 million in 2015, compared with a DKK 
35 million expense in 2014. The expense for 2015 
derived mainly from a DKK 43 million write-
down of securities by BioMar due to the strained 
situation facing Chile’s fish farming industry. 
Other financial expenses were partially offset by 
foreign exchange adjustments. 
 
FULL YEAR 2015 Q4 2014 Q4 Change 
Revenue 12,566 11,784 782 7%
EBITDA 1,214 1,070 144 13%
EBIT 831 708 124 17%
Associates etc. 86 28 58 208%
Profit before tax 871 701 170 24%
Cash flow from operations 1,171 628 544 87%
Net interest-bearing debt -511 44 -555 -
Working capital 1,598 1,775 -176 -10%
ROIC excl. goodwill 18.3% 16.9% 1.4pp
ROIC incl. goodwill 15.1% 14.0% 1.1pp  

Liquidity and capital resources 
The Schouw & Co. Group’s operating activities 
generated a cash inflow of DKK 1,171 million in 
2015, compared with DKK 628 million in 2014. 
Cash flows for investing activities amounted to 
DKK 569 million in 2015, against DKK 355 mil-
lion in 2014. 
 
Consolidated net interest-bearing debt at 31 De-
cember 2014 was a moderate DKK 44 million, and 
with the cash inflow for 2015, this item was con-
verted into a net deposit of DKK 511 million at 31 
December 2015.   
  
The Group's overall working capital fell from 
DKK 1,775 million at 31 December 2014, to DKK 
1,598 million at 31 December 2015, most of the 
reduction being attributable to BioMar. 
 
Group developments 
Our portfolio companies generally saw good ac-
tivity in most of their active markets in 2015, al-
though they all experienced mounting interna-
tional competition. There is a fierce battle for 
market share everywhere, and customers are very 
determined to get competitive prices and terms of 
trade. That forces our portfolio companies to con-
stantly invest in safeguarding their competitive 
strength, and in some cases having to take strate-
gic positions to secure necessary market share. 
 
Much of the developments in 2015 were driven 
by significant changes in prices of raw materials 
and in foreign exchange rates, which combined to 
contribute to the profit for the year, particularly 
towards the end of the period.   
  

Management's report 
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The following is a brief review of individual com-
pany performances in 2015: 
 
BioMar reported a drop in volume sales relative to 
2014, but even so lifted revenue by 6% mainly 
due to higher average prices of raw materials and 
changes in foreign exchange rates. EBIT also im-
proved relative to last year. 
 
BioMar is working hard to expand its operations 
by developing feed for fish species previously not 
served and establishing a presence in new geo-
graphical markets. The company is currently 
working to establish production in Turkey in as-
sociation with the local company Sagun Group, 
and to set up production in China in association 
with Tongwei, the major Chinese producer of fish 
feed. In Norway, a developed market, BioMar is 
expanding its output capacity by building a new 
production line at the factory in Karmøy. 
 
Fibertex Personal Care achieved a rather moder-
ate revenue improvement but a substantial EBIT 
improvement. The performance was primarily 
due to a sharp drop in prices of raw materials to-
wards the end of the year and unusually large, 
positive foreign exchange effects in the second 
half of 2015. 
 
Early in 2015, Fibertex Personal Care stepped up 
operations in its German printing business 
Innowo Print by establishing a third production 
line that increased the company’s capacity for di-
rect printing on nonwoven fabrics by 30%. 
 
Fibertex Nonwovens increased its ownership in-
terest in Fibertex South Africa from 26% to 74% 

effective from 1 March 2015, and the South Afri-
can company was consolidated from that date. In 
November 2015, Fibertex Nonwovens acquired 
the nonwoven operations of the Turkish company 
Ribatek. 
 
Fibertex Nonwovens reported a substantial reve-
nue improvement, which was attributable to the 
full-year effect of the acquisition of a US company 
in October 2014 and the consolidation of the ac-
quisitions in South Africa and Turkey in March 
and November 2015, respectively. The full-year 
EBIT improved, in part due to a greater propor-
tion of advanced products for the auto industry 
and other specialist products and the effect of the 
US acquisition in 2014, whereas the South Afri-
can business was a negative contributor.  
 
Hydra-Grene reported a fair revenue improvement 
mainly driven by higher sales to the wind turbine 
industry. EBIT also improved over 2014, when 
the results were impacted by substantial costs of 
implementing a new ERP system. 
 
In November 2015, Hydra-Grene agreed to acquire 
the Swedish hydraulics business Specma. The 
transaction, which nearly trebles the Group’s hy-
draulics operations, was completed on 4 January 
2016.  
 
Kramp, which is recognised as an associate, re-
ported an increase in revenue and a positive per-
formance in most of its markets. EBIT also im-
proved relative to 2014.  
 
Xergi, which is recognised as a joint venture, re-
ported a high level of activity following recent 

years' heavy investment in technology innovation 
and in building a substantial customer and project 
portfolio. The company lifted its revenue by 32% 
and also strongly improved its net profit.  
 
Events after the balance sheet date 
On 9 November 2015, Schouw & Co. signed an 
agreement to acquire the Swedish hydraulics 
business Specma AB. The transaction was com-
pleted on 4 January 2016, and Specma is thus 
consolidated with effect from the beginning of 
2016.  
 
On 29 January 2016, Schouw & Co. signed an 
agreement to acquire the Danish EMS manufac-
turer GPV International A/S. The agreement is 
subject to approval by the relevant authorities, 
and the transaction is expected to be completed 
around 1 April 2016.  
 
Other than as set out above and elsewhere in this 
Annual Report, Schouw & Co. is not aware of 
events occurring after 31 December 2015, which 
are expected to have a material impact on the 
Group's financial position or outlook.  
  

Management's report 
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Special risks 
Schouw & Co. is an industrial conglomerate 
whose activities are distributed on various busi-
ness areas. By diversifying its businesses, the 
Group spreads the ordinary business risk expo-
sure related to its individual business areas.  
 
However, over the past few years, BioMar has 
grown to a size that in terms of a number of key 
ratios represents more than half of the consoli-
dated group. Accordingly, the risks that specifi-
cally attach to BioMar weigh heavily in a consoli-
dated perspective. The special risks that inher-
ently follow from being a producer of fish feed in-
volve in particular the biological and climatic is-
sues relating to fish farming. 
 
Several of the Group’s business areas rely on cer-
tain raw materials and are thus sensitive to large 
fluctuations in the prices of such raw materials. 
This applies in particular to BioMar and the two 
Fibertex companies, although they apply auto-
matic price adjustment mechanisms to a large ex-
tent. 
 
The Group’s businesses have substantial trade re-
ceivables and all are generally very attentive to 
following up on receivables. Of the Group’s re-
ceivables is about half credit insured or secured 
through collateral.  
 
The Group has interest-bearing debt, some of 
which has short-term maturities, while some car-
ries floating interest rates, resulting in overall or-
dinary risk. However, the Group's current limited 
net interest-bearing debt makes this a relatively 
less important risk factor at the present time.  

The majority of the Group’s activities are located 
in Denmark and in other European countries with 
relatively stable political conditions. but it also 
has substantial assets outside of Europe, primarily 
in Malaysia and Chile. 
 
The Group believes that it has ordinary insurance 
cover for its assets and activities. 
 

Dividend  
The Board of Directors recommends to the An-
nual General Meeting that the dividend for 2015 
be raised by 25% to DKK 10.00 per share, for an 
amount equal to 2.6% of the market capitalisation 
at 31 December 2015. As a result, total dividend 
payments will amount to DKK 255 million, equal 
to a payout ratio of 40%.  
 
 
  

Management's report  
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The companies of the Schouw & Co. Group are 
generally well-positioned with international com-
petitive strength, and the Group has adequate re-
sources to facilitate the necessary business initia-
tives. 
 
Current market conditions are characterised by 
several material sources of volatility. Europe re-
mains bogged down by economic weakness and 
geopolitical tension that is impacting the Group's 
operations. Nevertheless, our portfolio companies 
are reporting healthy activity in most of their mar-
ket segments, although some softness is detected 
in certain segments. In all markets, winning or-
ders is very demanding and requires highly com-
petitive prices and terms of trade.  
 
BioMar expects challenging market conditions 
with limited growth in the European markets and 
lower overall volume sales in Chile. However, the 
company expects to improve revenue and vol-
umes sold, but with a lower EBIT. 
 
Fibertex Personal Care expects to increase its rev-
enue in 2016, but also a considerable drop in 
EBIT relative to 2015 when a sharp drop in prices 
of raw materials towards the end of the year and 
unusually large, positive foreign exchange effects 
in the second half of 2015 produced extraordinary 
good results. 
 
Fibertex Nonwovens expects its recent investment 
and acquisitions to contribute to the company’s 
operations and projects both revenue and EBIT 
improvements for 2016. 
 

The acquisition of Specma will expand the hy-
draulics activities in 2016, but both Hydra-Grene 
and Specma have moderate expectations for 2016 
market developments. Revenue is projected to be 
maintained at the level the two companies re-
ported for 2015, but with slightly lower EBIT be-
fore adjustments resulting from the accounting 
treatment of the purchase price allocation. 
 
The associate Kramp projects continued revenue 
improvement and EBIT in line with the 2015 per-
formance. Xergi, which is recognised as a joint 
venture, expects to keep up the high level of busi-
ness activity in 2016, but for its profit to be lower 
than in 2015. 
 
Overall, Schouw & Co. expects to generate consol-
idated revenue in the vicinity of DKK 14.2 billion 
in 2016. However, for several of the companies, 
revenue depends very much on prices of raw ma-
terials, and any fluctuations can significantly 
change revenue without necessarily having any 
notable effect on earnings. 
 
Schouw & Co. applies a profit forecast range for 
each individual business, and aggregating these 
ranges indicates consolidated EBIT guidance for 
2016 in the range of DKK 760-850 million. 
 
The above guidance does not include the effects 
of the GPV acquisition, which is expected to be 
completed around 1 April 2016. Subject to com-
pletion of the transaction as planned, GPV is ex-
pected to contribute revenue in the nine months 
to 31 December 2016, of DKK 600-650 million and 
EBIT of around DKK 40 million before adjust-

ments for the accounting treatment of the pur-
chase price allocation to be prepared in connec-
tion with the acquisition. 
 
Associates and joint ventures, which are recog-
nised at a share of profit after tax, are expected to 
contribute profit of DKK 75–85 million in 2016, 
most of which amount will consist of the share of 
profit in Kramp. Net financials for 2016 are ex-
pected to be an expense in the region of DKK 35 
million.  
 
 
REVENUE  
(DKK million) 

2016  
forecast 

2015  
actual 

2014  
actual 

BioMar c. 9,200 8,974 8,451
Fibertex Personal Care c. 1,900 1,797 1,787
Fibertex Nonwovens c. 1,400 1,222 1,048
Hydra/Specma c. 1,700 603 566
Other/eliminations - -30 -68
Total revenue c. 14.2 bn 12,566 11,784

Kramp (100%) c. 5,400 5,126 4,905
 
 
EBIT  
(DKK million) 

2016  
forecast 

2015  
actual 

2014  
actual 

BioMar 410-450 447 434
Fibertex Personal Care 200-220 253 171
Fibertex Nonwovens 80-90 76 62
Hydra/Specma * 90-110 78 60
Other c. -20 -23 -20
Total EBIT 760-850 831 708
Associates etc. 75-85 86 28
Other financial items c. -35 -46 -35
Profit before tax 800-900 871 701

 
*After about DKK 25 million from Purchase Price Allocation 
The expected contribution from GPV should be added to the above 
numbers.   

Outlook 
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All companies of the Schouw & Co. Group im-
proved on their revenue and earnings in 2015 
relative to the year before, the fruit of several 
years of long-term investing to future-proof our 
companies’ strategic platforms. Our focus in 
2016 will remain on profitable growth, on using 
our capital efficiently and on future-proofing.   
 
During his tenure as President of Schouw & Co. 
since 2000, Jens Bjerg Sørensen has continually 
worked to make this almost 140-year-old indus-
trial conglomerate bigger and stronger.  
 
“Going into 2015, Schouw & Co. had a uniquely 
strong position for future growth. The Group had 
virtually no interest-bearing debt, and we had sev-
eral large and promising investments in the pipe-
line. Looking back on the year, we’re very pleased 
with the way we used our strong platform and our 
substantial cash flow to strengthen our portfolio 
companies and prime them for future growth and 
earnings,” says Mr Bjerg Sørensen. 
 
All companies of the Schouw & Co. Group im-
proved on their 2015 revenue and earnings rela-
tive to the year before, and the Group’s consoli-
dated EBIT is the highest ever. Even with its high 
level of investment, the Group’s net interest-bear-
ing debt was a net deposit of more than half a bil-
lion kroner thanks to the cash flows from operat-
ing activities totalling almost DKK 1.2 billion. 
Several of the larger investments will not affect 
the cash resources until in 2016, when the acqui-
sitions of Specma and GPV, whose price tags to-
talled more than DKK 1 billion, are completed. 
 
“We showed a commitment to growth and invest-
ment in 2015, and we’ve laid the groundwork for 
taking several of our businesses to the next level. 

For example, BioMar is currently expanding its 
feed production capacity in Norway by 30% and 
has set up a joint venture with Tongwei, China’s 
largest and most dominant producer of fish feed. 
While BioMar produces extremely efficient, high-
quality feed with full traceability in raw materials 
and is focused on sustainability throughout the 
value chain, the situation in China today is gener-
ally quite different, and we’re confident that Bio-
Mar can help change that. Expansion in Norway 
and setting up in China are both long-term moves 
that will help position BioMar to become one of 
the absolutely strongest players in the industry,” 
says the President.  
 
Stronger businesses 
Helping the businesses build an even stronger po-
sition in relation to their customers, their suppli-
ers and the competition and priming them for 
strong future earnings has been a core objective in 
recent years, and Schouw & Co. intends to put 
ever more effort into this commitment in 2016.  
 
“Over the past few years, we’ve invested heavily 
in making our businesses both larger and stronger. 
It’s now time to shift our focus to prioritising 
stronger businesses over larger ones. This does 
not imply that we have no ambition for growth, 
but it is important that such growth goes hand in 
hand with profitability. Growth will always be a 
prerequisite for development, but the timing is 
crucial.” 
 
The biggest changes will be seen in Hydra-Grene, 
a member of the Schouw family since 1988, due 
to the acquisition of Swedish hydraulics company 
Specma. Hydra-Grene has been trailing the other 
core Schouw & Co. businesses in revenue terms, 
and for the past several years the plan has been to 

use Hydra-Grene’s significant leading position in 
Denmark as a springboard for international expan-
sion.  
 
The acquisition of Specma, a company that gener-
ates nearly twice as much revenue as Hydra-
Grene, has markedly expanded Schouw & Co.’s 
hydraulics activities, and the platform for future 
growth has become considerably stronger. A com-
pany with a long-standing tradition of following 
major Swedish industrial companies to interna-
tional markets, Specma currently has operations 
in the United States, Brazil, China, the UK and 
Poland. This international presence will now be 
consolidated, and the task at hand will be to 
maintain profitability at an attractive level.  
 
Fair prospects for 2016 
The regular flow of investment into all the 
Group’s businesses and the acquisitions made in 
2015, combined with a consistently strong finan-
cial platform, make for fair prospects for Schouw 
& Co. in 2016. Mr Bjerg Sørensen is fairly confi-
dent about 2016: 
 
“We have the capacity for growth, and we’ve 
shown a commitment to investing in making our 
businesses stronger. Schouw & Co. remains well-
positioned for long-term value creation. The mar-
kets our companies operate in will always be 
highly competitive, but we are well prepared to 
face a changing world. Our company acquisitions 
from 2015 will propel us forward, and the future 
looks quite promising.”    

  

Portfolio companies growing stronger 
S T R A T E G Y  
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Schouw & Co. added a new business to its port-
folio in early 2016, the first addition since Bio-
Mar in 2005. GPV becomes the sixth leg for 
Schouw & Co.: the ambition is to bring GPV to a 
new and more attractive level through long-
term ownership.  
 
The autumn and winter months were a busy time 
for Schouw & Co. Shortly after acquiring Swedish 
hydraulics company Specma for DKK 650 mil-
lion, Schouw & Co. announced that it had agreed 
to spend DKK 400 million to acquire GPV Interna-
tional, Denmark’s leading player in electronic 
manufacturing services (EMS). With a reported 
2015 revenue of about DKK 850 million, GPV em-
ploys more than 1,000 people and has production 
facilities in Denmark (Tarm and Aars) and in 
Bangkok, Thailand.  
 
“GPV plays a leading role in the Danish market 
and is an internationally recognised electronics 
company. The company faced some challenges 
five to seven years ago but has since refocused 
and been back on track in recent years,” said 
Schouw & Co. President Jens Bjerg Sørensen. 
“We’re entering an industry that is new to us, but 
our approach will be to invest in profitable 
growth, use our capital efficiently, and future-
proof the company's strategic platform.”  
 
It has been more than ten years since Schouw & 
Co. last established a new business area. In the 
time following the financial crisis, adding new 
business areas was not on the agenda, but Schouw 
& Co. has been looking for an attractive new leg 
for the Group for the past few years: 
 

“We’ve spent a lot of time carefully identifying 
the right new business for Schouw & Co. The 
growth potential, the potential for transformation 
through active ownership, and the attractive valu-
ation and return on invested capital was the com-
bination that sold us on GPV. Acquiring GPV has 
given us a platform for a long-term investment 
that is hopefully also a value-creating one.  
 
GPV specialises in both electronics and advanced 
mechanics, which gives it a competitive ad-
vantage over pure electronics manufacturers. The 
company mainly supplies low-volume custom-
ised solutions with a high degree of flexibility, in-
cluding electronic sub-assembly solutions and 
finished goods (box builds). GPV manufactures a 
total of roughly 5,500 electronics products for 
about 300 international B2B customers.  
 
Just as it did a decade ago, the company’s cus-
tomer base includes some of the very largest inter-
national OEMs (original equipment manufactur-
ers) in the Cleantech, Instruments & Industry, 
Medico and Marine & Defence industries. GPV’s 
close and long-standing customer relationships 
ensure a solid position and opportunities for 
growth driven in part by the fact that more and 
more OEMs venture into strategic partnerships 
with EMS manufacturers to develop and produce 
electronic components outside their own core 
business. In addition, the growing demand for in-
dustrial products able to compile various types of 
information and communicate online also means 
growth opportunities for GPV.  
 
GPV operates in Europe and in Asia; according to 
Mr Bjerg Sørensen, setting up operations on the 

other side of the Atlantic would be an obvious 
next step in moving closer to the US market: 
 
“We have an ambitious growth plan that, among 
other things, includes setting up production facil-
ities in Mexico. For several years, GPV has suc-
cessfully retained and expanded relationships 
with customers that are among the most advanced 
in their fields, and, in the ever more global mar-
ket, it has become necessary to have a presence in 
the three most important time zones.  
 
Like the other Schouw & Co. portfolio businesses, 
GPV will now have owners with the financial 
clout to drive industry consolidation. As a result, 
acquisitions in the EMS industry will be an op-
tion as a means of accelerating growth. 
 
“Our acquisition of GPV makes it less probable 
that we’ll be establishing another new leg for our 
portfolio in the near future. Instead, we intend to 
concentrate on strengthening all the businesses in 
our portfolio, including GPV. However, we’re not 
in a rush to buy new companies. We plan to keep 
GPV in our portfolio for a good many years, so 
whether or not we land the first add-on within the 
first couple of years of ownership is not so im-
portant. What is important is that we make the 
right long-term decisions so the company will 
grow bigger and stronger.”   

GPV – a new leg in the Schouw & Co. portfolio 
S T R A T E G Y  



 

  Annual Report 2015  Schouw & Co.  13 

 

C H A I R M A N   

Jørn Ankær Thomsen  
Born 1945. Elected to the 
Board in 1982. Current term 
expires in 2018. 
 
LL.M., University of Copen-
hagen. Attorney and partner 
of Gorrissen Federspiel Law Firm. Member of the 
company’s audit committee. Mr Ankær Thomsen 
has special expertise in legal matters, including 
company law and capital markets, and in strategy, 
financial reporting, treasury and finance, as well 
as mergers and acquisitions. 
 
Directorships 
Chairman: Aida A/S, AP Invest Kapitalforening, 
Carlsen Byggecenter Løgten A/S, Th. C. Carlsen 
Løgten A/S, Carlsen Supermarked Løgten A/S, 
Danish Industrial Equipment A/S, Ejendoms-
selskabet FMJ A/S,  Fibertex Nonwovens A/S, Fi-
bertex Personal Care A/S, F.M.J. A/S, Givesco 
A/S, Investeringsforeningen Danske Invest, In-
vesteringsforeningen Danske Invest Select, In-
vesteringsforeningen Procapture, Investerings-
foreningen Profil Invest, Kapitalforeningen 
Danske Invest Institutional, Kildebjerg Ry A/S, 
Leighton Foods A/S, Løgten Midt A/S, Niels 
Bohrs Vej A/S, Schouw & Co. Finans A/S, Sønder-
gaard Give A/S.  
 
Deputy Chairman: Carletti A/S, Jens Eskildsen og 
Hustru Mary Antonie Eskildsens Mindefond. 
 
Board member: BioMar Group A/S, Dan Cake A/S, 
Danske Invest Management A/S, Givesco Bakery 
A/S, Givesco Ejendomme A/S, Hydra-Grene A/S, 

Jacobsens Bakery Ltd A/S, Købmand Th. C. 
Carlsens Mindefond. 
 
Executive Management: Advokatanpartsselskabet 
Jørn Ankær Thomsen, Galten Midtpunkt ApS, 
Perlusus ApS. 
 
Shares held in Schouw & Co. 
Holds 20,000 shares in Schouw & Co. 
 
Independence as a board member 
Jørn Ankær Thomsen is not considered to be in-
dependent due to his affiliation with the main 
shareholder Givesco A/S, his affiliation with a 
law firm which acts as an adviser to the company 
and the fact that he has served more than 12 years 
on the Board. 
 

D E P U T Y  C H A I R M A N   

Erling Eskildsen  
Born 1941. Elected to the 
Board in 1988. Current term 
expires in 2016. 
 
Managing director of 
Givesco A/S, the main share-
holder of Schouw & Co. Mr Eskildsen has special 
expertise in international business relations, in-
cluding specifically in manufacturing and foods. 
 
Directorships 
Chairman: Carletti A/S, Dan Cake A/S, Dan Cake 
Services ApS, Givesco Bakery A/S. 
 
Board member: Danish Industrial Equipment A/S, 
Givesco A/S, Hydra-Grene A/S, Jens Eskildsen og 
Hustru Mary Antonie Eskildsens Mindefond, 
Leighton Foods A/S, LHTS Invest A/S, OK Snacks 
A/S, Struer Brød A/S, Søndergaard Give A/S.  
 
Executive Management: Givesco A/S, Sønder-
gaard Give A/S. 
 
Shares held in Schouw & Co. 
Holds 1,004,462 shares in Schouw & Co. 
 
Independence as a board member 
Erling Eskildsen is not considered to be inde-
pendent due to his affiliation with the main 
shareholder Givesco A/S and the fact that he has 
served more than 12 years on the Board. 
 

Board of Directors 



 

  Annual Report 2015  Schouw & Co.  14 

 

B O A R D  M E M B E R   

Niels Kristian Agner  
Born 1943. Elected to the 
Board in 1998. Current term 
expires in 2018. 
 
B.Sc. (Bus.Adm.), Copenha-
gen Business School and a 
professional board member. Mr Agner has special 
expertise in capital markets, strategy, financial re-
porting, treasury and finance, international busi-
ness as well as mergers and acquisitions. 
 
Directorships 
Chairman: D.F. Holding Skive A/S, SP Group A/S, 
SP Moulding A/S.  
 
Board member: Fonden LDE 2 GP, Fonden LDE 3 
GP, Fonden Maj Invest Equity General Partner, 
Fonden MIFIF II GP, G.E.C. Gads Forlag A/S. 
 
Executive Management: Pigro Management ApS. 
 
Shares held in Schouw & Co. 
Holds 27,686 shares in Schouw & Co. 
 
Independence as a board member 
Niels Kristian Agner is not considered to be inde-
pendent, having served more than 12 years on the 
Board. 
 
 

B O A R D  M E M B E R   

Erling Lindahl  
Born 1945. Elected to the 
Board in 2000. Current term 
expires in 2016. 
 
Mechanical engineer from 
Sønderborg Technical Col-
lege, Denmark. Managing Director of Momenta 
ApS. Mr Lindahl has special expertise in manage-
ment and business development of industrial 
manufacturing companies as well as mergers and 
acquisitions and international business relations. 
 
Directorships 
Chairman: JKS A/S.  
 
Board member: Lindahl & Co. ApS, Linco Invest 
A/S, Skandinavisk Båndkompagni A/S, Venti 
A/S. 
 
Executive Management: Lindahl & Co. ApS, Lin-
dahl Life ApS, Momenta ApS, Linco Invest A/S. 
 
Shares held in Schouw & Co. 
Holds 30,800 shares in Schouw & Co. 
 
Independence as a board member 
Erling Lindahl is not considered to be independ-
ent, having served more than 12 years on the 
Board. 
 

B O A R D  M E M B E R   

Kjeld Johannesen  
Born 1953. Elected to the 
Board in 2003. Current term 
expires in 2019. 
 
Business diploma (HD), Mar-
keting economics, Copenha-
gen Business School. Executive director of Danish 
Crown a.m.b.a. Mr Johannesen has special exper-
tise in management, production and sales as well 
as in strategy, business development and interna-
tional business relations. 
 
Directorships 
Chairman: DAT-Schaub A/S, Hamlet Protein A/S, 
KPC Holding A/S, New Nutrition ApS, New Nu-
trition Holding ApS. 
 
Deputy Chairman: Spar Nord Bank A/S 
 
Executive Management: Danish Crown Amba, 
Danish Crown A/S, Leverandørselskabet Danish 
Crown Amba. 
 
Shares held in Schouw & Co. 
Holds 22,000 shares in Schouw & Co. 
 
Independence as a board member 
Kjeld Johannesen is not considered to be inde-
pendent, having served more than 12 years on the 
Board. 

Board of Directors 
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B O A R D  M E M B E R   

Jørgen Wisborg 
Born 1962. Elected to the 
Board in 2009. Current term 
expires in 2017. 
 
MSc, Aarhus School of 
Business and CEO of OK 
a.m.b.a. Chairman of the company’s audit com-
mittee. Mr Wisborg has special expertise in man-
agement and sales as well as in strategy, business 
development, financial reporting, treasury and fi-
nance. 
 
Directorships 
Chairman: Danoil Exploration A/S, Energidata 
A/S, Kamstrup A/S, OK Plus A/S, OK Plus 
Butiksdrift A/S, Samfinans A/S. 
 
Deputy Chairman: The Danish Oil Industry Asso-
ciation.  
 
Board member: AP Pension Livsforsikringsaktie-
selskab, AP Pensionsservice A/S, Miljøforeningen 
af 1992, Foreningen AP Pension F.M.B.A. 
 
Executive Management: OK a.m.b.a., Rotensia 
ApS. 
 
Shares held in Schouw & Co. 
Holds 15,000 shares in Schouw & Co. 
 
Independence as a board member 
Jørgen Wisborg is considered to be independent. 
 

B O A R D  M E M B E R  

Agnete Raaschou-Nielsen 
Born 1957. Elected to the 
Board in 2012. Term expires 
in 2016.  
 
PhD, University of Copenha-
gen and a professional board 
member. Ms Raaschou-Nielsen has special exper-
tise in business development and acquisitions, 
macroeconomics, emerging markets, as well as in-
ternational production, sales and marketing. 
Member of the company’s audit committee. 
 
Directorships 
Chairman: Arkil A/S, Arkil Holding A/S, 
Brødrene Hartmann A/S. 
 
Deputy Chairman: AP Invest Kapitalforening, Dal-
hoff Larsen & Horneman A/S, Investeringsforenin-
gen Danske Invest, Investeringsforeningen Danske 
Invest Select, Investeringsforeningen Procapture, 
Investeringsforeningen Profil Invest, Kapitalfor-
eningen Danske Invest Institutional, Solar A/S. 
 
Board member: Danske Invest Management A/S, 
Icopal A/S, Icopal Holding A/S, Novozymes A/S, 
RFG Midco A/S. 
 
Shares held in Schouw & Co. 
Holds 0 shares in Schouw & Co. 
 
Independence as a board member 
Agnete Raaschou-Nielsen is considered to be in-
dependent. 
 
  

Board of Directors 
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P R E S I D E N T    

Jens Bjerg Sørensen  
Born 1957. Appointed in 
2000. 
Business graduate, Niels 
Brock Business College, 
Business diploma (HD), 
Marketing economics, Co-
penhagen Business School, IEP – Insead Execu-
tive Programme, Insead, France.  
 
Directorships 
Chairman: Alba Ejendomme A/S, BioMar Group 
A/S, Dovista A/S, F. Salling Holding A/S, F. Sal-
ling Invest A/S, Hydra-Grene A/S, Købmand Her-
man Sallings Fond, Xergi A/S. 
 
Deputy Chairman: Dansk Supermarked A/S, Fi-
bertex Nonwovens A/S, Fibertex Personal Care 
A/S, Per Aarsleff A/S. 
 
Board member: Aida A/S, Ejendomsselskabet FMJ 
A/S, F.M.J. A/S, Fonden bag udstilling af skulptu-
rer ved Aarhusbugten, Fonden Aarhus 2017, 
Incuba Invest A/S, Kramp Groep B.V., Niels Bohrs 
Vej A/S, Schouw & Co. Finans A/S, Specma AB. 
 
Executive Management: Jens Bjerg Sørensen Dat-
terholding 1 ApS, Jens Bjerg Sørensen Holding 
ApS, Saltebakken 29 ApS, Schouw & Co. Finans 
A/S. 
 
Shares held in Schouw & Co. 
Holds 55,000 shares in Schouw & Co. 
 

V I C E  P R E S I D E N T   

Peter Kjær  
Born 1956. Appointed in 
1993. 
BSc, Electronic Engineering, 
Engineering College of Aar-
hus, Business diploma (HD), 
Marketing economics, Aar-
hus School of Business, MBA from IMD, Lau-
sanne, Switzerland. 
 
Directorships 
Chairman: Den Gamle By, Helsingforsgade 25 
Aarhus A/S, Incuba A/S. 
 
Deputy Chairman: Capnova A/S 
 
Board member: Alba Ejendomme A/S, Hydra-
Grene A/S, Niels Bohrs Vej A/S, Xergi A/S.  
 
Executive Management:  Alba Ejendomme A/S, 
Incuba Invest A/S, Niels Bohrs Vej A/S, 
Saltebakken 29 ApS, Erhvervscentrum Aarhus 
ApS. 
 
Shares held in Schouw & Co. 
Holds 37,500 shares in Schouw & Co. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Listed on pages 13-16 are directorships in other compa-
nies and other relevant management positions held by 
members of the Board of Directors and the Executive 
Management. Shareholdings include each board mem-
ber's or executive's shares in Schouw & Co. and those 
held by their related parties. Changes to shareholdings 
are reported to the Danish FSA pursuant to current 
rules.  
 
  

Executive Management 
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Capital and share structures 
The shares of Aktieselskabet Schouw & Co. are 
listed on Nasdaq Copenhagen under the short 
name SCHO and securities identification/ISIN 
code DK0010253921. 
 
The company has 25,500,000 issued shares of 
DKK 10 nominal value, equal to a total share capi-
tal of DKK 255,000,000 nominal value. Each share 
carries one vote, and no share carries any special 
rights, no restrictions apply as to the transferabil-
ity of the shares. 
 
The Board of Directors reviews the company's 
capital and share structures at least once a year, 
giving priority to retaining a high equity ratio in 
order to ensure the necessary financial versatility. 
At its most recent review in December 2015, the 
Board of Directors found the company's capital 
and share structures to be appropriate and ade-
quate relative to the company's plans and expec-
tations. 
 
Register of shareholders  
The Company's registrar is Computershare A/S, 
Kongevejen 418, 2840 Holte, Denmark. 
 
Shareholder structure  
The number of registered shareholders in Schouw 
& Co. has increased from about 7,500 to about 
8,000, of whom the following are listed in the 
company's register in accordance with section 56 
of the Danish Companies Act: 
 
Givesco A/S 28.09% 
Direktør Svend Hornsylds Legat 14.82% 
Aktieselskabet Schouw & Co. 7.48% 

Pursuant to the provisions of Section 31 of the 
Danish Securities Trading Act, the three share-
holders Givesco A/S, Direktør Svend Hornsylds 
Legat and Erling Eskildsen, who holds 3.94%, are 
considered as a single shareholder of Schouw & 
Co. The three shareholders hold in aggregate 
46.85% of the shares in the company. 
 
Members of the Board of Directors and the Execu-
tive Management of Schouw & Co. and their con-
nected persons held a total of 1,120,948 and 
92,500 shares, respectively, in the company at 31 
December 2015.                                                   
 
Treasury shares 
In 2015, Schouw & Co. acquired 73,197 treasury 
shares at an aggregate price of DKK 24 million 
and used 177,000 treasury shares in connection 
with options exercised under the Group’s share 
incentive scheme. 
 
At the end of 2015, the company held 1,906,130 
treasury shares, equal to 7.48% of the share capi-
tal.  
 
The market value of the holding of treasury shares 
was DKK 738 million at 31 December 2015. The 
portfolio of treasury shares is recognised at DKK 
0. 
 
Incentive plans 
Since 2003, Schouw & Co. has operated a share-
based incentive programme comprising the Exec-
utive Management and senior managers, includ-
ing the executive managements of subsidiaries.  
 

Under the share-based incentive programme, 
Schouw & Co. awarded, in March 2015, a total of 
55,000 share options to members of the Executive 
Management (two people) and a total of 172,000 
share options to other senior managers, including 
the executive managements of subsidiaries (fif-
teen people). 
 
The share options are exercisable during a 24-
month period following the publication of 
Schouw & Co.’s full-year profit announcement for 
the 2016 financial year at a strike price of DKK 
324.40 plus a 4% premium per annum from the 
date of grant until the date of exercise.  
 
The overall guidelines for incentive programmes 
approved by the company’s shareholders in gen-
eral meeting are available from the company’s 
website, www.schouw.dk. 
 
Investor relations policy 
Schouw & Co. aims to create value and achieve re-
sults to match the best of our industry peers. 
 
The company’s investor relations policy is to pro-
vide reliable information and to maintain profes-
sional relations with shareholders and the market 
so as to ensure that investors always have the nec-
essary information to make an assessment of the 
Group’s true values. 
 
Schouw & Co. complies with the duty of disclo-
sure rules of Nasdaq Copenhagen.The company’s 
annual and interim reports and its stock exchange 
announcements of the last three years are availa-
ble from its website, schouw.dk, where users can 
also subscribe to the company’s news service. 

Investor information 
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Schouw & Co. hosts conference calls when releas-
ing annual or interim reports. Presentations given 
during conference calls will subsequently be 
posted on the company's website. 
 
From time to time, Schouw & Co. holds meetings 
with investors and other parties. Presentations 
from such meetings are also available from the 
company’s website.  
 
Schouw & Co. observes a three-week silent period 
ahead of releasing financial reports. During such 
periods, our financial communications are subject 
to special restrictions. 
 
Any queries of an investor relations nature should 
be e-mailed to: ir@schouw.dk or to the company’s 
management at: schouw@schouw.dk. 
 
www.schouw.dk 
The company's web site contains press releases 
and company announcements, as well as more de-
tailed information on the Group. Interested par-
ties are also invited to subscribe to the company’s 
news service. 
 
Financial calendar  
14 Apr 2016 Annual General Meeting 
19 Apr 2016 Expected distribution of dividend 

for the 2015 financial year 
3 May 2016  Release of Q1 2016 interim report 
11 Aug 2016  Release of H1 2016 interim report 
10 Nov 2016 Release of Q3 2016 interim report 
 
Company announcements 
Company announcements to the Danish FSA and 
Nasdaq Copenhagen since 1 January 2015. The 

announcements are available at the company’s 
website, www.schouw.dk. 
 
22 Jan 2015 #1 EBIT 2014 higher than expected 
6 Mar 2015 #2 Annual report 2014 
13 Mar 2015 #3 Notice of annual general meeting  
13 Mar 2015 #4 Continuation of incentive pro-

gramme 
9 Apr 2014 Annual general meeting  
17 Apr 2015  #6 BioMar signs memorandum of 

understanding for JV in China 
7 May 2015 #7 Interim report – Q1 of 2015 
13 Aug 2015 #8 Interim report – H1 of 2015 
12 Oct 2015 #9 Fibertex Nonwovens makes stra-

tegic acquisition in Turkey 
5 Nov 2015 #10 Interim report – Q3 of 2015 
9 Nov 2015 #11 Trebling size of hydraulics op-

erations by acquiring Specma  
16 Dec 2015 #12 Financial calendar  
18 Dec 2015 #13 The Competition Authority ap-

proves the acquisition of Specma  
21 Jan 2016 #1 Upward adjustment of 2015 EBIT 
22 Jan 2016 #2 Fibertex Personal Care to expand 

Malaysia by more than 20% 
29 Jan 2016 #3 Schouw & Co. acquires Danish 

EMS manufacturer 
 
Dividend policy 
Schouw & Co. aims to pay stable or growing divi-
dends, always with due consideration for the 
company's earnings and any potential major in-
vestments or acquisitions. 
 

The Board of Directors recommends that the divi-
dend for the 2015 financial year be raised by 25% 
to DKK 10 per share.  
 
Share price performance  
The Schouw & Co. share closed the year at a price 
of DKK 387.00 (official year-end price), compared 
with DKK 290.00 per share at 31 December 2014, 
corresponding to an increase of 33%. 
  
Accordingly, the total market capitalisation of the 
company’s listed share capital amounted to DKK 
9,869 million at the close of the financial year, 
against DKK 7,395 million at the close of 2014. 
Adjusted for the holding of treasury shares, the 
company’s market capitalisation was DKK 9,131 
million at 31 December 2015.   
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Statutory report 
Schouw & Co. has prepared a statutory corporate 
governance report for the 2015 financial year, as 
required under section 107 b of the Danish Finan-
cial Statements Act. The statutory report consists 
of three parts: 
 
 A report on the company's work to comply 
with the recommendations on corporate govern-
ance, which is found below. 
 A description of the main elements of the 
Group's internal control and risk management 
systems in connection with the financial report-
ing process, which is found on page 21. 
 A description of the composition of the compa-
ny's management bodies, committees established 
and their functions, which is found on pages 22-
23. In addition, information on the company's 
Board of Directors and Executive Management 
can be found on pages 13-16. 
 
The full report on corporate governance as re-
quired under section 107 b of the Danish Finan-
cial Statements Act is available from 
schouw.dk/cg2015. As required under section 99 
a of the Danish Financial Statements Act, Schouw 
& Co. has also prepared a statutory report on cor-
porate social responsibility, and a statutory report 
on targets and policies on the gender composition 
of the management, see section 99 a of the Danish 
Financial Statements Act, which can be found be-
low. 
 
Corporate governance recommendations  
Schouw & Co. complies with the rules applying to 
companies listed on Nasdaq Copenhagen, which 

include a code on corporate governance as set out 
in “Corporate Governance Recommendations”. 
 
The Board of Directors and the Executive Manage-
ment of Schouw & Co. see corporate governance 
as a natural part of running a responsible busi-
ness. Corporate governance considerations and 
the interaction with the company's stakeholders is 
a constant priority, and considering the com-
pany’s corporate governance policy is a recurring 
item in the annual business of the Board meet-
ings. 
 
Schouw & Co. believes it complies in all material 
respects with the intentions of “Corporate Gov-
ernance Recommendations”. However, there are a 
few areas in which Schouw & Co. does not apply 
the corporate governance recommendations.  
 
A detailed account of the company's position on 
each individual item of the Recommendations on 
Corporate Governance is provided (in Danish) on 
the website: schouw.dk/cg2015. 
 
Social responsibility (section 99 a) 
Schouw & Co.'s general policy is for all of the 
Group’s companies, as a minimum, to comply 
with relevant legislation and regulations applying 
in the countries and local communities in which 
they operate. None of the portfolio companies 
have any outstanding issues with the authorities 
of those countries. 
 
Schouw & Co. operates a group of companies that 
derive the bulk of their revenue from advanced 
process production in which issues like ongoing 

reduction of energy consumption and waste of in-
put materials form an essential part of their busi-
ness model. Most of the Group's operations are lo-
cated in Denmark or neighbouring European 
countries with well-established and detailed leg-
islation. However, the Group also has business 
operations in non-European countries, mainly in 
Malaysia and Chile, but the production facilities 
there are generally fully on par with the European 
units. In Europe as well as the other countries, 
our companies generally employ a skilled work-
force.  
 
Considering the assumed high standards in our 
portfolio companies, we have not yet found it 
necessary to lay down specific CSR policies or es-
tablish systems or mechanisms inherent to such 
policies. Accordingly, Schouw & Co. has not 
adopted a specific policy for reducing the climate 
impact from the company's activities or specific 
policies pertaining to human rights.  
 
In the year under review, Schouw & Co. investi-
gated the possibility of working out appropriate 
guidelines for structuring CSR efforts across the 
Group's companies. However, the Group's compa-
nies are involved in different industries and have 
traditionally directed their CSR efforts at target  
areas of particular relevance for each individual 
industry. These efforts have continued in the vari-
ous companies in the year under review.  
 
BioMar, the Group’s largest business accounting 
for more than 70% of the consolidated revenue, 
released its first Sustainability Report in 2015. 
Covering the 2014 financial year, the report is  
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structured according to the G4 Sustainability Re-
porting Guidelines under the Global Reporting In-
itiative, but the report is not externally audited. 
At the beginning of 2016, the Group’s second-larg-
est business, Fibertex Personal Care, was certified 
to the ISO 50001 Energy Management standard.  
 
We continue to believe that value creation is best 
supported by according our individual portfolio 
companies a degree of self-determination in plan-
ning their work, and that specifically laying down 
general CSR policies for all Group companies 
would thus not serve any purpose. We are aware, 
however, that there may be areas of common in-
terest, especially in the field of human rights. As a 
result, we intend to investigate in 2016 whether 
an appropriate joint structure can be established 
in this particular field. 
 
The company's website – schouw.dk/cg2015 – 
contains illustrated descriptions of the business 
activities of our individual subsidiaries. Also 
available from the website is BioMar’s Sustaina-
bility Report published in 2015. 
 
Gender composition (section 99 b) 
The Board of Directors of Schouw & Co. has fixed 
the following targets for the gender composition 
of its management. 
 
For the measurement period from 1 April 2013 to 
31 March 2017, the target is to increase the num-
ber of female board members of Aktieselskabet 
Schouw & Co. from one member currently, equal 
to 14%, to at least two members, equal to at least 
28%. A target has also been defined for the Group 
that all large Danish reporting class C companies 

should have representation of at least one female 
board member, equal to at least 20%. At the start 
of the measurement period, none of these compa-
nies had female board members. 
 
The Board of Directors of Aktieselskabet Schouw 
& Co. consists of seven shareholder-elected mem-
bers, one of whom is female. No changes have 
been made to the Board’s composition since the 
start of the measurement period. 
 
The Group has five subsidiaries in the relevant re-
porting class: BioMar Group A/S with four share-
holder-elected board members, BioMar A/S with 
three shareholder-elected board members, Fiber-
tex Personal Care A/S and Fibertex Nonwovens 
A/S both with four shareholder-elected board 
members, and Hydra-Grene A/with five share-
holder-elected board members.  
 
Other than one board member of BioMar A/S be-
ing replaced in March 2015, there have been no 
changes to the composition of the shareholder-
elected memberships of the boards of directors in-
volved since the current targets were adopted.  
BioMar A/S is a subsidiary of BioMar Group A/S, 
and the company’s board of directors consists of 
senior employees of the BioMar Group. The new 
board member is male and a senior employee 
with many years of seniority with the company. 
He replaced an executive who had resigned from 
the board. BioMar Group had no internal female 
candidates with the relevant qualifications at the 
time. 
 
Accordingly, the Group made no progress in 2015 
in meeting the targets. 

In addition, the Board of Directors of Schouw & 
Co. has adopted, on behalf of the Group, the fol-
lowing policy for increasing the proportion of the 
under-represented gender at the Group's other 
management levels: 
 
Schouw & Co. is aware that the proportion of 
women at management level in the Group is gen-
erally lower than the gender composition of the 
Group's employees in general. Accordingly, the 
companies of the Schouw & Co. Group will make 
a special effort to create a framework to support 
the career development of individual women em-
ployees, for example through networks, mentor 
schemes or other specific initiatives that may help 
individual employees build management experi-
ence. 
 
The companies of the Schouw & Co. Group will 
also make a dedicated effort to ensuring the best 
possible women representation among candidates 
being considered for management positions. 
 
During the year, no management changes were 
made in the companies in which Schouw & Co. 
exercises control.  
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As part of its statutory report on corporate govern-
ance, the company is required to describe the 
main features of the Group’s internal control and 
risk management systems in relation to the finan-
cial reporting process. 
 
Group structure 
The Schouw & Co. Group consists of a number of 
legal corporate entities in an operational structure 
consisting of the parent company Schouw & Co. 
and a number of subsidiary portfolio companies 
each structured as focused sub-groups with their 
own subsidiaries. 
 
Each individual portfolio company has a high de-
gree of autonomy as well as its own organisation 
and management in charge of its operations. 
 
Subsidiaries of the portfolio companies operate 
activities that are identical to or closely related to 
the general activities of the portfolio company, fa-
cilitating the establishment of uniform systems 
and procedures in the portfolio company. 
 
The management of the portfolio company’s ulti-
mate entity is in charge of preparing and imple-
menting reasonable and appropriate procedures 
and policies for the company and for ensuring a 
systematic and responsible controlling of the port-
folio company’s subsidiaries. 
 
To support the individual managements of the 
portfolio companies, Schouw & Co. has issued a 
set of general guidelines for its subsidiaries. 
In addition, the parent company Schouw & Co. 
conducts follow-ups on its directly-owned com-
panies with a view to ensuring that the financial 

reporting presents a true and fair view without 
material misstatement. 
 
The Board of Directors of Schouw & Co. has ap-
pointed an Audit Committee, whose tasks include 
monitoring the work and processes relating to the 
financial reporting.  
 
Preparation of consolidated financial statements 
The preparation of consolidated financial state-
ments is based on the Group’s financial reporting 
manual, which is intended to ensure a uniform 
application of accounting policies throughout the 
Group that is in accordance with the international 
financial reporting standards, IFRS/IAS, under 
which Schouw & Co. prepares its financial state-
ments.  
 
The financial reporting manual is updated on an 
ongoing basis by the parent company Schouw & 
Co. as and when required by amendments to ac-
counting standards and legislation. The financial 
reporting manual is available in electronic form to 
Group users. 
 
Reporting of financial data from the Group’s sub-
sidiaries takes place in accordance with the in-
structions provided by the parent company in 
standard reporting packages transferred electroni-
cally into the parent company’s financial consoli-
dation system, thus reducing the risk of manual 
errors.  
 
Auditors 
Each year, the shareholders in annual general 
meeting appoint external auditors following a rec-
ommendation by the Board of Directors. Ahead of 

each recommendation, the Board of Directors 
makes a critical assessment of the auditor’s inde-
pendence and competencies, etc., in accordance 
with the Recommendations of Corporate Govern-
ance. 
 
Auditors appointed by the shareholders in general 
meeting serve as auditors of all of the Group’s ma-
jor subsidiaries. In a few foreign units, however, 
other local auditors may be appointed for practi-
cal reasons, but audits in all group entities are 
conducted in accordance with instructions issued 
by the shareholder-appointed auditors with a fo-
cus on high-risk and material areas.  
 
Shareholder-appointed auditors report in writing 
in the form of long-form audit reports to the entire 
Board of Directors at least once a year, and imme-
diately on becoming aware of any matters to be 
brought to the attention of the Board of Directors. 
The independent auditor attends the meeting at 
which the Board considers the draft annual re-
port, holding a private session with the Board and 
without the Executive Management attending.  
 
The independent auditor also attends meetings of 
the Audit Committee, which are concluded with a 
private session of the Audit Committee without 
the attendance of the day-to-day management. 
 
Internal audit  
On the recommendation of the Audit Committee, 
the Board of Directors of Schouw & Co. has re-
solved not to establish an internal audit function, 
as it is not considered necessary given the size 
and structure of the Group.  
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As part of its statutory report on corporate govern-
ance, the company is required to report on the 
composition of the Group's management bodies, 
committees established and their functions. The 
company also reports on its targets and policies 
on the gender composition of the management. 
 
The Board of Directors of Schouw & Co. 
The Board of Directors of Schouw & Co. consists 
of seven shareholder-elected members who elect a 
chairman and a deputy chairman from among 
their number. 
 
Board members are elected for terms of four years 
and for purposes of continuity the individual 
members are up for election in different years. 
When a new Board candidate is nominated, em-
phasis is on the potential new member possessing 
the professional knowledge and experience to 
contribute to maintaining the necessary scope of 
competence on the Board and on the potential 
new member being able to act independently of 
special interests. 
 
The Board of Directors carries out an annual self-
assessment, applying a structured model. The 
chairman is responsible for carrying out the as-
sessment, and the results are discussed by the en-
tire Board. The Board of Directors performed its 
most recent self-assessment in December 2015, 
and it concluded that the Board works well as a 
unit and that, overall, it has the competencies 
necessary for it to perform its duties. 
 
The Board of Directors is responsible for the over-
all management of the company, which includes 

appointing the members of the Executive Manage-
ment, laying down guidelines for and exercising 
control of the work performed by the Executive 
Management, organising the company’s business 
in a responsible manner, defining the company’s 
business concept and strategy, and evaluating the 
adequacy of the company’s capital contingency 
programme. 
 
The duties of the Board are set out in the com-
pany’s rules of procedure, and Board meetings are 
conducted in accordance with a fixed master 
agenda, which over the full year ensures compli-
ance with the Board’s rules of procedure.  
 
Ordinary Board meetings are scheduled at least 
six months in advance. Board meetings are nor-
mally attended by all members of the Board and 
the Executive Management. In 2015, the Board of 
Directors held a total of seven meetings and a 
board seminar.  
 
Schouw & Co.'s  Board committees 
The Board of Directors of Schouw & Co. has ap-
pointed an Audit Committee consisting of Jørgen 
Wisborg (chairman), Jørn Ankær Thomsen and 
Agnete Raaschou-Nielsen.  
 
Jørgen Wisborg and Agnete Raaschou-Nielsen are 
considered to be independent. Jørn Ankær Thom-
sen is not considered to be independent due to 
his affiliation with the main shareholder Givesco 
A/S, his affiliation with a law firm which acts as 
an adviser to the company and the fact that he has 
served more than 12 years on the Board.  
 

All three members are considered to meet the re-
quirements under the Auditors’ Act on account-
ing qualifications. 
 
The Audit Committee’s task is mainly to monitor 
the work and processes relating to the financial 
reporting process. The Committee assists the 
Board in assessments and controls relating to au-
diting, accounting policies, systems of internal 
controls, financial reporting, etc.  
 
The Audit Committee normally convenes four 
times a year, as was the case in 2015.  
 
Due to the company's simple management struc-
ture, the Board of Directors believes that at the 
present time it is most appropriate that all Board 
members participate in the work to nominate can-
didates and determine remuneration. Accord-
ingly, the Board of Directors has not set up a nom-
ination committee or a remuneration committee. 
 
The Executive Management of Schouw & Co. 
The members of the Executive Management of 
Schouw & Co. are Jens Bjerg Sørensen, President 
and CEO, and Peter Kjær, Vice President. The 
members of the Executive Management are regis-
tered with the Danish Business Authority. 
 
The Executive Management is in charge of the 
day-to-day management of the company both at 
parent company and consolidated level and com-
plies with the guidelines and directions issued by 
the Board of Directors.  
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The day-to-day management does not include any 
transactions that, considering the company’s cir-
cumstances, are of an unusual nature or of mate-
rial importance. Such transactions can only be 
made by the Executive Management upon specific 
authority from the Board of Directors unless 
awaiting a decision by the Board of Directors 
would cause significant disadvantage to the activ-
ities of the company.   
 
Management of the portfolio companies 
The Schouw & Co. Group has a decentralised cor-
porate structure, under which the individual port-
folio companies enjoy a large degree of independ-
ence and have their own individual organisation 
and management in charge of the company’s oper-
ations. Each portfolio company is structured as fo-
cused sub-groups with their own subsidiaries.  
 
The boards of directors of the ultimate company 
of the individual portfolio companies are gener-
ally composed of a representative from each of the 
Board of Directors and the Executive Management 
of Schouw & Co. along with external board mem-
bers who have a special interest in and knowledge 
of the particular portfolio company’s business 
area. 
 
The boards of directors of a portfolio company’s 
underlying subsidiaries are generally composed of 
managers and employees from the portfolio com-
pany and possibly external board members. 
 
To support the individual managements of the 
portfolio companies, Schouw & Co. has issued a 
set of general guidelines for its subsidiaries. 
 

Remuneration policy 
Schouw & Co.'s remuneration policy is intended 
to firmly align the interests of the members of the 
Board of Directors and the Executive Management 
with those of the shareholders and the company. 
 
The remuneration policy is a means of ensuring 
that the remuneration provided will always rea-
sonably reflect the company's performance and 
current situation. In addition, it is intended to 
promote the long-term goals for safeguarding the 
company’s interests. 
 
The remuneration policy and the overall guide-
lines for incentive programmes can be found on 
the company's website, www.schouw.dk.  
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Quarterly information (DKK million) Q1 '14 Q2 '14 Q3 '14 Q4 '14 Q1 '15 Q2 '15 Q3 '15 Q4 '15

Income statement
Revenue 2,404.7 2,659.2 3,618.1 3,102.1 2,783.8 3,104.1 3,599.5 3,078.3
Gross profit 341.4 389.0 528.9 451.7 412.5 432.4 549.2 551.8
EBITDA 186.2 229.0 359.5 295.6 246.4 247.1 362.5 358.3
Depreciation and impairment 87.6 88.1 89.9 97.1 94.6 96.4 93.1 98.9
Operating profit (EBIT) 98.6 140.9 269.6 198.5 151.8 150.7 269.4 259.4
Profit after tax from associates and joint ventures -17.1 10.5 22.9 12.2 19.1 27.7 29.1 10.4
Financial items, net -7.8 -10.0 -7.0 -10.0 18.2 -18.3 -58.3 12.0
Profit before tax 73.7 141.4 285.5 200.7 189.1 160.1 240.2 281.8
Tax on profit -20.0 -32.3 -65.1 -156.2 -64.7 -33.6 -71.1 -56.9
Profit 53.7 109.1 220.4 44.5 124.4 126.5 169.1 224.8

Cash flow
Cash flows from operating activities 50.9 192.4 42.9 341.5 171.7 52.2 396.2 551.1
Cash flows from investing activities -16.1 -64.6 -81.9 -191.9 -78.3 -106.2 -129.0 -255.8
Cash flows from financing activities 154.9 -98.9 -270.3 -348.7 63.7 -179.3 -122.4 -85.6

BALANCE SHEET
Intangible assets 937.3 936.2 953.3 1,094.9 1,134.8 1,121.4 1,120.3 1,176.0
Property, plant and equipment 2,608.4 2,585.5 2,612.2 2,715.0 2,861.0 2,809.9 2,661.7 2,776.2
Other non-current assets 915.6 935.3 1,004.3 937.0 959.0 971.6 1,005.1 959.1
Cash and cash equivalents 1,513.9 1,543.2 1,232.6 1,087.1 1,336.9 1,071.8 1,208.8 1,410.7
Other current assets 3,396.2 3,813.2 4,427.1 4,048.1 4,080.3 4,516.3 4,408.2 4,193.8
Total assets 9,371.4 9,813.4 10,229.5 9,882.1 10,372.0 10,491.0 10,404.1 10,515.8

Equity 5,756.7 5,739.7 6,048.1 6,073.8 6,512.9 6,366.3 6,410.3 6,676.5
Interest-bearing debt 1,546.2 1,610.2 1,419.5 1,174.1 1,240.0 1,227.5 1,074.5 986.6
Other creditors 2,068.5 2,463.5 2,761.9 2,634.2 2,619.1 2,897.2 2,919.3 2,852.7
Total liabilities and equity 9,371.4 9,813.4 10,229.5 9,882.1 10,372.0 10,491.0 10,404.1 10,515.8

Average number of employees 2,063 2,097 2,144 2,228 2,294 2,399 2,409 2,430

FINANCIAL KEY FIGURES
Gross profit margin 14.2% 14.6% 14.6% 14.6% 14.8% 13.9% 15.3% 17.9%
EBITDA margin 7.7% 8.6% 9.9% 9.5% 8.9% 8.0% 10.1% 11.6%
EBIT margin 4.1% 5.3% 7.5% 6.4% 5.5% 4.9% 7.5% 8.4%
ROIC excl. goodwill (annualised) 17.3% 18.1% 18.7% 16.9% 17.5% 17.0% 17.0% 18.3%
Working capital 1,522.1 1,540.6 1,888.7 1,774.7 1,861.7 2,012.8 1,872.4 1,598.4
Net interest-bearing debt -2.1 24.3 141.7 43.6 -119.9 133.9 -217.0 -510.9
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BioMar is the world’s third-largest manufacturer 
of quality feed for the fish farming industry. The 
company divides its operations into three geo-
graphical regions: the North Sea (Norway and 
Scotland), the Americas (Chile and Costa Rica) 
and Continental Europe. BioMar is currently 
building up operations in Asia as well. 
 
Financial performance 
Sales by volume were lower in 2015 than in 2014. 
Especially Chile reported lower volumes, with  
biological challenges and very low salmon prices 
reducing overall feed consumption. In addition, 
BioMar’s market share was lower than usual. In 
the North Sea region, algae blooms in Scotland 
and an increasing occurrence of sea lice in Nor-
way led to lower volumes. In Continental Europe, 
volumes increased despite the difficult financial 
conditions facing fish farmers in southern Europe. 
 
Revenue was up by 6%, from DKK 8,451 million 
in 2014 to DKK 8,974 million in 2015, mainly due 
to changes in foreign exchange rates and higher 
selling prices resulting from higher average prices 
of raw materials. When revenue is translated into 
Danish kroner, the stronger US dollar more than 
offset the lower volumes sold in the Americas, 
whereas the weaker Norwegian krone led to a re-
duction in revenue from Norway. There was a 
neutral foreign exchange effect in Continental Eu-
rope, i.e. the higher volumes translated into 
higher revenues. 
 
Changes in the prices of raw materials generally 
trigger similar revenue changes, but most often do 
not lead to material changes in earnings. In other 
words, changes in foreign exchange rates, proper 

cost control and margin management were the 
main reasons that EBIT improved from DKK 434 
million in 2014 to DKK 447 million in 2015, even 
with the lower volumes sold. Both the North Sea 
region and Continental Europe reported earnings 
improvements, but it proved impossible to com-
pensate for the effect of lower volumes in the 
Americas. Due to the financial challenges facing 
Chilean fish farmers, provisions for trade receiva-
bles were higher in 2015 than for the year before, 
when provisions were very low. 
 
The Group’s working capital fell from DKK 983 
million at 31 December 2014, to DKK 752 million 
at 31 December 2015, mainly due to an increase 
in supplier credit. Return on invested capital 
(ROIC) excluding goodwill fell marginally to 
22.7%; ROIC including goodwill was 16.4%.  
 
Business development 
On balance, total feed volumes are expected to 
grow slightly in the North Sea and Continental 
Europe regions, whereas the market in Chile is ex-
pected to contract. In the North Sea region, the 
anticipated improvement is mainly related to an 
expected improvement in the biological condi-
tions in both Norway and Scotland.  
 
BioMar projects a revenue improvement in Conti-
nental Europe from the penetration of new mar-
kets and higher volumes in Greece, where some of 
the company’s more important customers took 
part in a beginning consolidation of the Greek fish 
farming industry. In Chile, BioMar expects to in-
crease sales by recovering previous market shares, 
despite projections of a smaller overall market. 
 

The work to develop feed for fish species previ-
ously not farmed and to establish new geograph-
ical markets will continue in 2016. The factory in 
Costa Rica worked on developing shrimp feed in 
2015: production of this feed will be escalated in 
2016.  
 
In the past year, the aim to expand into Asia led 
to the planning of a fish feed factory in China, 
which is being built in a joint venture with major 
Chinese feed manufacturer Tongwei. The new fac-
tory is expected to be operational in 2017. The 
joint venture will complement Tongwei's current 
production, focusing on high-end feed and utilis-
ing BioMar's expertise in optimising feed compo-
sition, technology and farm management. BioMar 
plans to review on a regular basis the potential for 
setting up new production units in China and 
South-east Asia. 
 
BioMar is currently constructing a new factory in 
Turkey in association with Turkish company Sa-
gun Group. The new factory, scheduled for com-
missioning in the second half of 2016, will ini-
tially have an expandable capacity of about 
50,000 tonnes of feed. Initially, production will be 
for fish species that BioMar already manufactures 
feed for. The factory gives BioMar a natural point 
of entry to Turkey, which is one of Europe’s most 
important fish farming markets.  
 
BioMar is also expanding in the very important 
Norwegian market, constructing a new production 
line at its existing factory in Karmøy. When it be-
comes operational in the second quarter of 2017, 
the new production line will have an annual ca-
pacity of 140,000 tonnes.  
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Outlook 
Expectations are relatively moderate for how total 
volumes will trend in the core markets in 2016. 
The current expectation is for average prices of 
raw materials to be lower than they were in 2015. 
Nevertheless, BioMar expects to improve revenue 
by increasing volumes sold, but – as always – rev-
enue may be strongly affected by changes in the 
prices of raw materials without such changes ne-
cessarily having a notable effect on profit. 
 
The general market conditions will remain chal-
lenging in 2016, primarily due to moderate 
growth in European markets and the lower vol-
umes anticipated in the overall Chilean market. In 
return, the previous uncertainty regarding pro-
spects in southern Europe will be partially miti-
gated by the ongoing consolidation of the Greek 
fish farming industry. In other words, BioMar will 
have to continue defending its competitive 
strength through careful margin management, 
quick implementation of new products on the 
market and efficiency improvements based on 
more globalised concepts. 
 
Against this backdrop, BioMar expects to generate 
a full-year 2016 revenue of DKK 9.2 billion and 
EBIT in the range of DKK 410-450 million.  
 
 2015 2014 
Volume (thousands of tonnes) 955 996
Revenue (DKK million) 8,974 8,451
 - of which North Sea 4,279 4,099
 - of which Americas 2,666 2,558
 - of which Continental Europe 2,029 1,794
 

 
  
 2015 2014 

INCOME STATEMENT  
Revenue 8,974.2 8,451.3
Gross profit 1,080.5 1,019.4
EBITDA 592.8 574.2
Depreciation and impairment 146.1 139.8
Operating profit (EBIT) 446.7 434.4
Profit after tax from associates and joint ventures  6.0 2.5
Financial items, net -53.6 -38.6
Profit before tax  399.1 398.3
Tax for the year -131.9 -214.2
Profit for the year 267.2 184.1

 
CASH FLOWS  
Cash flows from operating activities 636.7 266.3
Cash flows from investing activities -209.5 -166.5
Cash flows from financing activities -621.7 -60.0

 
BALANCE SHEET  
Intangible assets * 409.7 354.9
Property, plant and equipment 884.9 919.0
Other non-current assets 268.7 196.7
Cash and cash equivalents 457.2 605.5
Other current assets 2,812.2 2,765.1
Total assets 4,832.7 4,841.2

 
Equity 2,128.2 1,902.2
Interest-bearing debt 597.7 1,019.4
Other creditors 2,106.8 1,919.6
Total liabilities and equity 4,832.7 4,841.2

 
Average number of employees 897 904

 
FINANCIAL KEY FIGURES  
EBITDA margin 6.6% 6.8%
EBIT margin 5.0% 5.1%
ROIC ex goodwill 22.7% 22.9%
RIOC incl. goodwill 16.4% 16.6%
Working capital 752.4 982.6
Net interest-bearing debt 68.7 386.2
* Excluding goodwill on consolidation in Schouw & Co. of DKK 430.2 million  
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Fibertex Personal Care is one of the world's larg-
est manufacturers of spunbond/spunmelt nonwo-
ven fabrics for the personal care industry. The 
company's products are key components in dia-
pers, sanitary towels and incontinence products. 
The company's activities are concentrated mainly 
in Europe and South East Asia. 
 
Financial performance 
Fibertex Personal Care generated revenue of DKK 
1,797 million in 2015, compared with DKK 1,787 
million in 2014. While largely unchanged, the 
revenue was composed of a number of opposing 
factors: volumes sold increased in Denmark but 
fell in Malaysia, lower prices of raw materials re-
duced revenue as sales prices are automatically 
regulated and changes in exchange rates helped to 
increase DKK-denominated revenue. 
 
EBIT improved from DKK 171 million in 2014 to 
DKK 253 million in 2015, with improvements 
from both Denmark and Malaysia. EBIT was well 
above the guidance provided, which was mainly 
due to a sharp drop in prices of raw materials to-
wards the end of the year and unusually large, 
positive foreign exchange effects in the second 
half of 2015. The company estimates that these 
special factors lifted EBIT by more than DKK 50 
million. 
 
Working capital amounted to DKK 294 million at 
31 December 2015, which was in line with the fig-
ure at 31 December 2014. The EBIT improvement 
lifted ROIC from 14.4% in 2014 to 20.7% in 2015. 
ROIC including goodwill improved to 19.2%. 
  

Business development 
Fibertex Personal Care's core customers are major 
international producers of diapers and other hy-
giene products. The largest one, Procter & Gam-
ble, is the producer of, among other things, Pam-
per's diapers and Always hygiene products, but 
customers also include SCA (Libero and Libresse), 
Kimberly-Clark (Huggies) and a large number of 
producers of other brands and private labels.  
 
Fibertex Personal Care ensures excellent profes-
sional relationships with its customers through its 
extensive product development and product opti-
misation efforts. Over the years, these beneficial 
collaborations have resulted in a number of 
awards and distinctions from key customers. In 
2015, Fibertex Personal Care and Innowo Print 
shared the prestigious Kimberly-Clark Global 
Supplier Award as one of only six of Kimberly-
Clark's 75,000 suppliers.  
 
Fibertex Personal Care has seven large highly effi-
cient production lines, three in Denmark and four 
in Malaysia, producing high-quality nonwoven 
textiles. Each line has its own speciality, ranging 
from super-soft products and ultrathin products 
to products with high-performance leakage barri-
ers. Through its German subsidiary Innowo Print, 
Fibertex Personal Care can also offer direct print-
ing on nonwoven textiles. 
 
Innowo Print commissioned a third production 
line in early 2015, expanding capacity by about 
30%. In addition, the company has decided to 
add print facilities to the operations in Malaysia 
with commissioning expected to take place in 
early 2017. 

The global output capacity of nonwoven fabrics is 
growing constantly, which leads to excess capac-
ity in individual markets from time to time. The 
European market was characterised by its usual 
limited growth in 2015, but Fibertex Personal 
Care performed extremely well in Denmark. Ca-
pacity utilisation was high and production effi-
ciency satisfactory all through the year, and prod-
ucts were of a very high quality. Demand is grow-
ing steadily in the Asian markets, but supply is 
also increasing. Fibertex Personal Care's division 
in Malaysia works continually to align its opera-
tions with the current market situation and, like 
its Danish counterpart, the Malaysian business 
also performed extremely well. 
 
Outlook 
In 2016, Fibertex Personal Care will continue its 
work to consolidate its business platform and uti-
lise its total production capacity, One of the pro-
duction lines in Denmark is due for a scheduled 
upgrade and will be out of operation for a short 
period of time. At the same time, work is sched-
uled to begin on setting up another production 
line in Malaysia. As there is no room for further 
expansion at the existing factory area in Nilay, 
south-east of Kuala Lumpur, a new factory unit 
will be built some 25 km south of the Nilay fac-
tory with room to expand in the future. The new 
production line is expected to be operational in 
2017.  

Fibertex Personal Care 



 

All amounts in DKK million  Annual  Report 2015  Schouw & Co.  29 

 

Fibertex Personal Care experienced a plunge in 
prices of raw materials in late 2015. Lower prices 
of raw materials mean less revenue, but the sharp 
drop also temporarily strengthened earnings. 
However, these prices are expected to rise again 
in 2016, which will negatively affect earnings for 
a while. A strong appreciation of the US dollar 
relative to the Malaysian ringgit (MYR) lifted the 
financial results of the factory in Malaysia by a 
significant margin, as its sales are predominantly 
in USD, whereas MYR is its reporting currency. 
The company does not expect these exceedingly 
favourable circumstances to be repeated in 2016. 
 
Fibertex Personal Care expects to generate full-
year 2016 revenue of DKK 1.9 billion. However, 
revenue may be affected both by changes in raw 
materials prices and by the timing of such 
changes. Similarly, the full-year EBIT will depend 
on how prices of raw materials develop and on 
possible shifts in foreign exchange rates, but, 
given the current outlook, the company expects 
EBIT of DKK 200-220 million.  
 
 
 2015 2014 
Revenue (DKK million) 1,797 1,787
 - of which from Denmark 795 857
 - of which from Malaysia 935 922
 - of which from Germany 67 8
 

   
 2015 2014 

INCOME STATEMENT  
Revenue 1,797.2 1,787.5
Gross profit 381.8 288.8
EBITDA 394.7 307.6
Depreciation and impairment 142.2 136.3
Operating profit (EBIT) 252.5 171.3
Financial items, net -5.5 -2.3
Profit before tax  247.0 169.0
Tax for the year -60.0 -34.3
Profit for the year 187.0 134.7

  
CASH FLOWS  
Cash flows from operating activities 342.1 225.8
Cash flows from investing activities -85.3 -129.5
Cash flows from financing activities -248.1 -85.8

  
BALANCE SHEET  
Intangible assets * 76.3 75.0
Property, plant and equipment 975.1 1,099.7
Other non-current assets 82.0 127.6
Cash and cash equivalents 27.9 20.8
Other current assets 542.9 558.7
Total assets 1,704.2 1,881.8

  
Equity 786.2 730.0
Interest-bearing debt 511.2 708.8
Other creditors 406.8 443.0
Total liabilities and equity 1,704.2 1,881.8

  
Average number of employees 514 447

  
FINANCIAL KEY FIGURES  
EBITDA margin 22.0% 17.2%
EBIT margin 14.1% 9.6%
ROIC ex goodwill 20.7% 14.4%
RIOC incl. goodwill 19.2% 13.5%
Working capital 294.4 292.7
Net interest-bearing debt 482.4 688.0
* Excluding goodwill on consolidation in Schouw & Co. of DKK 48.1 million     
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Fibertex Nonwovens is among Europe's leading 
manufacturers of nonwovens, i.e. non-woven tex-
tiles used for a number of different industrial pur-
poses. The company's core markets are in Europe 
and North America and its secondary markets are 
in Africa. 
 
Financial performance 
Fibertex Nonwovens generated revenue of DKK 
1,222 million in 2015, a 17% increase from DKK 
1,048 million in 2014. The improvement was at-
tributable to the full-year effect of the acquisition 
of a US company in October 2014 and the consoli-
dation of the acquisitions in South Africa and 
Turkey in March and November 2015, respec-
tively. 
 
EBIT improved by DKK 14 million to reach DKK 
76 million, up from DKK 62 million in 2014, The 
improvement was due to a stronger performance 
in the core business areas, which saw a larger per-
centage of sales of advanced products for the auto 
industry and other specialist products, and the ef-
fect of the US acquisition in 2014. Overall, the ac-
quisition of the Turkish company had a negligible 
effect on the 2015 financial results, whereas the 
South African business detracted from overall 
performance by a relatively significant amount. 
 
Invested capital increased by more than 30% in 
2015 due to new production line investments, ex-
isting production line upgrades, a greater owner-
ship interest in the South African business and 
the company acquisition in Turkey. The return on 
invested capital (ROIC) was 7.8%. ROIC including 
goodwill was 7.0%. Working capital increased 
from DKK 319 million at 31 December 2014, to 
DKK 361 million at 31 December 2015. This is a 

relatively smaller increase than the rise in activity 
would otherwise indicate.  
 
Business development  
Fibertex Nonwovens is reporting a generally posi-
tive performance for 2015 with growing sales to 
the automotive industry and to non-European 
markets as well as an improved product mix and 
growing sales of advanced products. On the other 
hand, product sales to the construction industry 
and infrastructure projects in Europe declined 
year-on-year due to the generally lower construc-
tion activity. 
 
Fibertex Nonwovens is engaged in R&D, produc-
tion and sales of nonwovens for these global busi-
ness areas:  
 
• Automotive (engine compartment insulation, 
car ceilings, door panels, trim panels and acoustic 
solutions)  
• Construction (geotextiles, building and compo-
site materials, and DIY products) 
• Industrial (furniture, mattresses, carpets and 
flooring) and the med-tech industry  
• Filtration (air, liquid and odour filters) and 
acoustics 
• Wipes (wet wipes for the consumer market and 
specialist products for the industrial market). 
 
In recent years, Fibertex Nonwovens has consoli-
dated its position as a leading manufacturer of in-
dustrial nonwovens. The company has strength-
ened its business platform and made a number of 
structural investments, of which several large-
scale projects were completed in 2015.  
In terms of R&D and innovation, the company has 
built a solid portfolio of new projects. To grow 

and develop along with its customers and to capi-
talise on future growth potential, Fibertex 
Nonwovens has expanded capacity at its factory 
in the Czech Republic by building a new produc-
tion line to be commissioned at the start of 2016.  
 
In November 2015, Fibertex Nonwovens acquired 
the nonwoven operations of the Turkish company 
Ribatek. The transaction gives Fibertex 
Nonwovens a strong production platform within 
spunlacing technology and also improves the 
company’s access to the growing Turkish market. 
Spunlacing is a production method using high-
pressure jets of water to needlepunch nonwoven 
textiles. Fibertex Nonwovens’ French subsidiary 
already used the technology, but growing demand 
had raised the need to increase capacity. 
 
Effective from 1 March 2015, Fibertex Nonwovens 
increased its ownership interest in Fibertex South 
Africa from 26% to 74%. At the same time, along 
with acquiring an existing line for producing fi-
bre, the company has also invested in a new pro-
duction line scheduled to start up in the first 
quarter of 2016. However, the South African oper-
ations have not delivered the expected financial 
results, primarily due to low capital expenditure 
on infrastructure and construction in the neigh-
bouring countries. The completed investments in 
new production capacity and in building a sales 
organisation and developing the market are ex-
pected to boost the financial results of the Group’s 
South African business going forward, both 
through synergies and through improved sales.  
 
The work to optimise the operational processes 
continues, and in 2015 Fibertex Nonwovens set  
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up a new ERP platform for its European factories 
that will subsequently be rolled out on a global 
scale.  
 
Outlook 
Fibertex Nonwovens anticipates a relatively stable 
level of business activity in most segments and 
markets in 2016. South Africa will remain chal-
lenged, however, and general uncertainty about 
global growth and the resulting concerns about 
trends in the cyclical segments may also impact 
full-year sales and earnings. 
 
Fibertex Nonwovens expects to increase its full-
year profit in 2016, supported by the production 
lines upgraded in 2015, the new capacity estab-
lished in the Czech Republic and South Africa, 
and the acquisition in Turkey, which will take 
full effect in 2016. Given the structural invest-
ments made and the company’s increased efforts 
to work the market, with the focus on growing 
sales of value-added products, Fibertex 
Nonwovens expects to build a solid base for fu-
ture earnings.  
 
Against this backdrop, Fibertex Nonwovens ex-
pects to generate full-year revenue of DKK 1.4 bil-
lion and EBIT in the range of DKK 80-90 million 
in 2016.  
 
 2015 2014 
Revenue (DKK million) 1,222 1,048
 - of which from Denmark 211 245
 - of which from the Czech Republic 308 309
 - of which from France 490 469
 - of which from the USA 131 25
 - of which from South Africa 73 0
 - of which from Turkey 9 0 

  
 2015 2014 

INCOME STATEMENT  
Revenue 1,222.3 1,048.0
Gross profit 272.8 222.1
EBITDA 153.2 128.2
Depreciation and impairment 76.8 66.0
Operating profit (EBIT) 76.4 62.2
Profit after tax from associates -0.7 -1.7
Financial items, net -11.7 -10.2
Profit before tax  64.0 50.3
Tax for the year -17.1 -14.4
Profit before non-controlling interests 46.9 35.9
Non-controllig interests 3.0 0.0
Profit for the year 49.9 35.9

 
CASH FLOWS  
Cash flows from operating activities 97.2 82.1
Cash flows from investing activities -313.0 -134.0
Cash flows from financing activities 216.0 80.5

 
BALANCE SHEET  
Intangible assets * 168.2 141.5
Property, plant and equipment 723.0 497.4
Other non-current assets 3.9 10.6
Cash and cash equivalents 58.8 58.7
Other current assets 549.5 470.3
Total assets 1,503.4 1,178.5

 
Equity 459.6 385.5
Interest-bearing debt 793.2 584.3
Other creditors 250.6 208.7
Total liabilities and equity 1,503.4 1,178.5

 
Average number of employees 719 547

 
FINANCIAL KEY FIGURES  
EBITDA margin 12.5% 12.2%
EBIT margin 6.2% 5.9%
ROIC ex goodwill 7.8% 8.4%
RIOC incl. goodwill 7.0% 7.5%
Working capital 361.1 318.7
Net interest-bearing debt 730.4 521.7

Fibertex Nonwovens 
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Hydra-Grene is a specialised trading and engi-
neering company whose core business is trading 
and producing hydraulic components and sys-
tems development for general industry and for the 
wind power and offshore industries, as well as 
providing related consulting services. Hydra-
Grene's core operations are based in Denmark and 
in other parts of Europe, and the company serves 
selected business segments in overseas markets. 
 
After the end of the financial year, Hydra-Grene 
took over its much larger Swedish peer, hydraulic 
company Specma AB, which will be consolidated 
as of the beginning of 2016. 
 
Financial performance 
Hydra-Grene had a good year in 2015, reporting 
its highest revenue ever. This performance was 
mainly driven by the much higher activity in the 
wind turbine segment in 2015 than in 2014, and 
the company grew its revenue by almost 7%, from 
DKK 566 million in 2014 to DKK 603 million in 
2015. In addition to the higher sales to the wind 
turbine industry, total sales to other industry cus-
tomers improved slightly relative to 2014, 
whereas Offshore, the new business area, reported 
lower revenue than in 2014 
 
EBIT improved by DKK 18 million, from DKK 60 
million in 2014 to DKK 78 million in 2015, an im-
provement attributable to one-off income of net 
DKK 5 million and a higher level of activity and 
improved production and processing efficiency. It 
should also be noted that the 2014 results were 
impacted by substantial costs of implementing a 
new ERP system. 
 

Due to the higher level of business activity, over-
all working capital was up from DKK 187 million 
at 31 December 2014, to DKK 202 million at 31 
December 2015. ROIC both before and after good-
will improved from 22.6% in 2014 to 28.9% in 
2015.  
 
Business development 
Hydra-Grene's principal business activity is to sell 
components and accessories for hydraulics, in-
dustrial hoses and related areas, including the 
supply of assembled goods such as hydraulic 
pump units and cooling and lubricating systems 
as well as the production of aluminium valve 
blocks. 
 
As part of its shift in recent years towards selling 
increasingly complex products and system solu-
tions to the wind turbine industry in particular, 
Hydra-Grene has continually adapted to the tough 
demands on its organisation and quality manage-
ment capabilities and now also applies these new 
capabilities in new business areas.  
 
Hydra-Grene generates most of its business in 
Denmark: its international sales are mainly to cus-
tomers in the wind turbine industry, the offshore 
industry and other industries in which the com-
pany has special expertise.  
 
According to Hydra-Grene's general strategy, pro-
duction of core products such as valve blocks and 
systems will continue to be based in Denmark. 
For this reason, the company is focusing strongly 
on a production process that is automated and ef-
ficient enough to maintain competitive strength 
despite the high wage costs in Denmark.  

In November 2015, Schouw & Co. agreed to ac-
quire hydraulics company Specma AB from In-
vestment AB Latour of Sweden. The transaction 
was completed on 4 January 2016, and as a result 
Specma will only be consolidated with effect 
from the beginning of 2016. A purchase price allo-
cation was prepared in connection with the acqui-
sition, which means that there will be an annually 
increase in depreciations and amortisations recog-
nised in the income statement. The adjustments, 
where the majority will be applied until 2026, 
will have no cash flow effect. 
 
Specma was founded in 1920 and had been a part 
of Latour since 1985. The company employs 
about 750 people, most of whom are based in 
Sweden but it also has a significant presence in 
Finland, the UK, China and Poland as well as 
small business units in the USA and Brazil. In 
2015, Specma generated revenue of DKK 1,093 
million and EBIT of DKK 57 million. 
 
Specma is the market leader in Sweden in hy-
draulic systems and in tubing and piping, particu-
larly for the mobile market. Like Hydra-Grene, 
Specma serves selected business segments in in-
ternational markets in addition to its primary geo-
graphical markets. Combined, the two companies 
will hold a substantial share of the Nordic hy-
draulics market, backed by divisions in Denmark, 
Sweden and Finland and a powerful platform 
from which to serve strategic customers in inter-
national markets. 
 
Outlook 
For 2016, Hydra-Grene and Specma anticipate 
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relatively stable sales in many market segments. 
However, some segments are relatively more cy-
clical than others, and a slowdown in certain seg-
ments towards the end of 2015 has dampened 
sales expectations for 2016. 
 
As for the wind turbine industry, Hydra-Grene ex-
pects sales to be good, at roughly the same level 
as in 2015. The company anticipates stable sales 
to its other industry customers, although sales to a 
few segments will likely come under pressure. 
The current crisis in the offshore industry result-
ing from the low oil prices will also have a nega-
tive impact on sales to this segment. Specma gen-
erally expects sales to remain stable in most areas, 
but does serve several cyclical segments in which 
sales are under hard pressure, such as marine and 
mining operations.  
 
Acordingly the combined business has moderate 
expectations with regard to their 2016 earnings. 
While combining the two companies is expected 
to produce positive synergies, primarily through 
an optimisation of procurement and cross-sales, 
natural integration costs will counteract such in 
the short term. In addition, the purchase price al-
location will affect EBIT for the year, leading to a 
downward adjustment of about DKK 25 million. 
 
Against this backdrop, Hydra/Specma expects to 
generate a full-year 2016 revenue of DKK 1.7 bil-
lion and EBIT in the range of DKK 90-110 million 
before Purchase Price Allocation.  

 
 2015 2014 

INCOME STATEMENT  
Revenue 602.9 565.8
Gross profit 206.1 176.9
EBITDA 93.2 78.0
Depreciation and impairment 15.1 17.9
Operating profit (EBIT) 78.1 60.1
Financial items, net -0.1 1.1
Profit before tax  78.0 61.3
Tax for the year -18.3 -15.2
Profit before non-controlling interests 59.7 46.0
Non-controllig interests 0.0 0.1
Profit for the year 59.7 46.1

 
CASH FLOWS  
Cash flows from operating activities 66.8 59.5
Cash flows from investing activities -9.8 -3.5
Cash flows from financing activities -71.3 -72.3

 
BALANCE SHEET  
Intangible assets  11.7 13.3
Property, plant and equipment 93.7 97.4
Other non-current assets 0.3 0.0
Cash and cash equivalents 7.8 22.1
Other current assets 295.5 258.4
Total assets 409.0 391.2

 
Equity 212.2 187.7
Interest-bearing debt 86.9 118.2
Other creditors 109.9 85.3
Total liabilities and equity 409.0 391.2

 
Average number of employees 241 230

 
FINANCIAL KEY FIGURES  
EBITDA margin 15.5% 13.8%
EBIT margin 12.9% 10.6%
ROIC ex goodwill 28.9% 22.6%
RIOC incl. goodwill 28.9% 22.6%
Working capital 202.1 187.1
Net interest-bearing debt 77.2 96.1  
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Kramp is the leading supplier of spare parts and 
accessories to the agricultural sector in Europe.  
 
Schouw & Co. merged its wholly owned subsidi-
ary Grene with Dutch company Kramp in 2013 
and now holds a 20% ownership interest in the 
continuing company. 
 
Financial performance 
Kramp continued to perform well in 2015, in-
creasing revenue by 5%, from DKK 4,905 million 
in 2014 to DKK 5,126 million in 2015, even with 
the farming industry under pressure in a number 
of markets. The revenue increase was driven by 
improvements in most of the company’s markets, 
including in particular France, Denmark, Switzer-
land and Russia, although revenue remained flat 
in a few markets. Germany and Poland were the 
only markets to report a minor decline.  
 
EBIT improved by 17%, from DKK 405 million in 
2014 to DKK 474 million in 2015. In addition to 
the revenue improvement, factors contributing to 
the performance included realised synergies from 
the merger of Kramp and Grene.  
 
Schouw & Co. recognises Kramp as an associate at 
a 20% share of its profit as stated after tax. The 
recognised share of profit for 2015 amounted to 
DKK 71 million, against DKK 22 million in 2014. 
However, any comparison with 2014 should take 
into account the fact that the recognised share of 
the profit in Kramp for the first four months of 
2014 was reduced by DKK 36 million in adjust-
ments that were mainly the result of the purchase 
price allocation prepared in connection with the 
merger. 

Kramp’s working capital increased from DKK 
1,434 million at 31 December 2014, to DKK 1,505 
million at 31 December 2015, mainly due to larger 
inventories resulting from a wider assortment of 
products carried and more business activity. Net 
interest-bearing debt increased from DKK 1,371 
million at 31 December 2014, to DKK 1,419 mil-
lion at 31 December 2015, after the company paid 
dividends of DKK 246 million to its shareholders, 
of which Schouw & Co. received DKK 49 million 
in December 2015.  
 
Business development 
Activity in the agricultural market softened going 
into 2015, as several tractor and other agricultural 
machinery manufacturers encountered slowing 
demand that forced them to cut back on produc-
tion. The general downturn in new machinery 
sales did not have a similar impact on the de-
mand for spare parts and accessories, which is the 
main component of Kramp's business, although it 
had some effect. As a result, the full-year revenue 
grew by slightly less than originally expected.  
 
Despite the current pressure on the European agri-
cultural sector, however, the fact remains that the 
agricultural area being cultivated does not change, 
nor does the number of people that have to be fed. 
In other words, Kramp’s business platform re-
mains intact, and Kramp will continue to invest 
in retaining and expanding its leadership posi-
tion.  
 
Even before the merger, Grene and Kramp oper-
ated a joint venture in Russia. Not surprisingly, its 
Russian business has attracted attention due to 

the many changes the Russian market has under-
gone, but Kramp’s Russian operations have per-
formed well in the past couple of years. Measured 
in local currency, Kramp's Russian activities re-
ported a revenue improvement of just over 30% 
in 2015, but the depreciation of the rouble re-
duced this gain to about 20% in terms of the euro 
and related currencies. 
 
Kramp stepped up its capital expenditure in 2015 
relative to 2014, primarily in the IT field. The 
company consolidated its leading position in e-
business and plans to integrate the IT systems 
used by Kramp and Grene on a best-of-breed ba-
sis. In addition, the existing physical facilities 
have been extended in 2015 through an expansion 
of the central warehouses in Konin, Poland and 
Poitiers, France. The new facilities cater to the 
needs arisen after Kramp and Grene merged and 
the advances achieved in the two markets. Also, 
the new facilities will improve the quality of ser-
vice and ensure added accessibility for Kramp’s 
customers.  
 
A large part of the synergies anticipated from the 
merger of Kramp and Grene have materialised. A 
number of organisational and system adjustments 
have been made to ensure that the individual 
business units have the right management tools at 
their disposal. In addition, the management struc-
ture has been realigned to support the continued 
development of the merged business.  
 

Kramp 
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Outlook 
Europe's agro industry continues to face several 
significant challenges, and while they vary from 
market to market, they are all the result of eco-
nomic and political conditions that are dampen-
ing demand expectations.  
 
However, Kramp's expanded physical facilities 
and its competitive strength make it well posi-
tioned to expect business growth in 2016, in line 
with the improvements of recent years. Against 
this backdrop, Kramp expects to generate revenue 
of about DKK 5.4 billion in 2016 and intends to 
allocate additional resources to securing its mar-
ket position in 2016, also by investing in IT and 
developing new platforms. The full-year EBIT is 
expected to be in the DKK 460-485-million range, 
which is in line with the 2015 results.  
 
Schouw & Co. expects to recognise DKK 65-75 
million as its share of the profit for 2016 after fi-
nancial items and tax. The amount will be recog-
nised under profit/loss after tax in associates. 

 
    
 2015 2014 

INCOME STATEMENT  
Revenue 5,126.4 4,905.5
Gross profit 1,905.7 1,782.6
EBITDA 604.0 528.8
Depreciation and impairment 129.8 123.6
Operating profit (EBIT) 474.2 405.2
Financial items, net -47.5 -59.6
Profit before tax  426.7 345.6
Tax for the year -73.8 -55.3
Profit for the year 352.9 290.3

 
Profit recognised in Schouw & Co. 70.6 22.4

 
BALANCE SHEET  
Non-current assets 1,044.3 1,000.5
Current assets 1,881.6 1,786.5
Total assets 2,925.9 2,787.0

 
Equity 1,130.2 1,063.1
Interest-bearing debt 1,418.9 1,371.0
Other creditors 376.8 352.9
Total liabilities and equity 2,925.9 2,787.0

 
Average number of employees 2,574 2,604

 
FINANCIAL KEY FIGURES  
EBITDA margin 11.8% 10.8%
EBIT margin 9.2% 8.3%
Working capital 1,504.8 1,433.5
Net interest-bearing debt 1,418.9 1,371.0
 
 

Kramp 



 

  Annual Report 2015  Schouw & Co.  36 

 

Xergi 
Schouw & Co. has been involved in the biogas 
field since 2001, and today co-owns Xergi on a 
fifty/fifty basis together with Dalgasgroup 
(Hedeselskabet).  
 
Xergi is one of Europe's leading suppliers of turn-
key biogas systems. Its core business consists of 
technology development, system design and in-
stallation as well as turnkey system operation and 
maintenance. The company's head office is in 
Støvring near Aalborg, Denmark and it operates 
mainly on the European and US markets. Xergi is 
recognised as a joint venture in the Schouw & Co. 
consolidated financial statements. 
 
In recent years, Xergi has invested heavily in 
technology innovation and in building a substan-
tial customer and project portfolio, partly by 
working the market in Denmark, partly by main-
taining its successful presence in the French and 
UK markets.  
 
In 2015/2016, Xergi is scheduled to hand over 
three large biogas plants in Denmark that can up-
grade and feed the biogas to the Danish natural 
gas grid. In the past year, Xergi has also built two 
biogas plants in France, one of which is currently 
the largest of its kind in the country; two biogas 
plants in the UK, one for organic waste and one 
for energy crops; and a biogas plant in Sweden 
where household waste sorted at source is con-
verted into a gas that is upgraded to methane 
quality and used in the transport industry. 
 
Its strong project portfolio has helped expand the 
company's activities: Xergi boosted its revenue by 

32% in 2015 to DKK 411 million from DKK 311 
million in 2014. The company also reported a 
very strong profit for 2015, DKK 9 million of 
which is recognised in the Schouw & Co. consoli-
dated financial statements under profit/loss after 
tax in associates and joint ventures.  
 
Xergi expects to complete negotiations for orders 
for biogas projects in several different countries in 
2016, but the timing of the final approval of these 
projects will depend on, among other things, the 
regulatory authorities and on financing commit-
ments. Against that backdrop, Xergi expects to see 
a high level of activity in 2016, but with a profit 
lower than that recorded for 2015. 
 
www.xergi.com 
 
Incuba Invest 
Schouw & Co. holds a 49% ownership interest in 
the development and venture company Incuba In-
vest A/S, whose other shareholders are the Aar-
hus University Research Foundation and NRGi 
a.m.b.a. Incuba Invest is recognised as an associ-
ate in the Schouw & Co. consolidated financial 
statements. 
 
Incuba Invest has a 26% ownership interest in In-
cuba, a company owning a number of properties 
and running three science parks in Aarhus, Den-
mark: the biotech-med science park next to Aar-
hus University Hospital, the IT science park at 
Katrinebjerg and the energy and clean-tech Navi-
tas science park at the Port of Aarhus.  
 
In addition, Incuba Invest has for several years 
been engaged in development activities through 

an ownership interest in Østjysk Innovation, a 
government-approved innovation environment. 
Østjysk Innovation merged with a peer organisa-
tion, CAT Science Park, in 2014, and Incuba In-
vest now holds a 16% ownership interest in the 
merged company called Capnova.  
 
Lastly, Incuba Invest is involved in the venture 
capital area through a 38% ownership interest in 
Scandinavian Micro Biodevices ApS, a company 
producing point-of-care veterinary diagnostic 
products. 
 
Incuba Invest reported a profit after tax of just 
over DKK 2 million for 2015, 49% of which was 
recognised in Schouw & Co.’s consolidated finan-
cial statements. The company expects to report a 
profit in 2016, as well. 
 
www.incuba.dk 
www.capnova.dk 
www.smb.dk 
 
Property 
In addition to the operational properties of the 
portfolio companies, Schouw & Co. owns a small 
number of properties. They are the parent compa-
ny's offices in Aarhus,  Denmark, a minor prop-
erty relating to the former Grene Industri-service, 
also in Aarhus, and two properties in Frederiks-
havn, Denmark, that Schouw & Co. took over in 
February 2013 in connection with the divestment 
of Martin, both of which have been put up for 
sale.  
 

Other investments 
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Note Income statement 2015 2014

    
1, 2 Revenue 12,565.7 11,784.1

3 Cost of sales -10,619.8 -10,073.1
 Gross profit 1,945.9 1,711.0

    
4 Other operating income 23.9 13.3
3 Distribution costs -696.7 -656.6

3, 30 Administrative expenses -441.8 -359.1
4 Other operating expenses 0.0 -1.0
 Operating profit (EBIT) 831.3 707.6

    
13 Profit after tax in associates 74.7 23.2
13 Profit after tax in joint ventures 11.5 5.3
17 Financial income 50.2 51.9
18 Financial expenses -96.6 -86.7

 Profit before tax 871.1 701.3

    
21 Tax on profit for the year -226.3 -273.6

 Profit for the year 644.8 427.7

    
 Attributable to:   
 Shareholders of Schouw & Co. 647.8 427.8
 Non-controlling interests -3.0 -0.1
 Profit for the year 644.8 427.7

   
31 Earnings per share (DKK) 27.48 18.08
31 Diluted earnings per share (DKK) 27.38 18.02 

 
Note Comprehensive income 2015 2014

    
 Items that can be reclassified to the profit and loss statement:   
 Exchange rate adjustment of foreign subsidiaries 104.7 190.6
 Hedging instruments recognised during the year 3.0 -18.7
 Hedging instruments transferred to cost of sales 0.3 1.1
 Hedging instruments transferred to financials 7.0 8.0
 Other comprehensive income from associates and joint ventures -7.9 -6.7
 Other adjustment on equity -0.3 -1.8

21 Tax on other comprehensive income -2.9 2.9
 Other comprehensive income after tax 103.9 175.4

   
 Profit for the year 644.8 427.7
 Total recognised comprehensive income 748.7 603.1

   
 Attributable to:  
 Shareholders of Schouw & Co. 756.4 603.2
 Non-controlling interests -7.7 -0.1
 Total recognised comprehensive income 748.7 603.1

 

  

Statements of income and comprehensive income 1.1–31.12 
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Note Assets 2015 2014

    
 Goodwill 1,006.1 970.5 
 Completed development projects 0.0 12.1 
 Development projects in progress 0.0 18.4 
 Other intangible assets 169.9 93.9 

3, 10 Intangible assets 1,176.0 1,094.9 

   
 Land and buildings 1,260.2 1,262.5 
 Plant and machinery 1,152.3 1,251.9 
 Other fixtures, tools and equipment 65.4 69.6 
 Assets under construction, etc. 298.3 131.0 

3, 11 Property, plant and equipment 2,776.2 2,715.0 

   
13 Equity investments in associates 570.3 561.7 
13 Equity investments in joint ventures 109.1 64.3 
25 Securities 83.9 115.0 
22 Deferred tax 18.1 51.9 
12 Receivables 177.7 144.1 

 Other non-current assets 959.1 937.0 

   
 Total non-current assets 4,911.3 4,746.9 

   
5 Inventories 1,435.1 1,447.5 
6 Receivables 2,752.7 2,592.1 

23 Income tax receivable 5.9 8.4 
25 Securities 0.1 0.1 

 Cash and cash equivalents 1,410.7 1,087.1 
 Total current assets 5,604.5 5,135.2 

   
 Total assets 10,515.8 9,882.1 

 
 

 
Note Liabilities and equity 2015 2014

    
20 Share capital 255.0 255.0

 Hedge transaction reserve -12.4 -20.0
 Exchange adjustment reserve 263.1 153.7
 Retained earnings 5,895.1 5,478.2
 Proposed dividend 255.0 204.0
 Share of equity attributable to the parent company 6,655.8 6,070.9

   
 Non-controlling interests 20.7 2.9
 Total equity 6,676.5 6,073.8

   
22 Deferred tax 147.9 151.3
24 Pensions and similar liabilities 106.3 113.1
19 Credit institutions 686.6 858.4

 Non-current liabilities 940.8 1,122.8

   
19 Current portion of non-current debt 190.6 238.1
19 Credit institutions 109.4 77.6
8 Trade payables and other payables 2,567.1 2,238.6

23 Income tax 31.4 131.2
 Current liabilities 2,898.5 2,685.5

   
 Total liabilities 3,839.3 3,808.3
   
 Total liabilities and equity 10,515.8 9,882.1

   
 Notes without reference 14, 16, 26-29 & 31-34.  

 
 

  

Balance sheet · Assets and liabilities at 31 December 
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Note 2015 2014

    
 Profit before tax 871.1 701.3 
 Adjustment for operating items of a non-cash nature, etc.:   

3 Depreciation and impairment losses 383.0 362.7 
 Other operating items, net 72.9 33.9 
 Provisions 0.6 0.5 
 Profit/(loss) after tax in associates and joint ventures -86.2 -28.5 
 Financial income -50.2 -51.9 
 Financial expenses 96.6 86.7 

 
Cash flows from operating activities before changes in working 
capital 1,287.8 1,104.7 

   
7 Changes in working capital 198.1 -296.6 
 Cash flows from operating activities 1,485.9 808.1 

   
 Interest income received 29.4 31.2 
 Interest expenses paid -53.6 -83.8 
 Cash flows from ordinary activities 1,461.7 755.5 

   
23 Income tax paid -290.5 -127.8 

 Cash flows from operating activities 1,171.2 627.7 

   
9 Purchase of intangible assets -61.9 -12.9 
9 Purchase of property, plant and equipment -354.4 -232.5 
 Sale of property, plant and equipment 16.2 8.5 

15 Acquisition of enterprises -124.7 -129.2 
 Acquisition of joint ventures and associates -36.7 -38.6 
 Received dividend from associates 49.2 76.0 
 Additions/disposals of other financial assets -57.0 -25.8 
 Cash flows from investing activities -569.3 -354.5 

 

  
Note 2015 2014

   
 Debt financing:  
 Repayment of non-current liabilities -275.6 -330.9

9 Proceeds from incurring non current financial liabilities 70.2 63.8
 Increase (repayment) of bank overdrafts 46.3 -156.3
 Repayment of loans by associates 0.0 141.0
 Shareholders:  
 Capital contributions, etc. by non-controlling interests 14.9 0.0
 Dividend paid -188.8 -142.9
 Purchase / sale of treasury shares, net 9.4 -137.7
 Cash flows from financing activities -323.6 -563.0

   
 Cash flows for the year 278.3 -289.8
 Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 1,087.1 1,324.0
 Value adjustment of cash and cash equivalents 45.3 52.9
 Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 1,410.7 1,087.1

 

Cash flow statement 1 Jan – 31 Dec 
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  Share capital

Hedge
transaction

reserve

Exchange
adjustment

reserve
Retained 
earnings

Proposed 
dividend Total

Non-conrolling
interests Total equity

        
Equity at 1 January 2014 255.0 -14.5 -36.7 5,385.8 153.0 5,742.6 3.4 5,746.0

 
Other comprehensive income in 2014  
  Exchange rate adjustment of foreign subsidiaries 0.0 0.0 190.6 0.0 0.0 190.6 0.0 190.6
  Value adj. of hedging instruments recognised during the year 0.0 -18.4 -0.3 0.0 0.0 -18.7 0.0 -18.7
  Hedging instruments transferred to cost of sales 0.0 1.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.1 0.0 1.1
  Hedging instruments transferred to financials 0.0 8.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 8.0 0.0 8.0
  Other comprehensive income from associates and JVs  0.0 1.5 0.0 -8.2 0.0 -6.7 0.0 -6.7
  Other adjustment on equity 0.0 0.0 0.0 -1.8 0.0 -1.8 0.0 -1.8
  Tax on other comprehensive income 0.0 2.3 0.1 0.5 0.0 2.9 0.0 2.9
  Profit for the year 0.0 0.0 0.0 223.8 204.0 427.8 -0.1 427.7
Total recognised comprehensive income 0.0 -5.5 190.4 214.3 204.0 603.2 -0.1 603.1

Transactions with the owners  
  Share-based payment, net 0.0 0.0 0.0 5.3 0.0 5.3 0.0 5.3
  Dividend distributed 0.0 0.0 0.0 10.5 -153.0 -142.5 -0.4 -142.9
  Treasury shares bought/sold 0.0 0.0 0.0 -137.7 0.0 -137.7 0.0 -137.7
Transactions with the owners for the period 0.0 0.0 0.0 -121.9 -153.0 -274.9 -0.4 -275.3

 
Equity at 31 December 2014 255.0 -20.0 153.7 5,478.2 204.0 6,070.9 2.9 6,073.8

 
Other comprehensive income in 2015  
  Exchange rate adjustment of foreign subsidiaries 0.0 0.0 109.4 0.0 0.0 109.4 -4.7 104.7
  Value adj. of hedging instruments recognised during the year 0.0 3.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 3.0 0.0 3.0
  Hedging instruments transferred to cost of sales 0.0 0.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.3 0.0 0.3
  Hedging instruments transferred to financials 0.0 7.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 7.0 0.0 7.0
  Other comprehensive income from associates and JVs 0.0 0.0 0.0 -7.9 0.0 -7.9 0.0 -7.9
  Other adjustment on equity 0.0 0.0 0.0 -0.3 0.0 -0.3 0.0 -0.3
  Tax on other comprehensive income 0.0 -2.7 0.0 -0.2 0.0 -2.9 0.0 -2.9
  Profit for the year 0.0 0.0 0.0 392.8 255.0 647.8 -3.0 644.8
Total recognised comprehensive income 0.0 7.6 109.4 384.4 255.0 756.4 -7.7 748.7

Transactions with the owners  
  Share-based payment, net 0.0 0.0 0.0 7.9 0.0 7.9 0.0 7.9
  Dividend distributed 0.0 0.0 0.0 15.2 -204.0 -188.8 0.0 -188.8
  Addition/disposal of non-controlling interests 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 25.5 25.5
  Treasury shares bought/sold 0.0 0.0 0.0 9.4 0.0 9.4 0.0 9.4
Transactions with the owners for the period 0.0 0.0 0.0 32.5 -204.0 -171.5 25.5 -146.0

 
Equity at 31 December 2015 255.0 -12.4 263.1 5,895.1 255.0 6,655.8 20.7 6,676.5

Statement of changes in equity  
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With a few exceptions, the structure of Schouw & Co.’s consoli-
dated financial statements is consistent with that applied last 
year. In this 2015 annual report, the notes have been grouped 
into five sections. This year, notes relating to tax matters are pro-
vided in a separate section. Each section contains a description of 
the Group's accounting policies, estimates and judgments along 
with comments. Only individually material items are presented in 
the primary statements. Both quantitative and qualitative factors 
are used in determining whether or not an item is deemed to be 
principal.  
 

Accounting policies 
The annual report for the year ended 31 December 2015 has been 
prepared in accordance with the International Financial Report-
ing Standards as adopted by the EU and additional Danish disclo-
sure requirements for annual reports of listed companies. 
 
The annual report also complies with the International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) issued by IASB. 
 

Recognition and measurement 
Schouw & Co. has implemented the standards and interpreta-
tions which are effective from 2015. The consolidated accounting 
policies are consistent with those of last year.  
 
The annual report has been approved by the Board of Directors 
and will be submitted for approval at the company's annual gen-
eral meeting to be held on 14 April 2016. 
 
The annual report is presented in Danish kroner.  
 

Roundings and presentation 
In the preparation of the annual report, the Schouw & Co. Group 
uses minimum amounts of DKK 1,000 in the measurement of un-
derlying data. As the annual report is presented in millions of 
Danish kroner, all amounts provided have been rounded, for 
which reason some additions may not add up.  
 
Consolidated financial statements 
The financial statements of the Group consolidate the financial 
statements of Schouw & Co. and subsidiaries controlled by 
Schouw & Co. Control is achieved by directly or indirectly holding 
or having the disposal of more than 50% of the voting rights or 
otherwise exercising a controlling influence over the relevant en-

terprise. Enterprises in which the Group exercises significant in-
fluence but not control are classified as associates. Significant in-
fluence is generally achieved by directly or indirectly holding or 
controlling 20% or more, but less than 50%, of the voting rights. 
Factors used to determine whether or not Schouw & Co. has con-
trol include de facto control and potential voting rights exercisa-
ble at the balance sheet date. 
 
Joint arrangements are activities or companies in which the 
Group has joint control through collaborative agreements with 
one or more parties. Joint control implies that unanimous deci-
sions on the relevant activities are required by the parties sharing 
the controlling influence. 
 
Joint arrangements are classified either as joint ventures or as 
joint operations. A joint operation refers to activities where the 
parties have direct rights to assets and direct obligations for lia-
bilities, whereas a joint venture means activities for which the 
parties only have rights to the net assets. 
 
Schouw & Co. has joint operations, the most important of which 
are fish feed activities in Chile (Alitec Pargua). These businesses 
are consolidated on a pro-rata basis. Schouw & Co. also has joint 
arrangements classified as joint ventures, the most important of 
which is Xergi. These businesses are recognised in a single line at 
the proportionate share of the profit or loss attributable to the 
Group. 
 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared by ag-
gregating the financial statements of the parent company, the in-
dividual subsidiaries and joint operations prepared in accordance 
with the Group’s accounting policies. Intra-group income and ex-
penses, shareholdings, intra-group balances and dividends and 
realised and unrealised gains and losses on transactions between 
the consolidated companies are eliminated. Unrealised gains on 
transactions with associates and joint ventures are eliminated in 
proportion to the Group’s share of the enterprise. Unrealised 
losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, to the 
extent that no impairment has occurred. 
 

Foreign currency translation 
A functional currency is determined for each of the reporting en-
terprises of the Group. The functional currency is the currency in 
the primary economic environment in which the reporting entity 
operates. Transactions in currencies other than the functional 
currency are transactions in foreign currencies.  

On initial recognition, transactions denominated in foreign cur-
rency are translated at the exchange rate ruling on the transac-
tion date. Exchange differences arising between the exchange 
rate at the transaction date and the exchange rate at the date of 
actual payment are recognised in the income statement under fi-
nancial income or financial expenses. 
 
Receivables, payables and other monetary items denominated in 
foreign currency are translated at the exchange rates ruling at 
the balance sheet date. The difference between the exchange 
rate ruling at the balance sheet date and the exchange rate ruling 
at the date when the receivable or payable arose or the exchange 
rate applied in the most recent annual report is recognised in the 
income statement under financial income or financial expenses. 
 
On consolidation of enterprises with functional currencies other 
than Danish kroner, the income statements are translated at the 
exchange rates ruling at the transaction date and the balance 
sheets are translated at the exchange rates ruling at the balance 
sheet date. The average exchange rate for each individual month 
is used as the transaction date exchange rate. Exchange differ-
ences arising on the translation of the opening equity of such en-
terprises at the exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date 
and on the translation of the income statements from the ex-
change rates ruling at the transaction date to the exchange rates 
ruling at the balance sheet date are recognised in other compre-
hensive income in the exchange adjustment reserve under equity. 
 
Foreign exchange adjustment of balances that are considered as 
part of the overall net investment in enterprises with functional 
currencies other than Danish kroner, are recognised directly in 
other comprehensive income in the exchange adjustment reserve 
under equity. Similarly, exchange gains and losses on the part of 
loans and derivative financial instruments effectively hedging the 
net investment in such enterprises are recognised in other com-
prehensive income in the exchange adjustment reserve under eq-
uity. 
 
On consolidation of associates and joint ventures with functional 
currencies other than Danish kroner, the pro-rata share of the re-
sults is translated at the exchange rates ruling at the transaction 
date, and the share of equity including goodwill is translated at 
the exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date. Exchange 
differences arising on the translation of the share of the opening 
equity of foreign associates at exchange rates ruling at the bal-
ance sheet date and on the translation of the share of the results 
for the year from average exchange rates to the exchange rates 

Notes · Basis of preparation of the consolidated statements Notes · Basis of preparation of the consolidated statements 
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ruling at the balance sheet date are recognised in other compre-
hensive income in the exchange adjustment reserve under equity.   
 

Derivative financial instruments 
Derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value and 
recognised in the balance sheet under other receivables or other 
payables, respectively. The fair value of derivative financial in-
struments is calculated on the basis of current market data and 
recognised valuation methods. 
 
Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments that 
effectively hedge the fair value of a recognised asset or a recog-
nised liability are recognised in the income statement together 
with any changes in the value of the hedged asset or hedged lia-
bility. Hedging of future cash flows under agreements are treated 
as hedging of the fair value of a recognised asset or a recognised 
liability. 
 
Changes in the part of the fair value of derivative financial instru-
ments effectively hedging future cash flows are recognised in 
other comprehensive income in the reserve for hedging transac-
tions under equity. On realisation of the hedged transaction, any 
gains or losses relating to such hedge transactions are trans-
ferred from other comprehensive income and recognised in the 
same item as the hedged item. 
 
Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments effec-
tively hedging net investments in foreign subsidiaries  
or associates are recognised in other comprehensive income in 
the exchange adjustment reserve under equity.  
 
For derivative financial instruments that do not qualify for hedge 
accounting, changes in fair value are recognised as interest in-
come or expenses and similar items in the income statement as 
they occur. 
 

Shareholders' equity 
The hedge transaction reserve contains the accumulated net 
change in the fair value of hedging transactions that meet the cri-
teria for hedging future cash flows and for which the hedged 
transaction has yet to be realised. The exchange adjustment re-
serve in the consolidated financial statements comprises ex-
change differences arising on the translation of the financial 
statements of foreign enterprises from their functional curren-
cies into Danish kroner including exchange differences on finan-
cial instruments considered to be a part of the net investment or 

as hedging of the net investment. The fair value adjustment re-
serve comprises value adjustments of available-for-sale securi-
ties that are not regularly monitored. On realisation, accumulated 
value adjustments are taken from equity to financial items in the 
income statement.  
 

Treasury shares 
The purchase and sale sums of treasury shares and dividends 
thereon are taken directly to retained earnings under equity. Pro-
ceeds from the sale of treasury shares in Schouw & Co. in con-
nection with the exercise of share options are taken directly to 
equity. 
 
Dividend 
Dividend is recognised as a liability at the time of adoption by the 
shareholders at the annual general meeting (the date of declara-
tion). Dividends expected to be declared in respect of the year are 
stated as a separate line item under equity. 
 

Significant accounting estimates 
Calculating the carrying amounts of certain assets and liabilities 
requires judgments, estimates and assumptions to be made re-
garding future events.  
 
The estimates and assumptions applied are based on factors 
such as historical experience and other factors that management 
considers reasonable under the circumstances, but which are in-
herently uncertain and unpredictable. Such assumptions may be 
incomplete or inaccurate, and unexpected events or circum-
stances may arise. Due to the risks and uncertainties the Group is 
subject to, actual outcomes may deviate from estimates made. It 
may be necessary to revise previous estimates as a result of 
changes to the assumptions on which such estimates were based 
or due to new information or subsequent events. 
 
Estimates material to Schouw & Co.’s financial reporting are 
made by recognising, inter alia, trade receivables, inventories, re-
sults of goodwill impairment tests and by calculating the fair 
value of unlisted securities   
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This section of the annual report contains notes relating to the 
Group's primary operations, including a breakdown by operating 
segments. The following notes are presented in this section: 
 
1. Segment reporting 
2. Revenue  
3. Costs 
4. Other operating income and expenses 
5. Inventories 
6. Receivables (current) 
7. Changes in working capital 
8. Trade payables and other payables 
9. Adjustment for non-cash transactions 
 

Comments 
Revenue 
Consolidated revenue was up by DKK 782 million from DKK 
11,784 million in 2014 to DKK 12,566 million in 2015. Due to the 
effect of changes in exchange rates, international sales contrib-
uted a net amount of DKK 290 million more to consolidated reve-
nue than last year. Higher exchange rates increased revenue by 
DKK 528 million, while lower exchange rates had a negative ef-
fect of DKK 238 million. An increase in the USD/DKK exchange 
rate alone increased revenue by DKK 425 million, while a fall in 
the NOK/DKK exchange rate had a negative effect of DKK 238 
million. 
 

 
 

Operating profit (EBIT) 
EBIT improved by DKK 124 million, from DKK 708 million in 2014 
to DKK 831 million in 2015. A large part of the 17.5% increase 
was due to the DKK 81 million EBIT improvement by Fibertex 
Personal Care. In Malaysia, Fibertex Personal Care reported a 
substantial earnings improvement due to a fall in raw materials 
prices combined with USD-denominated sales contracts and a 
fall in the MYR/USD exchange rate. The Group’s other business 

areas also reported EBIT improvements. BioMar, Fibertex 
Nonwovens and Hydra-Grene achieved EBIT improvements of 
DKK 12 million, DKK 14 million and DKK 18 million, respectively. 
In addition to the effect of the sales contracts in Malaysia, net 
changes in foreign exchange rates lifted EBIT for the year by a 
net amount of DKK 38 million. The main contributor was USD ap-
preciation, which alone lifted recognised earnings from BioMar 
Chile by DKK 37 million.   
 

 
 
Working capital 
Working capital amounted to DKK 1,598 million at 31 December 
2015, as compared with DKK 1,775 million at 31 December 2014. 
The reduction was due to various factors relating to the individual 
businesses and to the individual working capital components. 
 
Inventories were reduced from DKK 1,448 million to DKK 1,435 
million, resulting from reductions in BioMar and Fibertex Personal 
Care’s inventories of DKK 59 million and DKK 19 million, respec-
tively. On the other hand, Fibertex Nonwovens increased its in-
ventories by DKK 54 million, that amount mainly representing ad-
ditions on acquisition. Lastly, Hydra-Grene increased its invento-
ries by DKK 11 million. 
 
Trade receivables and other receivables increased by DKK 165 
million to stand at DKK 2,730 million. DKK 18 million of the in-
crease represented additions on acquisition. Capital tied up in 
trade receivables increased by 6%, which was due to a corre-
sponding increase in revenue. The biggest part of the change for 
the year was in BioMar, whose receivables increased by DKK 115 
million, whereas receivables in Fibertex Personal Care, Fibertex 
Nonwovens and Hydra-Grene increased by DKK 5 million, DKK 24 
million and DKK 19 million, respectively. 
 
The final working capital component, trade payables and other 
payables amounted to DKK 2,567 million, representing an in-
crease of DKK 329 million. 

  
Cash flow statement 
Cash flows from operating activities for the year before changes 
in working capital improved by DKK 183 million to DKK 1,288 mil-
lion in 2015. The DKK 495 million movement in the 2015 working 
capital brought the cash flow from operating activities to DKK 
1,486 million, against DKK 808 million in 2014. Net of interest 
and taxes paid, cash flows from operating activities improved by 
DKK 543 million to DKK 1,171 million.  
 
The overall net cash flows for investing activities was up by DKK 
215 million to DKK 569 million in 2015. Most of the increase re-
lated to acquisitions of intangible assets and property, plant and 
equipment, which increased by DKK 171 million to DKK 416 mil-
lion. Fibertex Nonwovens accounted for most of this amount at 
DKK 185 million. BioMar and Fibertex Personal Care accounted 
for DKK 135 million and DKK 86 million, respectively. while the 
remaining DKK 10 million was invested by Hydra-Grene. In addi-
tion, Fibertex Nonwovens spent DKK 125 million on acquisitions. 
 
Cash flows from operations for the year amounted to DKK 1,171 
million, of which DKK 569 million was used for investing pur-
poses. Debt financing etc. was reduced by DKK 159 million, and 
dividends paid to the shareholders amounted to DKK 189 million. 
In addition, the company sold treasury shares for DKK 33 million 
for option settlement purposes and bought shares in Schouw & 
Co. for DKK 24 million. The company has received capital contri-
butions of DKK 15 million from non-controlling shareholders. Net 
of amounts used for investing and financing purposes, the com-
pany had a cash inflow for 2015 of DKK 278 million.  

  

9,802 11,162 11,645 11,784 12,566

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

Revenue

557 679 685 708 831

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

EBIT

1,391 1,497 1,424 1,775 1,598

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

Working Capital

375 771 667 628 1,171

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

Operating cash flow

Notes · Profit, working capital and cash flows 

The bar charts show five-year consolidated figures adjusted for the di-
vestments of Martin and Grene. 
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Accounting policies 
 

Segment reporting 
Segment reporting is consistent with the internal management 
reporting. Schouw is an industrial conglomerate consisting of a 
number of sub-groups operating in various industries and inde-
pendently of the other sub-groups. If the profit or loss, assets or 
revenue of a sub-group represents 10% or more of consolidated 
profit or loss, assets or revenue, such sub-group is classified as a 
reporting segment. The reporting segments are presented sepa-
rately and without aggregation of operating segments. 
 
Included in the reporting segments are revaluations of assets 
and liabilities made in connection with Schouw & Co.'s acquisition 
of the segment in question and consolidated goodwill arising as a 
result of the acquisition. The operational impact of deprecia-
tion/amortisation and write-downs on the above revaluations or 
goodwill is also included in the profit or loss presented for the re-
porting segment. 
 
Geographical segment information indicates the group's revenue 
and assets by national market.  
 

Revenue 
Revenue from the sale of goods for resale and finished goods is 
recognised in the income statement if transfer of risk to the buyer 
has taken place before year-end and if the income can be reliably 
measured. 
 
Revenue is measured excluding VAT and other taxes and duties 
charged on behalf of third parties. All discounts granted are de-
ducted from revenue. 
 

Cost of sales 
Cost of sales comprises costs defrayed to achieve the year’s rev-
enue. The trading companies recognise the cost of goods sold and 
manufacturing companies recognise production costs corre-
sponding to the year’s revenue, including direct and indirect costs 
for raw materials and consumables, wages and salaries, rent and 
leasing, amortisation and impairment of intangible assets, depre-
ciation and impairment of production equipment and impairment 
of inventory. Cost of sales also includes operating costs relating 
to investment property. Cost of sales also includes research 

costs and product development costs that do not meet the crite-
ria for capitalisation, as well as amortisation and impairment of 
capitalised product development costs. 
 

Distribution costs 
Distribution costs comprise expenses incurred in connection with 
the distribution of goods sold during the year and in connection 
with sales campaigns, etc. launched during the year under re-
view, including cost of sales and logistics staff, advertising and 
exhibition costs, as well as depreciation/amortisation and impair-
ment. 
 

Administrative expenses 
Administrative expenses comprise expenses incurred during the 
year for management and administration, including expenses for 
administrative staff, office premises and office expenses, and de-
preciation and impairment. Administrative expenses also com-
prise write-downs on receivables. 
 
Employee benefits 
Equity-settled share options are measured at fair value at the 
grant date and their value is recognised in the income statement 
under staff costs over the vesting period. The balancing item is 
recognised directly in equity as a shareholder transaction. 
 
On initial recognition of the share options, the number of options 
expected to vest is estimated. Subsequently, changes in the esti-
mated number of vested options are adjusted to the effect that 
the total amount recognised is based on the actual number of 
vested options. 
 
The fair value of options granted is estimated using a valuation 
model that takes into account the terms and conditions of the op-
tions granted. 
 

Other operating income and expenses 
Other operating income and expenses comprise items of a sec-
ondary nature relative to the companies’ activities, including 
gains and losses on replacement of intangible assets and prop-
erty, plant and equipment. Gains and losses on the disposal of in-
tangible assets and property, plant and equipment are computed 
as the difference between the selling price and the carrying 
amount at the date of disposal. 
 

Government grants include grants and funding of development 
work and grants for investments, etc. Grants for research and de-
velopment costs recognised directly in the income statement are 
included in other operating income. 
 
Investment grants in the form of certain tax-privileged schemes 
in individual countries are recognised in the balance sheet under 
receivables and as deferred income under accruals and deferred 
income. Grants are recognised in the income statement under 
other operating income as the underlying investments are depre-
ciated. The receivable is reduced as the grant is received and the 
accruals and deferred income item is reduced as the grant is rec-
ognised in the income statement. 
 

Inventories 
Inventories are measured at cost in accordance with the FIFO 
method. Where the net realisable value is lower than cost, inven-
tories are written down to this lower value. The cost of goods for 
resale, raw materials and consumables comprise the purchase 
price plus delivery costs. The cost of finished goods and work in 
progress comprises the cost of raw materials, consumables, di-
rect labour and indirect production costs. Indirect costs of pro-
duction include indirect materials and labour as well as mainte-
nance of and depreciation and impairment of the machines, fac-
tory buildings and equipment used in the manufacturing process 
as well as factory management and administrative expenses. The 
net realisable value of inventories is calculated as the selling 
price less costs of conversion and costs incurred to execute the 
sale and is determined having regard to marketability, obsoles-
cence and expected selling price movements. 
 
Biological inventories are recognised at fair value less estimated 
selling costs. Gains and losses occurring on the recognition of  
biological assets at fair value less estimated selling costs are 
recognised in cost of sales for the year. 
 

Receivables 
Receivables are measured at amortised cost. Receivables are 
written down for anticipated losses. Impairment write-downs on 
receivables are recognised in the income statement under admin-
istrative expenses 
 
Prepayments and accrued income 
Prepayments and accrued income include expenses paid in re-
spect of subsequent financial years. Deferred income comprises 

Notes · Profit, working capital and cash flows 
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payments received relating to income in subsequent financial 
years, including investment grants. 
 

Cash flow statement 
The cash flow statement shows the cash flows for the year dis-
tributed on operating, investing, financing and discontinued activi-
ties, net changes for the year in cash as well as cash and cash 
equivalents at the beginning and end of the year.  
 
The cash effect of acquisitions and divestments is shown sepa-
rately under cash flows from investing activities. In the cash flow 
statement, cash flows concerning acquired companies are recog-
nised from the date of acquisition, while cash flows concerning 
divested companies are recognised until the date of divestment.  
 
Cash flows in currencies other than the functional currency are 
translated at average exchange rates unless these differ materi-
ally from the exchange rate ruling at the transaction day.  
 
Cash flows from operating activities are calculated according to 
the indirect method as the profit for the year before tax adjusted 
for non-cash operating items, changes in working capital, interest 
paid and income taxes paid.  
 
Cash flows from investing activities comprise payments made in 
connection with the acquisition and divestment of companies and 
operations and the acquisition and disposal of intangible assets, 
property, plant and equipment as well as the purchase and sale 
of securities not recognised under cash and cash equivalents. 
Dividends from associates are included in cash flows from invest-
ing activities. 
 
Cash flows from financing activities include payments to and 
from shareholders and related expenses as well as the raising of 
loans, repayments on interest-bearing debt and the purchase and 
sale of treasury shares.  
 
Cash flows from discontinued activities comprise cash flows from 
operating, investing and financing activities in the discontinued 
entity.  
 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and in hand as 
well as securities with a maturity of less than three months at the 
time of acquisition that can immediately be converted into cash 
and that involve insignificant risk of value fluctuations. 
 

Significant accounting estimates 
 

Inventories 
The uncertainty attaching to estimating inventories is related to 
any write-down to net realisable value. As the Schouw & Co. 
Group consists of companies of a diverse nature, the process of 
estimating net realisable value of inventories varies from com-
pany to company.  
 
Historically, only a small part of the Schouw & Co. Group’s inven-
tories have been impaired. At 31 December 2015, impaired inven-
tories had on average been written down by 73% or their original 
value. 
 
Generally, BioMar's inventories consist of a range of different fish 
feed products which are only in stock for a few weeks on average. 
As fish feed usually has a storage life of eight to twelve months, 
the Group believes that BioMar's inventories are impaired only to 
a very limited extent.  
 
Fibertex Personal Care generally only manufactures to order, and 
its inventories consist only of nonwoven products that are 
shipped to customers shortly after production. Accordingly, the 
Group believes that Fibertex Personal Care's inventories are im-
paired only to a very limited extent.  
 
Fibertex Nonwovens manufactures a number of different nonwo-
ven products, a part of which is manufactured for stock. Fibertex 
Nonwovens reviews its inventory on a regular basis to identify 
products with a low turnover rate.  
 
Primarily being a trading company, Hydra-Grene has the largest 
inventory of the Schouw & Co. Group's portfolio companies. Cur-
rently, Hydra-Grene is estimated to carry about 40,000 different 
items. Given the relatively large number of items, testing each in-
dividual item for impairment is not practically possible. Instead, 
Hydra-Grene applies a general impairment model of writing down 
down goods after they have been in stock for a certain number of 
days. Hydra-Grene reviews its impairment model on a regular ba-
sis, and in the Group's best estimate, the model provides an ap-
propriate and fair view of the net realisable inventory value. His-
torically, 20-30% of Hydra-Grene's inventories have had evidence 
of impairment. Goods impaired have been written down by 80-
90% of their value. It is estimated that 22% of Hydra-Grene's cur-
rent inventories show evidence of impairment. The inventories in 

question were written down by a total of 91% at the balance 
sheet date. 
 
Inventories, end of year – by portfolio company: 

 
  

Debtors 
Management applies estimates in the assessment of the likeli-
hood that receivables at the balance sheet date will be received. 
For the Schouw & Co. Group, the largest risks of losses on trade 
receivables have historically related to customers of the Group's 
fish feed manufacturer (BioMar). BioMar sells a significant part of 
its products in markets in South America (Chile), Norway and in 
southern and central Europe. Historically, the largest debtor risks 
have been for customers in Chile and in southern Europe, espe-
cially Greece. The Group has substantial receivables with certain 
customers in these geographical areas. Some of these customers 
are under reconstruction, a few have gone bankrupt and others 
for various reasons are in financial difficulty. Thorough analyses 
have been made of the credit quality of these debtors, especially 
of those mentioned above, and management believes that ade-
quate and necessary provisions for losses on these debtors had 
been made at 31 December 2015.  
 
The other companies are not believed to involve material credit 
risks. 
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1 S E G M E N T  R E P O R T I N G   

Total reportable segments 2015 BioMar
Fibertex

Personal Care
Fibertex 

Nonwovens Hydra-Grene Total
 

External revenue 8,974.2 1,766.4 1,214.6 602.9 12,558.1
Intra-group revenue 0.0 30.8 7.7 0.0 38.5
Segment revenue 8,974.2 1,797.2 1,222.3 602.9 12,596.6

 
Depreciation and impairment 146.1 142.2 76.8 15.1 380.2
EBIT 446.7 252.5 76.4 78.1 853.7

 
Segment assets 5,262.9 1,752.3 1,535.4 409.0 8,959.6
Including goodwill 784.7 99.1 122.4 0.0 1,006.2
Equity investments in associates and joint ventures 82.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 82.7
Segment liabilities 2,704.5 918.0 1,043.8 196.8 4,863.1
Working capital 752.4 294.4 361.1 202.1 1,610.0
NIBD 68.7 482.4 730.4 77.2 1,358.7

 
Cash flows from operating activities 636.7 342.1 97.2 66.8 1,142.8
Cash flows from investing activities -209.5 -85.3 -313.0 -9.8 -617.6
Cash flows from financing activities -621.7 -248.1 216.0 -71.3 -725.1
Capital expenditure 134.7 87.0 334.0 9.8 565.5

 
Average number of employees 897 514 719 241 2,371

           

Total reportable segments 2014 BioMar
Fibertex

Personal Care
Fibertex 

Nonwovens Hydra-Grene Total
 

External revenue 8,451.3 1,719.6 1,039.7 565.8 11,776.4
Intra-group revenue 0.0 67.9 8.3 0.0 76.2
Segment revenue 8,451.3 1,787.5 1,048.0 565.8 11,852.6

 
Depreciation and impairment 139.8 136.3 66.0 17.9 360.0
EBIT 434.4 171.3 62.2 60.1 728.0

 
Segment assets 5,271.4 1,929.9 1,210.5 391.3 8,803.1
Including goodwill 755.3 99.1 116.1 0.0 970.5
Equity investments in associates and joint ventures 44.0 0.0 10.5 0.0 54.5
Segment liabilities 2,939.0 1,151.8 793.0 203.6 5,087.4
Working capital 982.6 292.7 318.7 187.1 1,781.1
NIBD 386.2 688.0 521.7 96.1 1,692.0

 
Cash flows from operating activities 266.3 225.8 82.1 59.5 633.7
Cash flows from investing activities -166.5 -129.5 -134.0 -3.5 -433.5
Cash flows from financing activities -60.0 -85.8 80.5 -72.3 -137.6
Capital expenditure 106.6 232.1 188.7 5.8 533.2

 
Average number of employees 904 447 547 230 2,128
 

Notes · Profit, working capital and cash flows 
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1 S E G M E N T  R E P O R T I N G  ( C O N T I N U E D )   

 
Based on management control and financial management, Schouw & Co. has identified four reporting 
segments, which are BioMar, Fibertex Personal Care, Fibertex Nonwovens and Hydra-Grene. 
 
All inter-segment transactions were made on an arm’s length basis. 
 
Reconciliation of consolidated revenue, EBIT, assets and liabilities 
 

2015 
Group 

revenue EBIT Assets Liabilities
 

Reporting segments 12,596.6 853.7 8,959.6 4,863.1
Non-reporting segments 7.4 4.1 201.5 36.5
The parent company 5.2 -26.5 6,796.6 140.7
Group elimination etc. -43.5 0.0 -5,441.9 -1,201.0
Total 12,565.7 831.3 10,515.8 3,839.3

 
 

2014 
Group 

 revenue EBIT Assets Liabilities
 

Reporting segments 11,852.6 728.0 8,803.1 5,087.4
Non-reporting segments 7.6 3.4 209.0 50.5
The parent company 4.5 -23.8 6,186.4 115.5
Group elimination etc. -80.6 0.0 -5,316.4 -1,445.1
Total 11,784.1 707.6 9,882.1 3,808.3
 
 

The data on revenue by geography are based on customers' geographical location, while data on in-
tangible assets and property, plant and equipment by geography are based the geographical location 
of the assets. The specification shows the individual countries that account for more than 5% of the 
Group in terms of revenue or assets. As Schouw & Co.'s consolidated revenue is generated in some 
100 different countries, a very large proportion of the revenue derives from the 'Other' category. 
 
 

 
  

Revenue by country:

2015 2014

2015 2014

 Norway 3,365 3,244

 Chile 2,415 2,301

 U.K. 910 961

 Denmark 794 819

 Other 5,082 4,459

Total 12,566 11,784

Intangible and fixed assets by country:

2015 2014

2015 2014

 Denmark 1,325 1,348

 Malaysia 658 750

 Norway 391 432

 Chile 536 478

 Czech Republic 291 212

 France 186 200

 Other 565 390

Total 3,952 3,810
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2 R E V E N U E    
 2015 2014

  
Sale of goods 12,558.0 11,775.9
Sale of services 0.2 0.2
Rental income 7.5 8.0
Total revenue  12,565.7 11,784.1

 
 
Revenue by subsidiary 

 
 
 
 
 

3 C O S T S   
 2015 2014

Cost of sales  
Cost of goods sold -9,216.6 -8,761.0
Inventory impairments -10.3 -11.1
Reversed inventory impairments 7.3 7.1

  
Staff costs  
Remuneration to the Board of Directors of Schouw & Co. -3.4 -3.1
Wages and salaries -771.8 -696.0
Defined contribution pension plans -51.6 -41.4
Other social security costs -65.3 -52.0
Share-based payment -7.2 -4.9
Total staff costs -899.3 -797.4

  
Including staff costs capitalised and recognised in plant, machinery and de-
velopment projects 4.0 2.0
Staff costs recognised in the income statement -895.3 -795.4

  
Staff costs are recognised as follows:  
Production -509.1 -457.5
Distribution -200.8 -182.5
Administration -185.4 -155.4
Staff costs recognised in the income statement -895.3 -795.4

  
Average number of employees 2,382 2,139
 
Determination of remuneration to the Board of Directors and the Executive Management 
Aktieselskabet Schouw & Co. has prepared a remuneration policy describing guidelines for the remu-
neration to members of the company’s Board of Directors and Executive Management. The remuner-
ation to board members consists of a fixed base fee, which in 2015 amounted to DKK 250,000. The 
base fee for 2016 is unchanged at DKK 250,000. The remuneration policy is available on the compa-
ny's website. Remuneration to the Board of Directors includes a fee to the audit committee of DKK 
0.4 million (2014: DKK 0.4 million).  
 
Staff costs include salaries and bonuses of DKK 10.7 million (2014: DKK 9.8 million), pension contri-
butions of DKK 0.3 million (2014: DKK 0.3 million) and share-based payment of DKK 1.8 million 
(2014: DKK 1.4 million) to members of the Executive Management. In addition, members of the Exec-
utive Management have company cars at their disposal. Members of the Management Board do not 
have any unusual employment or contractual terms. 
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3 C O S T S  ( C O N T I N U E D )   

 
Staff costs include salaries and bonuses of DKK 14.1 million (2014: DKK 13.8 million), pension con-
tributions of DKK 0.8 million (2014: DKK 0.8 million) and share-based payment of DKK 2.8 million 
(2014: DKK 2.1 million) to the registered executive managements of directly owned subsidiaries. No 
severance payments were made to senior employees in 2015 or 2014.  
 
Share-based payment: Share option programme 
The company maintains an incentive programme for the Management and senior managers, including 
the executive management of subsidiaries. The programme entitles participants to acquire shares in 
Schouw & Co. at a price based on the officially quoted price at around the time of grant plus a calcu-
lated rate of interest (4% p.a.) from the date of grant until the date of exercise.  
 

 
Outstanding options Management Other Total
Granted in 2012 40,000 40,000 80,000
Granted in 2013 55,000 156,000 211,000
Granted in 2014 55,000 160,000 215,000
Outstanding options in total at 31 December 2014 150,000 356,000 506,000
Granted in 2015 55,000 172,000 227,000
Exercised (from the share options granted in 2012) 0 -40,000 -40,000
Exercised (from the share options granted in 2013) -15,000 -112,000 -127,000
Exercised (from the share options granted in 2014) 0 -10,000 -10,000
Outstanding options in total at 31 December 2015 190,000 366,000 556,000
 

 

Options exercised in 2015:  

Exercised 
from 2012 

grant

Exercised 
from 2013 

grant

Exercised
from 2014

grant
Exercised number of shares  40,000 127,000 10,000
Average excercise price in DKK  146.62 194.55 265.26
Average share price in DKK on exercise  328.50 326.80 325.50
Group's cash proceeds in DKK million  5.9 24.7 2.7
 
 
The expected volatility is calculated as 12 months' historical volatility based on average prices. If the 
optionholders have not exercised their share options within the period specified, the share options 
will lapse without any compensation to the holders. Exercise of the share options is subject to the 
holders being in continuing employment during the above-mentioned periods. If the share option 
holder leaves the company’s employ before a share option vests, the holder may in some cases have 
a right to exercise the share options early during a four-week period following Schouw & Co.’s next 
following profit announcement. In the event of early exercise, the number of share options will be 
reduced proportionately. 
 

The following assumptions were applied in calculating the fair value of outstanding share options at 
the date of grant: 
  
Presumptions for the fair value: 2015 grant 2014 grant 2013 grant 2012 grant
Expected volatility 27.62% 26.12% 25.36% 34.48%
Expected term 48 mths 48 mths 48 mths 48 mths
Expected dividend per share DKK 6 DKK 5 DKK 4 DKK 3
Risk-free interest rate 0.00% 0.65% 0.62% 1.04%

 
Other information regarding the options:  
Strike price in DKK * 379.50 297.50 211.63 155.83
Fair value in DKK per option ** 40.99 30.87 20.19 24.24
Fair value in total in DKK millions ** 9.3 6.9 4.4 5.8
Can be exercised from March 2017 March 2016 March 2015 March 2014
Can be exercised to March 2019 March 2018 March 2017 March 2016
*) On exercise after four years (at the latest possible date) 
**) At the date of grant  
 
 2015 2014

Research and development costs  
Research and development costs expensed and development costs incurred are 
shown below:  
Research and development costs incurred -72.3 -69.1
Amortisation and impairment losses on recognised development costs 0.0 -7.8
Research and development costs for the year recognised in the income statement -72.3 -76.9

 
Depreciation/amortisation and impairment  
Amortisation of intangible assets -19.8 -16.3
Impairment of intangible assets -2.9 -4.7
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment -360.3 -340.2
Impairment of property, plant and equipment 0.0 -1.5
Total depreciation/amortisation and impairment -383.0 -362.7

 
Depreciation/amortisation and impairment is recognised in the income state-
ment as follows:  
Production -339.0 -320.0
Distribution -15.0 -10.6
Administration -29.0 -32.1
Total depreciation/amortisation and impairment -383.0 -362.7
 
 
 

Notes · Profit, working capital and cash flows 



 

All amounts in DKK million  Annual  Report 2015  Schouw & Co.  52 

 

4 O T H E R  O P E R A T I N G  I N C O M E  A N D  E X P E N S E S  

 

 2015 2014

  
Gains on the disposal of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 4.7 1.3 
Government grants 10.7 8.8 
Other operating income 8.5 3.2 
Total other operating income 23.9 13.3 

  
Losses on the disposal of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 0.0 -0.8 
Other operating expenses 0.0 -0.2 
Total other operating expenses 0.0 -1.0 
 
Fibertex Personal Care recognised a DKK 9.8 million investment grant received in Malaysia as in-
come in 2015 (2014: DKK 8.8 million). The grant is primarily subject to Fibertex Personal Care Malay-
sia continuing to generate a taxable profit over the coming years, which is considered very likely. 
 
 
 
 
 

5 I N V E N T O R I E S  

 

 2015 2014

   
Raw materials and consumables 820.9 879.2
Work in progress 8.9 1.2
Finished goods and goods for resale 562.0 515.7
Biological assets (fish) 43.3 51.4
Inventories in total 1,435.1 1,447.5

  
Cost of inventories for which impairment losses have been recognised 72.1 76.9
Accumulated impairment losses on inventories -52.4 -49.3
Net sales value 19.7 27.6
 
BioMar has realised collateral on receivables, primarily resulting in the takeover of fish stocks at 31 
December 2014. At 31 December 2015, the group’s biological assets consisted exclusively of fish 
used for fish feed experiments and mainly in association with the group’s associate LetSea (formerly 
Helgeland Havbruksstasjon) in Norway. 
 
Inventories written down by portfolio company (stated at cost): 
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6 R E C E I V A B L E S  -  C U R R E N T   
 2015 2014

  
Trade receivables 2,557.5 2,423.5 
Receivables from associates 9.9 13.8 
Other current receivables 179.3 148.6 
Accruals and deferred income 6.0 6.2 
Receivables current 2,752.7 2,592.1 
 
Trade receivables by portfolio company: 

 
  
 

  Due between (days)  
2015 Not due 1-30 31-90 >91 Total
Trade receivables not considered to be impaired 2,012.7 226.9 129.3 37.4 2,406.3
Trade receivables individually assessed to be im-
paired 8.1 45.6 67.0 237.3 358.0
Trade receivables in total 2,020.8 272.5 196.3 274.7 2,764.3
Impairment losses on trade receivables -0.4 -1.5 -6.9 -198.0 -206.8
Trade receivables net  2,020.4 271.0 189.4 76.7 2,557.5

  
Proportion of the total receivables which is expected 
to be settled   92.5%
Impairment percentage 0.0% 0.6% 3.5% 72.1% 7.5%
  

 
  Due between (days)  
2014 Not due 1-30 31-90 >91 Total 
Trade receivables not considered to be impaired 1,888.6 240.5 70.9 19.6 2,219.6 
Trade receivables individually assessed to be im-
paired 66.6 20.9 20.3 278.0 385.8 
Trade receivables in total 1,955.2 261.4 91.2 297.6 2,605.4 
Impairment losses on trade receivables -1.4 -0.7 -1.5 -178.3 -181.9 
Trade receivables net  1,953.8 260.7 89.7 119.3 2,423.5 

   
Proportion of the total receivables which is expected 
to be settled  93.0% 
Impairment percentage 0.1% 0.3% 1.6% 59.9% 7.0% 
 

 2015 2014

Impairment losses on trade receivables  
Impairment losses at 1 January -181.9 -202.8
Exchange adjustments -0.2 -2.9
Reversed impairment losses 8.6 57.3
Impairment losses for the year -43.2 -57.8
Realised loss 9.9 24.3
Impairment losses at 31 December -206.8 -181.9

  
Collateral breakdowns as shown below:  
Collateral on receivables not due for payment. 54.0 166.7
Collateral on receivables due for payment which have not been individually 
impaired. 169.1 21.4
Collateral on receivables due for payment which have been individually im-
paired. 67.5 62.5
 
A total of 13.0% (2014: 14.8%) of receivables at the balance sheet date were impaired to a greater or 
lesser extent. There is a continual follow-up on overdue debtors. Net provisions for bad debts of DKK 
34.6 million were recognised in 2015, compared with DKK 0.5 million last year. A major provision 
was reversed in 2014.  
 
BioMar has taken out credit insurance for DKK 1,095 million for its trade receivables. In addition, 
customers have provided collateral in the amount of DKK 290.6 million (2014: DKK 250.6 million). 
Most of the DKK 290.6 million collateral provided relates to BioMar. The collateral provided consists 
mainly of assets such as fish stocks and fish farming equipment. 
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7 C H A N G E S  I N  W O R K I N G  C A P I T A L  

 
 2015 2014

  
Change in inventories 56.6 -280.3
Change in receivables -164.1 -10.7
Change in trade payables and other payables 305.6 -5.6
Changes in working capital in total 198.1 -296.6

 
 
 

8 T R A D E  P A Y A B L E S  A N D  O T H E R  P A Y A B L E S  

 
 2015 2014

  
Trade payables 2,152.0 1,867.4
Customer prepayments 0.4 3.8
Other payables 404.2 353.1
Accruals and deferred income 0.5 0.7
Current liabilities 10.0 13.6
Trade payables and other payables in total 2,567.1 2,238.6

 
Trade payables and other payables largely all fall due within one year. 

9 A D J U S T M E N T  F O R  N O N - C A S H  T R A N S A C T I O N S  

 
 2015 2014

   
Purchase of intangible assets -61.9 -12.9
Of which not paid at the balance sheet date/adjustment for the year 0.0 0.0
Amount paid in relation to intangible assets -61.9 -12.9

  
Purchase of property, plant and equipment -355.4 -262.6
Of which not paid at the balance sheet date/adjustment for the year 1.0 30.1
Of which assets held under finance leases 0.0 0.0
Amount paid in relation to purchase of property, plant and equipment -354.4 -232.5

  
Incurring financial liabilities 70.2 63.8
Of which lease debt 0.0 0.0
Proceeds from incurring financial liabilities 70.2 63.8
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This section of the annual report contains notes relating to the 
Group's invested capital. 
 
The following notes are presented in this section:  
 
10. Intangible assets 
11. Property, plant and equipment 
12. Receivables (non-current) 
13. Investments in subsidiaries, joint arrangements and ass. 
14. Operational leases and rent commitments 
15. Acquisitions 
16. Impairment test 
 

Comments  
 

Invested capital 
Invested capital expresses both property, plant and equipment 
and intangible assets and working capital and can be stated both 
inclusive and exclusive of goodwill. Invested capital exclusive of 
goodwill fell from DKK 4,528 million to DKK 4,464 million at 31 
December 2015. The distribution of invested capital by portfolio 
company appears from the chart below. Although negligible at 
group level, the change in invested capital consisted of several 
opposing factors, including a DKK 239 million reduction in BioMar 
that was mainly due to a reduction of working capital. Fibertex 
Personal Care had a reduction of DKK 114 million, which was 
mainly due to the foreign exchange adjustment of its assets in 
Malaysia, whereas Fibertex Nonwovens’ invested capital in-
creased by DKK 288 million in 2015, most of it being due to the 
acquisition of the associate in South Africa and the acquisition of 
the activities in Turkey.       
 

ROIC 
Return on invested capital (ROIC) is measured as Operating 
profit/loss after amortisation (EBITA) as a percentage of average 
invested capital. ROIC exclusive of goodwill improved from 
16.9% in 2014 to 18.3% in 2015. The improvement is the result of 
earnings growth of about 17% combined with only about an 8% 
increase in the average invested capital. ROIC inclusive of good-
will based on invested capital inclusive of goodwill is shown in 
the five-year financial highlights on page 5. 
 

  
 
Shown in the bar charts are consolidated figures adjusted for the 
divestments of Martin and Grene. 
 

Invested capital by portfolio company 
 

 
 
Accounting policies 
 

Intangible assets 
On initial recognition goodwill is recognised in the balance sheet 
at cost of acquisition. Subsequently, goodwill is measured at cost 
less accumulated impairment. Goodwill is not amortised. The car-
rying amount of goodwill is allocated to the Group’s cash-gener-
ating units at the date of acquisition. The identification of cash-
generating units follows the management structure and internal 
financial control.  
 
Development costs comprise salaries, amortisation and deprecia-
tion and other costs attributable to the company's development 
activities. Clearly defined development projects are recognised as 
intangible assets where the technical feasibility of the project, the 
availability of adequate resources and a potential future market 
or application opportunity in the company can be demonstrated 
and where the intention is to manufacture, market or use the pro-
ject if the cost can be measured reliably and it is probable that 
the future earnings or the net selling prices can cover production 
and selling expenses, administrative expenses as well as the de-
velopment costs. Development projects normally consist of prod-
uct development and the proprietary development of IT solu-
tions. Other development costs are recognised in the income 
statement as incurred. Recognised development costs are meas-
ured at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment. On 
completion of the development work, the development project is 
amortised on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life. 
The usual amortisation period is two to seven years. The basis of 
amortisation is calculated less any impairment.  
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Other intangible assets including patents, licenses and rights as 
well as certain intangible assets acquired in connection with busi-
ness combinations and acquired IT solutions are measured at 
cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment. Other intan-
gible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over their esti-
mated useful lives. The usual amortisation period is three to fif-
teen years. The basis of amortisation is calculated less any im-
pairment. 
 

Property, plant and equipment 
Land and buildings, investment property, plant and machinery, 
fixtures and fittings, tools and equipment are measured at cost 
less accumulated depreciation and impairment. 
 
Cost comprises the purchase price and any costs directly at-
tributable to the acquisition until the date when the asset is ready 
for use. For assets produced in-house, cost comprises direct and 
indirect costs of materials, components, third-party suppliers and 
labour. Cost is increased by the present value of estimated liabili-
ties for the removal and disposal of the asset and restoration of 
the site on which the asset was used. The cost of a total asset is 
divided into separate components that are depreciated separately 
if such components have different useful lives. 
 
Interest expense of constructing a new asset and incurred during 
the construction period is recognised in the cost of the asset. 
 
The cost of assets held under finance leases is determined as the 
lower of the fair value of the assets and the present value of fu-
ture minimum lease payments. The present value is calculated 
using the interest rate implicit in the lease as the discount factor, 
or an approximate value. 
 
Subsequent costs, such as the cost of replacing components of 
property, plant and equipment, are included in the asset’s carry-
ing amount. The replaced components are no longer recognised 
in the balance sheet, and the carrying amount is transferred to 
the income statement. All other ordinary repair and maintenance 
costs are recognised in the income statement when incurred. 
 
Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line 
basis over the expected useful lives of the assets/components, 
which are expected to be as follows: 
 
Buildings 10-50 years 

Plant and machinery 3-15 years 
Other fixtures and fittings, tools and equip-
ment 2-8 years 
Land is not depreciated  
 
The basis of depreciation is calculated with due consideration to 
the asset’s scrap value, reduced by any impairment losses. The 
residual value is determined at the acquisition date and reas-
sessed annually. Where the residual value exceeds the carrying 
amount, the property ceases to be depreciated. 
 
If the depreciation period or the scrap value is changed, the ef-
fect on depreciation going forward is recognised as a change in 
accounting estimates. 
 
Depreciation is recognised in the income statement as production 
costs, distribution costs or administrative expenses. 
 

Investments in joint ventures and associates  
Joint ventures and associates are recognised in the consolidated 
income statement at the proportionate share of the profit or loss 
after tax and non-controlling interests and after elimination of the 
proportionate share of intra-group gains or losses after impair-
ment of goodwill. 
 
Investments in joint ventures and associates are measured in the 
balance sheet at the proportionate share of the companies’ net 
asset value calculated in accordance with the Group’s accounting 
policies with the deduction or addition of the proportionate share 
of unrealised intra-group gains and losses and with the addition 
of the carrying amount of goodwill. 
 
Associates with a negative equity value are recognised at zero. 
 
Receivables from associates are written down to the extent they 
are deemed to be irrecoverable. 
 

Leases 
For accounting purposes, leases are divided into finance and op-
erating leases. Leases are classified as finance leases when sub-
stantially all risks and rewards of ownership of the leased asset 
are transferred. Other leases are classified as operating leases. 
The accounting treatment of assets held under a finance lease 
and the related liability is described in the sections on property, 
plant and equipment and financial liabilities, respectively. Obliga-
tions under operating leases are determined at the balance sheet 

date as the present value of future cash flows for which the dis-
count effect is material, typically for leases running for more than 
five years from inception. Operating lease payments are recog-
nised in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the 
lease term. 
 

Business combinations. 
Newly acquired or newly established companies are recognised 
in the consolidated financial statements from the date of acquisi-
tion. Comparative figures are not adjusted to reflect acquisitions.  
 
The purchase method is applied on acquisitions if the parent com-
pany gains control of the company acquired. Assets, liabilities 
and contingent liabilities in companies acquired are measured at 
their fair value at the date of acquisition. Intangible assets are 
recognised if they can be separated or if they arise from a con-
tractual right and the fair value can be reliably measured. De-
ferred tax on revaluations made is recognised. 
 
Any excess of the consideration paid for the business over the fair 
value of the acquired assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities is 
recognised as goodwill under intangible assets. In the event of 
uncertainty regarding measurement, goodwill may be adjusted 
until 12 months after the acquisition. Goodwill is not amortised, 
but is tested for impairment annually. The first impairment test is 
performed before the end of the year of acquisition. On acquisi-
tion, goodwill is transferred to the cash-generating units that will 
subsequently form the basis for future impairment tests. 
 
On initial recognition, non-controlling interests are either recog-
nised at their fair value or at their pro-rate share of the fair value 
of the acquired company's identifiable assets, liabilities and con-
tingent liabilities. Accordingly, for the former option, goodwill is 
recognised relating to non-controlling interests of the acquired 
business, while for the latter option, goodwill relating to non-con-
trolling interests is not recognised. The measurement of non-con-
trolling interests is determined on a case-by-case basis and dis-
closed in the presentation of acquired businesses in the notes to 
the financial statements. 
 

Profit/loss from divestment of equity investments 
in the consolidated financial statements 
Companies divested or wound up are consolidated in the income 
statement until the date they are divested or wound up. Compara-
tive figures are not adjusted to reflect acquisitions or divest-
ments. Discontinued operations are presented as a separate item. 
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Any gains or losses on the disposal of subsidiaries, associates or 
joint ventures are stated as the difference between the sales sum 
or the proceeds from the winding-up and the carrying amount of 
net assets, including goodwill, at the date of disposal and ex-
penses for selling or winding-up. On the disposal of subsidiaries, 
adjustments accumulated in equity through other comprehensive 
income and which are attributable to the unit are reclassified to 
the income statement and recognised together with any gains or 
losses from the disposal. 
 
On the divestment of a company, the profit/loss is recognised un-
der profit/loss from the divestment of equity investments if the 
company sold does not represent an independent reporting seg-
ment or if its revenue, profit/loss or assets represent less than 
10% of consolidated revenue, consolidated profit/loss or consoli-
dated assets. 
 
Profit from the sale of other companies is recognised in profit 
from discontinued operations. 
 

Non-current asset impairment test 
Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are 
tested annually for impairment, initially before the end of the year 
of acquisition. Development projects in progress are also tested 
for impairment annually.  
 
The carrying amount of goodwill is tested for impairment to-
gether with the other non-current assets of the cash-generating 
unit to which goodwill has been allocated and is written down 
over the income statement to the lower of the recoverable 
amount and the carrying amount.  
 
The recoverable amount is generally calculated as the present 
value of the future net cash flows expected to be derived from the 
business or activity (cash-generating unit) to which the goodwill 
relates.  
 
A write-down is recognised when the carrying amount of an asset 
or a cash-generating unit exceeds the recoverable amount of the 
asset or the cash-generating unit. Write-downs are recognised in 
the income statement as production costs, distribution costs or 
administrative expenses. However, goodwill write-downs are rec-
ognised as a separate item in the income statement. Impairment 
write-downs of goodwill are not reversed. Impairment of other 

assets is reversed to the extent changes have occurred to the as-
sumptions and estimates leading to the impairment. Impairment 
is only reversed to the extent the new carrying amount of an as-
set does not exceed the carrying amount the asset would have 
had net of depreciation, had the asset not been impaired. 
 
The carrying amounts of other non-current assets are tested an-
nually to determine whether there is any indication of impair-
ment. If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount of the 
asset is calculated.  The recoverable amount is the higher of the 
fair value of the asset less expected costs to sell and the value in 
use. 
 

Significant accounting estimates 
 

Impairment test 
The estimated useful lives of intangible assets and property, 
plant and equipment which are depreciated are reviewed regu-
larly. Goodwill is tested annually for impairment, and other intan-
gible assets are tested if there is evidence of impairment. 
 
An assessment is made as to whether the cash-generating unit to 
which the asset relates will be able to generate sufficient cash 
flows in future to support the carrying amount of the asset.  
 
Assessments are made of the estimated cash flows for the next 
many years and of the long-term growth rate and a reasonable 
discount rate reflecting the risk inherent to the asset or cash-
generating unit, all of which is inherently subject to uncertainty.  
 

Acquisitions 
Acquisitions are accounted for using the purchase method, ac-
cording to which the acquired enterprise’s identifiable assets, lia-
bilities and contingent liabilities are recognised in the balance 
sheet at fair value. The principal assets are generally goodwill, 
property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and inventories 
and any tax thereon. As there is generally no efficient market for 
the individual assets, the valuation of the respective assets are 
generally based on significant accounting estimates.  
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10 I N T A N G I B L E  A S S E T S  

 
 

2015 Goodwill 

Completed 
development 

projects

Development 
projects in 

progress

Other intan-
gible 

assets Total

Cost at 1 January 2015 970.5 18.2 23.1 150.3 1,162.1
Foreign exchange adjustment 34.0 0.0 0.0 9.5 43.5
Addition through separate acquisition 0.0 0.0 0.0 61.8 61.8
Addition on company acquisition 1.6 0.0 0.0 1.4 3.0
Transferred/reclassified 0.0 -18.2 -23.1 41.4 0.1
Cost at 31 December 2015 1,006.1 0.0 0.0 264.4 1,270.5
Amortisation and impairment at 1 January 2015 0.0 -6.1 -4.7 -56.4 -67.2
Foreign exchange adjustment 0.0 -0.1 0.0 -4.5 -4.6
Transferred/reclassified 0.0 6.2 4.7 -10.9 0.0
Impairment 0.0 0.0 0.0 -2.9 -2.9
Amortisation 0.0 0.0 0.0 -19.8 -19.8
Amortisation and impairment at 31 December 2015 0.0 0.0 0.0 -94.5 -94.5
Carrying amount at 31 December 2015 1,006.1 0.0 0.0 169.9 1,176.0

  
Depreciated over (years)   2-7  3-15  

 

2014 Goodwill 

Completed 
development 

projects

Development 
projects in 

progress

Other intan-
gible 

assets Total

Cost at 1 January 2014 876.0 45.0 0.1 89.0 1,010.1
Foreign exchange adjustment 30.7 0.0 0.0 6.2 36.9
Addition on internally generated assets 0.0 0.0 0.0 11.1 11.1
Addition through separate acquisition 0.0 1.8 0.0 0.0 1.8
Addition on company acquisition 63.8 0.0 0.0 43.9 107.7
Disposals 0.0 -28.6 0.0 0.0 -28.6
Transferred/reclassified 0.0 0.0 23.0 0.1 23.1
Cost at 31 December 2014 970.5 18.2 23.1 150.3 1,162.1
Amortisation and impairment at 1 January 2014 0.0 -26.9 0.0 -43.5 -70.4
Foreign exchange adjustment 0.0 0.0 0.0 -4.4 -4.4
Impairment 0.0 0.0 -4.7 0.0 -4.7
Amortisation 0.0 -7.8 0.0 -8.5 -16.3
Amortisation and impairment of disposed assets 0.0 28.6 0.0 0.0 28.6
Amortisation and impairment at 31 December 2014 0.0 -6.1 -4.7 -56.4 -67.2
Carrying amount at 31 December 2014 970.5 12.1 18.4 93.9 1,094.9

  
Depreciated over (years)   2-7  3-15  
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11 P R O P E R T Y ,  P L A N T  A N D  E Q U I P M E N T   

2015 
Land and 
buildings

Plant and 
machinery

Other fix-
tures, tools 
and equip-

ment

Assets un-
der con-

struction Total

Cost at 1 January 2015 1,839.7 3,316.7 260.2 131.0 5,547.6
Foreign exchange adjustment -22.7 -62.1 -0.2 -1.3 -86.3
Addition 15.9 62.5 17.0 260.0 355.4
Addition on company acquisitions 64.6 80.5 1.0 0.0 146.1
Disposals -10.5 -3.9 -4.8 -0.3 -19.5
Transferred/reclassified 14.0 52.2 9.6 -91.1 -15.3
Cost at 31 December 2015 1,901.0 3,445.9 282.8 298.3 5,928.0
Amortisation and impairment at 1 January 2015 -577.2 -2,064.8 -190.6 0.0 -2,832.6
Foreign exchange adjustment 1.3 26.9 4.2 0.0 32.4
Transferred/reclassified 0.0 0.3 -0.1 0.0 0.2
Depreciation and impairment of disposed assets 0.0 5.1 3.4 0.0 8.5
Amortisation -64.9 -261.1 -34.3 0.0 -360.3
Amortisation and impairment at 31 December 2015 -640.8 -2,293.6 -217.4 0.0 -3,151.8
Carrying amount at 31 December 2015 1,260.2 1,152.3 65.4 298.3 2,776.2

 
Of which assets held under finance lease 9.5 26.8 1.6 0.0 37.9

 
Depreciated over (years) 10-50 3-15 2-8    

2014 
Land and 
buildings

Plant and 
machinery

Other fix-
tures, tools 
and equip-

ment

Assets un-
der con-

struction Total

Cost at 1 January 2014 1,712.6 3,112.9 260.7 77.0 5,163.2
Foreign exchange adjustment 7.1 42.0 -0.2 -0.6 48.3
Addition 86.5 56.2 13.8 106.1 262.6
Addition on company acquisitions 43.9 76.5 2.3 28.7 151.4
Disposals -25.6 -5.9 -27.3 -0.6 -59.4
Transferred/reclassified 15.2 35.0 10.9 -79.6 -18.5
Cost at 31 December 2014 1,839.7 3,316.7 260.2 131.0 5,547.6
Amortisation and impairment at 1 January 2014 -544.0 -1,809.7 -180.8 0.0 -2,534.5
Foreign exchange adjustment 6.7 -10.2 1.3 0.0 -2.2
Transferred/reclassified 1.8 -2.6 -3.9 0.0 -4.7
Amortisation and impairment of disposed assets 18.9 5.0 26.6 0.0 50.5
Impairment 0.0 0.0 -1.5 0.0 -1.5
Amortisation -60.6 -247.3 -32.3 0.0 -340.2
Amortisation and impairment at 31 December 2014 -577.2 -2,064.8 -190.6 0.0 -2,832.6
Carrying amount at 31 December 2014 1,262.5 1,251.9 69.6 131.0 2,715.0

 
Of which assets held under finance lease 9.8 33.8 0.0 0.0 43.6

 
Depreciated over (years) 10-50 3-15 2-8   

 
By the end of 2015, the Group had entered into contracts for the purchase of property, plant and 
equipment for future delivery for an amount of DKK 345.0 million (2014: DKK 66.0 million). These are 
mainly contracts involving the setting up of a new production line at BioMar Norway, a printing line at 
Fibertex Personal Care in Malaysia and an upgrade of a production line at Fibertex Personal Care in 
Aalborg, Denmark. 
 
Properties with evidence of impairment have been tested for impairment. No properties were written 
down to their recoverable amount during the financial year (2014: DKK 0.0 million). 
 
 

12 R E C E I V A B L E S  -  N O N - C U R R E N T  

 

 2015 2014 

   
Investment grant 82.0 127.6
Other receivables non-current 95.7 16.5
Total receivables non-current 177.7 144.1
 
All investment grants received related to the Group's activities in Malaysia (Fibertex Personal Care). 
The amount is expected to be received as a positive taxable income is achieved. Of the lower amount 
of investment grants, DKK 11.5 million was due to a lower DKK/MYR exchange rate. 
 
Other non-current assets include interest-bearing receivables of DKK 63.9 million (2014: DKK 16.5 
million).  
  

Notes · invested capital 



 

All amounts in DKK million  Annual  Report 2015  Schouw & Co.  60 

 

13 I N V E S T M E N T S  I N  S U B S I D I A R I E S ,  J O I N T  A R R A N G E M E N T S  A N D  
A S S O C I A T E S  
 
The Group has the following subsidiaries and joint operations: 
 

Name Registered office 

Ownership
interest -

2015

Ownership
interest -

2014
Schouw & Co. Finans A/S Aarhus, Denmark 100% 100%
Niels Bohrs Vej A/S Aarhus, Denmark 100% 100%
Saltebakken 29 ApS Aarhus, Denmark 100% 100%
Alba Ejendomme A/S Aarhus, Denmark 100% 100%
BioMar Group A/S Aarhus, Denmark 100% 100%
BioMar A/S Aarhus, Denmark 100% 100%
Oy BioMar Ab Vanda, Finland 100% 100%
BioMar AB Rimbo, Sweden 100% 100%
BioMar OOO Ropsha, Russia 100% 100%
Dana Feed A/S  Horsens, Denmark 100% 100%
BioMar Sp. z o.o.  Koszalin, Poland 100% 100%
BioMar S.A.S. Nersac, France 100% 100%
BioMar B.V. Amsterdam, The Netherlands 100% 100%
BioMar Iberia S.A. Dueñas, Spain 100% 100%
BioMar Hellenic S.A.  Volos, Greece 100% 100%
BioMar AS  Myre, Norway 100% 100%
BioMar Ltd. Grangemouth, Scotland 100% 100%
BioMar A/S Chile Holding S.A.  Puerto Montt, Chile 100% 100%
BioMar Chile SA  Puerto Montt, Chile 100% 100%
BioMar Aquacultura Corporation S.A. Canas, Costa Rica 100% 100%
BioMar Aquacorporation Products S.A. * Canas, Costa Rica 50% 50%
Alitec Pargua S.A. * Pargua, Chile 50% 50%
Fibertex Personal Care A/S  Aalborg, Denmark 100% 100%
Fibertex Personal Care Sdn Bhd Nilai, Malaysia 100% 100%
Innowo Print AG Ilsenburg, Germany 100% 100%
Fibertex Nonwovens A/S  Aalborg, Denmark 100% 100%
Fibertex, a.s.  Svitavy, Czech Republic 100% 100%
Fibertex France S.A.R.L.  Beauchamp, France 100% 100%
Elephant Nonwovens - Nao Tecidos U.P., Lda. Estoril, Portugal 100% 100%
Fibertex Elephant Espana. S.L.  Sant Cugat del Vallés, Spain 100% 100%
Fibertex Nonwovens S.A.  Chemillé, France 100% 100%
Fibertex Nonwovens LLC Ingleside IL, USA 100% 100%
Fibertex South Africa Ltd. Durban, South Africa 74% 26%
Fibertex Nonwovens Tekstil Sanayi ve Ihracat A.Ş.  Cerkezkoy, Turkey 100% -
Hydra-Grene A/S  Skjern, Denmark 100% 100%
Hydra Grene Hydraulics Equipment Accessory Co., Ltd.  Tianjin, China 100% 100%
Hydra Grene Hydraulics India Private Limited  Chennai, India 100% 100%
Hydra-Grene USA Inc.  Chicago, USA 100% 100%
Dansk Afgratningsteknik A/S Skjern, Denmark 60% 60%
 

The ownership interest in Fibertex South Africa Ltd. changed in 2015. In 2014, the company was rec-
ognised as an associate, the ownership interest being 26%. Effective from 1 March 2015, Fibertex 
Nonwovens added an additional 48% of the shares to its ownership interest in Fibertex South Africa 
Ltd. and thus currently owns 74% of the company. 
 
On 2 November, Fibertex Nonwovens acquired Ribatek's nonwoven activities at Cerkezkoy in Turkey, 
setting up Fibertex Nonwovens Tekstil Sanayi ve Ihracat A.s. 
  
 
*Pro-rata consolidated companies are Alitec Pargua S.A. and BioMar Aquacorporation Products S.A. 
Both are 50%-owned. Both companies are a joint arrangement in which the Schouw & Co. Group  
(BioMar) shares control over the production apparatus of the jointly managed companies with an ex-
ternal business partner. According to IFRS 11, the arrangements are therefore classified as joint op-
erations and pro-rata consolidated. The companies are recognised at the following amounts: Current 
assets DKK 174.4 million (2014: DKK 127.9 million), non-current assets DKK 108.0 million (2014: 
DKK 98.1 million), current liabilities DKK 166.8 million (2014: DKK 210.3 million), non-current liabili-
ties DKK 25.0 million (2014: DKK 23.7 million), revenue DKK 220.7 million (2014: DKK 208.8 million) 
and expenses DKK 218.8 million (2014: DKK 207.1 million).   
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13 I N V E S T M E N T S  I N  S U B S I D I A R I E S ,  J O I N T  A R R A N G E M E N T S  A N D  
A S S O C I A T E S  -  C O N T I N U E D   
 
The Group has the following associates: 
 

Name Registered office 
Ownership in-
terest - 2015

Ownership in-
terest - 2014

Incuba Invest A/S Aarhus, Denmark 49% 49%
LetSea AS * Dønna, Norway 33% 33%
Kramp Groep B.V. Varsseveld, The Netherlands 20% 20%
 
* Helgeland Havbruksstasjon AS changed its name to LetSea AS in 2015. 
 
There was a net profit from investments in associates after tax of DKK 74.7 million against a profit of 
DKK 23.2 million in 2014. The share of profit in Kramp of DKK 70.6 million made up the bulk of the 
profit. It should be noted, however, that the recognised share of the profit in Kramp for 2014 was re-
duced by DKK 35.7 million in adjustments that were mainly the result of the purchase price alloca-
tion.  
 

2015 Incuba Invest A/S LetSea AS
Fibertex

South Africa Ltd. Kramp Groep B.V.

Revenue 0.0 122.0  - 5,126.4
Profit for the year 2.4 11.0  - 353.0
Total assets 91.7 67.3  - 2,925.9
Liabilities 20.5 40.9  - 1,795.6

 
Recognised in the Schouw & Co. Group:  
Share of profit for the year 1.2 3.6 -0.7 70.6
Share of equity 34.9 8.8  - 226.1
Goodwill 0.0 0.0  - 300.5
Carrying amount at 31 December 34.9 8.8  - 526.6

 
 

2014 Incuba Invest A/S LetSea AS
Fibertex

South Africa Ltd. Kramp Groep B.V.

Revenue 0.0  i.o. 84.0 4,905.5
Profit for the year -0.3 7.6 -8.6 290.3
Total assets 87.8 43.7 91.2 2,787.0
Liabilities 19.8 27.4 45.2 1,723.9

 
Recognised in the Schouw & Co. Group:  
Share of profit for the year -0.1 2.6 -1.7 22.4
Share of equity 33.4 5.4 10.5 212.6
Goodwill 0.0 0.0 0.0 299.8
Carrying amount at 31 December 33.4 5.4 10.5 512.4

 
Associates: 2015 2014 

  
Cost at 1 January 702.5 699.7
Reclassified 0.0 2.8
Disposals -38.3 0.0
Cost at 31 December 664.2 702.5

  
Adjustments at 1 January -140.8 -80.5
Foreign exchange adjustments -6.1 -7.5
Dividends paid by Kramp -49.2 -76.0
Disposals for the year 27.5 0.0
Profit after tax  in associates 74.7 23.2
Adjustments at 31 December -93.9 -140.8

  
Carrying amount at 31 December 570.3 561.7
 
Kramp Groep B.V. is the only associate of the Schouw & Co. Group considered to be of significant im-
portance to the Group.  
 
The following financial information is available about Kramp Groep B.V.:  
 2015 2014 

Comprehensive income  
Revenue 5,126.4 4,905.5
Profit for the year 353.0 290.3
Other comprehensive income -42.4 -33.9
Total comprehensive income 310.6 256.4

  
Balance sheet  
Non-current assets 1,044.3 1,000.5
Current assets 1,881.6 1,786.5
Non-current liabilities 1,418.9 63.6
Current liabilities 376.8 1,660.3
Equity 1,130.2 1,063.1

  
Received dividends in Schouw & Co. 49.2 76.0
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13 I N V E S T M E N T S  I N  S U B S I D I A R I E S ,  J O I N T  A R R A N G E M E N T S   A N D  
A S S O C I A T E S  -  C O N T I N U E D   
 
The Group has the following joint ventures: 
 

Name Registered office 
Ownership interest - 

2015 
Ownership interest -

2014
Xergi A/S Støvring, Denmark 50% 50%
BioMar-Sagun TTK Istanbul, Turkey 50% 50%
BioMar-Tongwei Chengdu, China 50% -
 
The Schouw & Co. Group does not have control of individual assets in the above joint ventures, but 
shares a controlling influence on the operation of the companies and has a right to a proportionate 
share of the companies' net assets. 
 

2015 Xergi
BioMar-

Sagun
BioMar-

Tongwei
Revenue 410.5 5.4 0.0
Profit for the year 18.5 4.6 0.0
Total assets 147.5 75.9 69.6
Liabilities 77.1 4.2 0.0

 
Recognised in the Schouw & Co. Group:  
Share of profit for the year 9.2 2.3 0.0
Share of equity 35.2 35.8 34.8
Goodwill 0.0 1.4 1.9
Carrying amount at 31 December 35.2 37.2 36.7

   

2014 Xergi
BioMar-

Sagun
BioMar-

Tongwei
Revenue 310.7 0.0  -
Profit for the year 10.8 -0.3  -
Total assets 219.0 74.6  -
Liabilities 169.5 0.1  -

 
Recognised in the Schouw & Co. Group:  
Share of profit for the year 5.4 -0.1  -
Share of equity 25.7 37.2  -
Goodwill 0.0 1.4  -
Carrying amount at 31 December 25.7 38.6  -
 

 
Joint ventures:  2015 2014

   
Cost at 1 January  98.6 60.0
Additions  36.7 38.6
Cost at 31 December   135.3 98.6

   
Adjustments at 1 January  -34.3 -39.7
Foreign exchange adjustments  -3.4 0.1
Profit after tax  in joint ventures  11.5 5.3
Adjustments at 31 December   -26.2 -34.3

   
Carrying amount at 31 December   109.1 64.3
 
In 2015, BioMar agreed to establish a joint venture with the Chinese company Tongwei. The agree-
ment involves building a joint aqua feed factory in China. 
 

14 O P E R A T I O N A L  L E A S E S  A N D  R E N T  C O M M I T M E N T S  

 
2015 Property Machinery Ships Cars Total
Due for payment within 1 year 21.1 6.5 57.8 5.2 90.6
Due for payment within 1-5 years 52.1 7.7 187.4 7.8 255.0
Due for payment after 5 years 53.6 0.0 94.8 0.0 148.4
Total operational leases and rent commitments  126.8 14.2 340.0 13.0 494.0

  
2014 Property Machinery Ships Cars Total
Due for payment within 1 year 17.7 4.8 61.1 3.8 87.4
Due for payment within 1-5 years 26.9 6.9 206.7 4.5 245.0
Due for payment after 5 years 58.5 0.0 136.8 0.0 195.3
Total operational leases and rent commitments  103.1 11.7 404.6 8.3 527.7
 
BioMar is a party to long-term time charter agreements including ship crews. Only services related 
to the right to use the vessels (bare boat) are shown in the table above. 
 
An amount of DKK 93.2 million (2014: DKK 89.1 million) relating to operating leases and rent com-
mitments has been recognised in the consolidated income statement for 2015. 
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15 A C Q U I S I T I O N S  

 

 2015 2014

 
Intangible assets 3.0 43.9
Property, plant and equipment 146.1 151.4
Inventories 29.5 13.2
Receivables 18.0 33.4
Cash and cash equivalents 0.5 13.5
Credit institutions -16.2 -113.7
Deferred tax 0.0 -15.4
Trade payables -17.1 -17.0
Other liabilities -17.2 -22.6
Net assets acquired 146.6 86.7
Of which non-controlling interests -10.7 0.0
Current value of original share of equity -10.7 -7.8
Goodwill 0.0 63.8
Cost 125.2 142.7
Of which cash and cash equivalents -0.5 -13.5
Cash cost total 124.7 129.2
 
Effective 1 March 2015, the Group acquired an additional 48.2% of the shares in Fibertex South Af-
rica for a cash consideration of DKK 19.5 million. The transaction brought the ownership interest to 
74.2%, and the Group gained control of the company. IFU (the lndustrialisation Fund for Developing 
Countries) continues to hold the remaining 25.8% of the shares in the company. The transaction pro-
vides an important platform for Fibertex Nonwovens and its continued development in Africa, and it 
coincides with a resolution to expand the company's output capacity by installing a second needlefelt 
line. At the same time, Fibertex South Africa acquired a fiberline and land and buildings where the 
company runs its business from the former shareholder. The acquisition of Fibertex South Africa in-
volved acquisition costs of DKK 0.4 million. 
 
On 2 November 2015, Fibertex Nonwovens took over Ribatek’s nonwoven activities in Turkey. 
The deal is structured as a purchase of assets, under which Fibertex Nonwovens acquired buildings, 
machinery, inventories and other assets for a total amount of about DKK 120 million through a 
newly-established Turkish company. The takeover included the employees related to the activities 
along with customers and other rights. The transaction gives Fibertex Nonwovens a production plat-
form within spunlacing technology, expands its production capacity and also improves the company’s 
access to the growing Turkish market. The acquisition of Ribatek's nonwoven activities in Turkey in-
volved acquisition costs of DKK 1.4 million. 
 
Revenue and profit for the year made up on a pro forma basis as if Fibertex South Africa and Fibertex 
Turkey had been acquired on 1 January 2015 would have been DKK 60 million higher (revenue) and 
DKK 2 million lower (net profit). 
 

The Group acquired Non Woven Solutions LLC (“NWS”), a manufacturer of nonwovens based in the 
USA. NWS was acquired at an enterprise value of USD 25 million. In December 2014, NWS was re-
named Fibertex Nonwovens LLC, and the company has been recognised in the Schouw & Co. Group 
consolidated financial statements effective from 24 October 2014. The acquisition of NWS involved 
acquisition costs of DKK 3.4 million. In connection with the purchase price allocation relating to the 
acquisition of NWS, goodwill was calculated at DKK 37.1 million. 
 
The Group acquired control of Innowo Print AG in 2014. For a number of years, Fibertex Personal 
Care had held a 15% ownership interest in Innowo Print, but on 30 October 2014, the company 
agreed with the other shareholders to acquire the remaining 85% of the shares, making Innowo Print 
a wholly owned subsidiary. Innowo Print was acquired at an enterprise value (100%) of DKK 100 
million. The acquisition of Innowo Print involved acquisition costs of DKK 0.7 million.  
 
In connection with the purchase price allocation relating to the acquisition of Innowo Print, goodwill 
was calculated at DKK 26.7 million. In connection with the acquisition of Innowo Print, the previous 
ownership interest (15%) was adjusted to fair value. Until the remaining 85% of the shares were ac-
quired, the ownership interest in Innowo Print was recognised under securities in the Schouw & Co. 
consolidated financial statements. The shares in Innowo Print were recognised at DKK 0.5 million, 
but following the transaction, the fair value of the non-controlling interest amounted to DKK 7.8 mil-
lion. The DKK 7.3 million value adjustment has been recognised under financial income. 
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15 A C Q U I S I T I O N S  ( C O N T I N U E D )  

 
Acquisitions made after the balance sheet date 
The Group acquired Specma AB, a hydraulics business based in Sweden, on 4 January 2016.   
 
Specma specialises in the production and sales of hydraulics systems and components for local and 
international OEM customers. Headquartered in Gothenburg, Sweden, Specma generated revenue of 
DKK 1.1 billion in 2015. The company employs 750 people, most of whom are based in Sweden but it 
also has a significant presence in Finland, the UK, China and Poland. Specma operates two independ-
ent business areas: a Global division that serves major international OEM customers and a Nordic di-
vision that serves a number of local OEM and aftermarket customers in Sweden and Finland. 
 
The transaction has made Hydra-Grene the largest player in specialist hydraulics technology in the 
Nordic region, and the company serves OEM customers as well as the wind power, marine and off-
shore sectors. 
 
Preliminary statement of acquired assets and liabilities at 1 January 2016: 

 

 

Recognised value 
at time of 

acquisition 

 
Intangible assets 177.7
Property, plant and equipment 80.1
Inventories 235.5
Receivables 204.0
Cash and cash equivalents 60.9
Credit institutions -138.2
Deferred tax -53.6
Provisions -4.3
Trade payables -93.4
Other liabilities -69.8
Net assets acquired 398.9
Goodwill 171.3
Cost 570.2
Of which cash and cash equivalents -60.9
Cash cost total 509.3
 

Specma is recognised in the Hydra-Grene group effective from 4 January 2016. 
 
In the preliminary purchase price allocation prepared on the acquisition of Specma, goodwill has 
been calculated at DKK 171.3 million. Goodwill represents the value of labour, new customers, syn-
ergies and deferred tax on those assets. 
 
The Specma acquisition involved acquisition costs of DKK 3.2 million, which amount has been recog-
nised under administrative expenses in the consolidated income statement for the 2015 financial 
year. 
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16 I M P A I R M E N T  T E S T   

 
Goodwill 
The management of Schouw & Co. has tested the value in use of the carrying amounts against good-
will in group companies. In the test performed, the senior management of each company indicated 
the expected free cash flows for a five-year budget period (2016-2020). The free cash flow after tax 
has been applied to a discounted cash flow model (the "value in use" principle) for the purpose of es-
timating each company’s value and goodwill, which amount was subsequently compared with the 
carrying amount recognised in the Schouw & Co. consolidated financial statements.  
 
Schouw & Co. recognised goodwill of DKK 1,006 million at 31 December 2015. This was an increase 
of DKK 36 million relative to 31 December 2014, which breaks down into foreign exchange adjust-
ments of DKK 30 million in BioMar and of DKK 6 million in Fibertex Nonwovens. 
 
The required rate of return is based on WACC consisting of a 10-year unit bond plus an industry/ 
geography-specific risk premium. The rate of growth used to extrapolate company cash flows was 
fixed at 2%, a rate not expected to exceed the long-term inflation rate. 
 
At 78%, the goodwill in BioMar makes up most of the consolidated goodwill. BioMar operates in an 
expanding industry that is driven by global population growth and rising standards of living. Accord-
ing to a United Nations population growth report, the global population is expected to grow by 1.2  
billion from 2015 to 2030 and by a further 1.2 billion by 2050. According to a 2012 report by Norwe-
gian research institute SINTEF, Scandinavia's largest independent research organisation, demand 
for salmon feed in Norway will grow at an average rate of 5.6% annually in the period 2010-2030. 
Due to rising demand, similar average growth rates are expected to apply in the rest of the world, al-
though actual growth rates will vary by species. Volume growth of 5.8% is assumed for BioMar in the 
budget period. The assumed production capacity for the budget period will cover the expected in-
crease in business activity, and no productivity enhancements or cost savings have been assumed for 
the period. BioMar's feed products are mainly based on marine and vegetable raw materials, for 
which price fluctuations can largely be passed on to selling prices. An EBIT margin of 4-6% may be 
achieved in a competitive market. Due to the correlation between prices of raw materials and selling 
prices, uncertainty mainly prevails at EBIT level, for which reason EBIT, which is the main earnings 
parameter in the industry, has been selected as sensitivity parameter. 
 
Sensitivity analyses and company-specific assumptions: 

 
 

The impairment test made at 31 December 2015 did not result in a write-down of carrying amounts. 
Sensitivity analysis were performed as part of the test to determine if reduced cash flows or a higher 
WACC would produce evidence of impairment. The sensitivity analysis showed that likely changes in 
basic assumptions would not result in a recoverable amount of less than the carrying amount of 
goodwill.   
 
Development projects 
Schouw & Co. had no recognised development projects at 31 December 2015. An impairment test 
was performed in 2014 on the carrying amount of completed development projects and on develop-
ment projects in progress. The impairment test resulted in write-downs of DKK 4.7 million charged to 
the income statement.  
 
Other intangible assets 
Schouw & Co. recognised other intangible assets of DKK 169.9 million at 31 December 2015. The 
amount related primarily to customer rights and know-how taken over in company acquisitions and 
identified through purchase price allocation, and to IT solutions developed mainly with the assis-
tance of external consultants. In 2015, management recognised a minor impairment loss of DKK 2.9 
million related to IT projects. No impairment losses were recognised in 2014. 
 
Property, plant and equipment 
The Group did not identify any assets with indication of impairment in 2015, and therefore did not 
write down property, plant and equipment in 2015. Write-downs in 2014 amounted to DKK 1.5 mil-
lion.  
 
Investments in joint ventures and associates 
In 2014 and 2015, management did not identify factors indicating that investments in joint ventures 
and associates may be impaired. 
 
Other non-current assets 
Other non-current assets consist primarily of a 13.6% shareholding in Salmones Austral SpA. In the 
autumn of 2015, due to an unsatisfactory earnings performance, management reviewed the valua-
tion of Salmones Austral. The review resulted in a DKK 43 million write-down, which amount was 
recognised as a financial expense. Management believes that the impaired value of the ownership 
interest reflects 13.6% of the present value of the company’s future earnings. 
 
There were no indications of impairment in other non-current assets.  
 
    Test assumptions  Sensitivity analysis 

  Carrying 
amount of 

goodwill 
Revenue 

growth
EBIT 

per cent 

WACC
 after

tax

WACC
before 

tax

EBIT
permitted

drop

WACC
permitted

increase
BioMar 784.6 4.3% 5.2% 7.7% 7.7% 59% 5.9pp
Fibertex Personal Care 99.1 5.9% 11.3% 7.8% 8.0% 55% 6.2pp
Fibertex Nonwovens 122.3  8.3% 8.0% 8.3% 8.6% 22% 2.1pp
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This section of the annual report contains notes relating to the 
Group's capital structure. 
 
The following notes are presented in this section: 
 
17. Financial income 
18. Financial expenses 
19. Interest-bearing debt 
20. Share capital 
 

Comments  
 
Financial income 
Financial income fell by DKK 2 million higher from DKK 52 million 
to DKK 50 million. Fair value adjustments of DKK 7 million relat-
ing to the Group's investment in Innowo Print were recognised in 
2014. On the other hand, foreign exchange gains increased by 
DKK 6 million to DKK 25 million.  
 

Financial expenses 
Financial expenses for 2015 include a DKK 43 million write-down 
on the Group’s shares in Salmones Austral. When adjusted for 
this special expense, financial expenses fell from DKK 87 million 
in 2014 to DKK 53 million in 2015. Most of the decline consisted 
of DKK 16 million in reduced interest expenses and a DKK 15 mil-
lion reduction of capital losses. The average effective rate of in-
terest was 3.9% in 2015 compared with 4.2% in 2014. 
 

Liabilities 
Interest bearing debt was DKK 987 million, representing a year-
on-year reduction of DKK 188 million. The main reason for the 
lower interest-bearing debt was the repayment of long-term 
debt. Most of the Group's debt is still in Danish kroner or in euro, 
these currencies representing 69% of total debt in 2015 (2014: 
72%). In addition, some 16% of the Group's debt at 31 December 
2015, was in MYR. The group has converted most of its interest-
bearing debt to fixed rates through interest rate swaps and, as a 
result, the Group is not particularly sensitive to changes in inter-
est rates.  

 
 
Shown in the bar charts are five-year consolidated figures ad-
justed for the divestments of Martin and Grene. 
 
Net interest-bearing debt 
Net interest-bearing debt was reduced from a net debt of DKK 44 
million in 2014 to a net deposit of DKK 511 million at 31 Decem-
ber 2015. The Group’s net interest-bearing debt is historically low 
due to the strong cash flow from operating activities including the 
lower working capital in 2015. 
 

 
 
Treasury shares 
The share capital was unchanged at 25,500,000 shares of DKK 
100 each.  
 
At 31 December 2014, Schouw & Co. held 2,009,933 treasury 
shares, corresponding to 7.88% of the share capital. A further 
73,197 treasury shares were acquired in 2015, whereas 177,000 
treasury shares were sold for use in the Group’s share option pro-
gramme. Accordingly, Schouw & Co. held 1,906,130 treasury 
shares at 31 December 2014, corresponding to 7.48% of the 
share capital. The portfolio of treasury shares is recognised at 
DKK 0. 

 
 
Accounting policies 
 
Financial income and expenses  
Financial income and expenses include interest and capital gains 
and losses on transactions in foreign currency and impairment 
losses on securities. Also included are amortisation of financial 
assets and liabilities, finance lease obligations, surcharges and 
refunds under the on-account tax scheme. and changes in fair 
values of derivative financial instruments that do not qualify as 
hedge accounting. Financial expenses relating to the construction 
of non-current assets are recognised as part of the cost of the as-
set. 
 

Financial liabilities 
Debt to credit institutions is recognised at the raising of a loan at 
fair value less transaction costs incurred. In subsequent periods, 
financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost, applying the 
“effective interest rate method”, to the effect that the difference 
between the proceeds and the nominal value is recognised in the 
income statement under financial expenses over the term of the 
loan. In addition, the capitalised residual lease liability under fi-
nance leases is recognised under financial liabilities. 
 

Significant accounting estimates 
No significant accounting estimates were made in the calculation 
of financial liabilities. 
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-23 

44

-511

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

Net interest-bearing debt

4,230 4,627 5,746 6,074 6,677

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

Equity

Notes · capital structure 



 

All amounts in DKK million  Annual  Report 2015  Schouw & Co.  67 

 

17 F I N A N C I A L  I N C O M E  

 

 2015 2014 

  
Interests from financial assets measured 25.1 25.6
Currency transaction adjustments 25.1 19.0
Fair value adj. of financial assets measured through profit or loss 0.0 7.3
Total 50.2 51.9
 
 
 

18 F I N A N C I A L  E X P E N S E S  

 

 2015 2014

  
Interests from financial liabilities -41.0 -57.2
Fair value adj. of hedging transactions transferred from equity -7.0 -8.0
Currency transaction adjustments -5.3 -20.6
Fair value adj. of financial assets measured through profit or loss -43.3 -0.9
Total -96.6 -86.7
 
 
Through BioMar, the Group holds a 13.6% interest in the Chilean fish farming company Salmones 
Austral. The Chilean fish farming industry has faced difficult market conditions, which has triggered 
a critical review of the valuation of the ownership interest in Salmones Austral. The net present value 
of Salmones Austral was estimated on the basis of budgets and forecasts for the company and using 
a DCF model. The review resulted in a DKK 43 million write-down, which amount was recognised as 
a financial expense. 
 
Borrowing costs of DKK 0.2 million were capitalised in 2015 based on an average rate of interest of 
2.3% p.a. No borrowing costs were capitalised in 2014.  
 

19 N E T  I N T E R E S T - B E A R I N G  D E B T  

 
Debt recognised in the balance sheet: 
 

 2015 2014 

  
Credit institutions (non-current) 469.6 606.9
Mortgage debt (non-current) 216.1 248.0
Lease debt (non-current) 0.9 3.5
Recognised under non-current debt to credit institutions, total 686.6 858.4
Current portion of non-current liabilities 190.6 238.1
Credit institutions (current) 109.4 77.6
Interest-bearing debt in total 986.6 1,174.1

  
Fair value of the interest bearing debt 987.2 1,175.4
 
Maturity profile of interest-bearing debt: 
 

 2015 2014 

Payment  
Overdraft facilities without planned repayment 109.4 77.6
Less than 1 year 204.0 262.7
1-5 years 539.0 737.0
More than 5 years 172.2 166.7
Total 1,024.6 1,244.0

  
Rate of interest  
Overdraft facilities without planned repayment 0.0 0.0
Less than 1 year 13.4 24.6
1-5 years 18.8 38.1
More than 5 years 5.8 7.2
Total 38.0 69.9

  
Carrying amount  
Overdraft facilities without planned repayment 109.4 77.6
Less than 1 year 190.6 238.1
1-5 years 520.2 698.9
More than 5 years 166.4 159.5
Total 986.6 1,174.1
 
Spot rate used for floating rate loans in the table above. 

Notes · capital structure 
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19 N E T  I N T E R E S T - B E A R I N G  D E B T  ( C O N T I N U E D )   
 2015 2014

 
Weighted average effective rate of interest of the year was (%) 3.9 4.2
Weighted average effective rate of interest on the balance sheet date was (%) 2.8 3.1
 
Percentage breakdown of interest-bearing debt by currency: 
 

 
 
 
Breakdown of assets under finance leases are included in debt to credit institutions as follows: 
 

 2015 2014

Lease payment   
Expire in less than 1 year 2.8 10.4 
Expire in 1-5 years 1.0 3.6 
Expire in more than 5 years 0.0 0.0 
Total 3.8 14.0 

  
Rate of interest   
Expire in less than 1 year 0.1 0.3 
Expire in 1-5 years 0.1 0.1 
Expire in more than 5 years 0.0 0.0 
Total 0.2 0.4 

  
Carrying amount   
Expire in less than 1 year 2.7 10.1 
Expire in 1-5 years 0.9 3.5 
Expire in more than 5 years 0.0 0.0 
Total 3.6 13.6 

 
 
The fair value of liabilities relating to assets held under finance leases largely corresponds to the 
carrying amount.  
 
The fair value is an estimate of the present value of future cash flows applying a market rate for  
similar leases. 
 
Interest rate risk 
The Group hedges parts of the interest rate risk on its debt subject to a case-by-case assessment. 
Such assessments include, in addition to expectations for interest rate developments, the amount of 
the total floating rate debt relative to equity. Hedging normally consists of interest rate swaps and 
rate caps. All interest rate swaps and rate caps are used to hedge underlying loans/credit facilities. 
 
Interest profile of interest-bearing debt: 
 

 
 
 
Fixed rate debt includes loans, for which the rate of interest will not be reset within the next year. 
 

 2015 2014 

Hedging expires in:  
Less than 1 year 13.3 0.0
1-5 years 409.8 449.5
More than 5 years 207.0 228.4
Total 630.1 677.9
 
An increase in interest rates of 1 percentage point would cause the annual interest expense to in-
crease by about DKK 2 million after tax (2014: DKK 3 million). 
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20 S H A R E  C A P I T A L  

 
The share capital consists of 25,500,000 shares with a nominal value of DKK 10 each. All shares 
rank equally. The share capital is fully paid up. 
 

 

Treasury shares Number of shares
Nominal value 

 in DKK Cost
Percentage of
share capital

1 January 2014 1,621,113 16,211,130 206.0 6.36%
Share option programme -301,667 -3,016,670 -36.5 -1.18%
Additions 690,487 6,904,870 180.2 2.70%
31 December 2014 2,009,933 20,099,330 349.7 7.88%
Share option programme -177,000 -1,770,000 -21.5 -0.69%
Additions 73,197 731,970 23.8 0.29%
31 December 2015 1,906,130 19,061,300 352.0 7.48%
 
Schouw & Co. has been authorised by the shareholders in general meeting to acquire up to 
5,100,000 treasury shares, equal to 20.0% of the share capital. The authorisation is valid until 1 April 
2017. 
 
The company acquires treasury shares for allocation to the Group’s share option programmes. 
 
A total of 177,000 shares held in treasury were used in connection with options exercised in 2015. 
The shares had an aggregate fair value of DKK 57.9 million at the time of exercise. 
 
The Group’s holding of treasury shares had a market value of DKK 737.7 million at 31 December 
2015 (2014: DKK 582.9 million). 
 
The share capital has remained unchanged in the past five years. 
 
Dividend 
A dividend of DKK 10 per share is proposed in respect of the 2015 financial year for a total dividend 
amount of DKK 255.0 million. On 14 April 2015, the Group paid a dividend of DKK 8 per share for a 
total dividend amount of DKK 204.0 million. Payment of dividends has no tax implications for the 
company.  
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This section of the annual report contains notes relating to the 
Group's taxation.  
 
The following notes are presented in this section: 
 
21. Tax on profit/loss for the year 
22. Deferred tax 
23. Income tax 
 

Comments 
 
Income tax 
Schouw & Co. achieved a profit before tax for the year of DKK 871 
million. Tax on the profit for the year was an expense of DKK 226 
million, for an effective tax rate of 26%.  
 
The rate should be compared with the Group’s expected weighted 
tax rate of 27%. However, that rate is not adjusted for tax-deduct-
ible costs, the biggest of which is BioMar’s write-down on shares 
in Salmones Austral. The biggest item in terms of non-taxable in-
come is the share of profit in associates and joint ventures, which 
are recognised after tax. In addition, the tax rate is increased by 
the dividend tax rate in Chile and reduced by the use of non-capi-
talised prior-year losses.  
 

Accounting policies 
 
Taxation 
Schouw & Co. is taxed jointly with all its Danish subsidiaries. The 
current Danish income tax liability is allocated among the compa-
nies of the tax pool in proportion to their taxable income. Compa-
nies that use tax losses in other companies pay a joint tax contri-
bution to the parent company at an amount corresponding to the 
tax value of the tax losses used. Companies whose tax losses are 
used by other companies receive joint tax contributions from the 
parent company corresponding to the tax value of the losses used 
(full absorption). The jointly taxed companies pay tax under the 
Danish on-account tax scheme. 
 
Income tax comprises current tax and changes in deferred tax 
for the year. The tax expense relating to the results for the year is 
recognised in the income statement, and the tax expense relating 
to changes in equity is recognised in equity. 
 

In certain countries, the distribution of dividends is liable to taxa-
tion. Tax on dividends is provided only to the extent a resolution to 
distribute dividends has been made or to the extent the company 
has a dividend distribution policy. 
 
To the extent the Schouw & Co. Group benefits from a deduction 
in the determination of taxable income in Denmark due to share-
based incentive programmes, the tax effect of such programmes 
is included in income tax. Any tax deduction exceeding the ac-
counting cost is recognised directly in equity. 
 
Current tax liabilities and current tax receivables are recognised 
in the balance sheet as calculated tax on the taxable income for 
the year, adjusted for tax on prior years’ taxable income and for 
tax paid under the on-account tax scheme. 
 
Deferred tax is calculated in accordance with the balance sheet 
liability method on all timing differences between the accounting 
and tax value of assets and liabilities. However, no deferred tax is 
recognised on timing differences regarding non-deductible good-
will and other items for which timing differences have arisen at 
the acquisition date without affecting the financial results or tax-
able income. 
 
Deferred tax assets, including the tax base of tax loss carry-for-
wards, are recognised under other non-current assets at the ex-
pected value of their utilisation, either as a set-off against tax on 
future income or as a set-off against deferred tax liabilities within 
the same legal tax entity and jurisdiction. 
 
Deferred tax adjustments are made regarding eliminations of un-
realised intercompany gains and losses. 
 
Deferred tax is measured based on the tax rules and rates in the 
respective countries that will apply under the legislation in force 
on the balance sheet date when the deferred tax asset is ex-
pected to crystallise as current tax. Changes in deferred tax re-
sulting from changes in tax rates are recognised in the income 
statement.  
 
Deferred tax assets are reviewed annually and recognised only to 
the extent that it is probable that they will be utilised. 

Significant accounting estimates 
 

Deferred tax assets 
The calculation of deferred tax assets is based on estimates of 
the extent to which prior-year losses can be utilised against fu-
ture earnings. For Danish companies, tax assets have been capi-
talised at a tax rate of 22%. Minor adjustments of deferred tax as-
sets were made in 2015, because losses were used a little sooner 
than otherwise anticipated. 
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21 T A X  O N  T H E  P R O F I T  F O R  T H E  Y E A R  

 

 
 2015 2014

Tax for the year is composed as follows:  
Tax on the profit for the year -226.3 -273.6
Tax on other comprehensive income -2.9 2.9
Tax in total -229.2 -270.7

 
Tax on the profit for the year has been calculated as follows:  
Current tax -194.2 -242.2
Deferred tax -34.7 -30.0
Change in deferred tax due to change in corporate income tax rates 1.4 3.2
Adjustment of prior-year tax charge 1.2 -4.6
Tax recognised in the income statement in total -226.3 -273.6

  
Specification of the tax on the profit for the year:  
Calculated 23.5% (24.5%) tax of the profit for the year 23.5% 24.5%
Adjustment of calculated tax in foreign subsidiaries relative to 23.5% (24.5%) 3.5% -0.6%
Estimated weighted consolidated income tax rate 27.0% 23.9%
Change of corporate income tax rate -0.2% -0.5%
Tax effect of non-deductible costs and non-taxable income -0.7% -2.1%
Tax effect on share of profit in associates and joint ventures -2.3% 0.0%
Tax effect of write-down on ownership interest in Salmones Austral 1.7% 0.0%
Tax effect of dividend tax in Chile 1.8% 16.5%
Tax effect of adjustment of prior-year tax charge -0.1% 0.7%
Tax effect of non-capitalised tax asset 0.4% 0.9%
Tax effect of deferred tax regarding previous years recognised this year -1.6% -0.3%
Effective tax rate 26.0% 39.0%

 
  
 

 

 
   2015  
      
Tax on items taken directly to other comprehensive income Before tax Tax After tax
Exchange adjustments of foreign units, etc. 104.7 0.0 104.7
Hedging instruments for the year 3.0 -0.9 2.1
Hedging instruments transferred to cost of sales 0.3 -0.1 0.2
Hedging instruments transferred to financials 7.0 -1.7 5.3
Other comprehensive income from associates and JVs -7.9 0.0 -7.9
Other adjustments recognised directly in equity -0.3 -0.2 -0.5
Tax on items taken directly to other comprehensive income in to-
tal 106.8 -2.9 103.9

    
   2014  
      
Tax on items taken directly to other comprehensive income Before tax Tax After tax
Exchange adjustments of foreign units, etc. 190.6 0.0 190.6
Hedging instruments for the year -18.7 4.7 -14.0
Hedging instruments transferred to cost of sales 1.1 -0.3 0.8
Hedging instruments transferred to financials 8.0 -2.0 6.0
Other comprehensive income from associates and JVs -6.7 0.0 -6.7
Other adjustments directly to the equity -1.8 0.5 -1.3
Tax on items taken directly to other comprehensive income in to-
tal 172.5 2.9 175.4
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22 D E F E R R E D  T A X  

 

     2015      

        

Change in deferred tax Balance at 1 Jan
Foreign exchange

adjustment
Additions on

acquisition
Recognised in 

profit for the year
Recognised in other

comprehensive income Balance at 31 Dec
Intangible assets 19.7 1.5 0.0 0.9 0.0 22.1
Property, plant and equipment 156.9 -6.0 0.0 12.2 0.0 163.1
Receivables -1.6 0.0 0.0 -12.9 0.0 -14.5
Inventories 4.4 0.2 0.0 8.6 0.0 13.2
Other current assets 0.2 0.0 0.0 -0.2 0.0 0.0
Provisions -1.4 0.0 0.0 -0.2 0.0 -1.6
Other liabilities -18.0 0.7 0.0 -1.1 0.5 -17.9
Tax losses -60.8 0.4 0.0 25.8 0.0 -34.6
Total change in deferred tax 99.4 -3.2 0.0 33.1 0.5 129.8

 
 
    2014      

        

Change in deferred tax Balance at 1 Jan
Foreign exchange

adjustment
Additions on

acquisition
Recognised in 

profit for the year
Recognised in other

comprehensive income Balance at 31 Dec
Intangible assets 6.7 0.7 15.7 -3.4 0.0 19.7
Property, plant and equipment 149.0 5.6 0.0 2.3 0.0 156.9
Receivables -11.0 -0.9 0.0 10.3 0.0 -1.6
Inventories 3.5 0.4 0.0 0.5 0.0 4.4
Other current assets 0.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.2
Provisions -1.2 0.0 -0.3 0.1 0.0 -1.4
Other liabilities -12.3 -1.5 0.0 -4.4 0.2 -18.0
Tax losses -82.2 -0.3 0.0 21.7 0.0 -60.8
Total change in deferred tax 52.7 4.0 15.4 27.1 0.2 99.4
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22 D E F E R R E D  T A X  ( C O N T I N U E D )  

 

 2015 2014

 
Deferred tax at 1 January 99.4 52.7
Foreign exchange adjustment -3.2 4.0
Deferred tax adjustment at 1 January -0.5 0.0
Deferred tax for the year recognised in profit for the year 34.7 30.0
Effect of lowering corporate income tax -1.4 -3.2
Transferred to income tax payable, 1 January 0.3 0.3
Deferred tax for the year recognised in other comprehensive income 0.5 0.2
Addition on acquisition of subsidiary 0.0 15.4
Net deferred tax at 31 December 129.8 99.4

 
Deferred tax is recognised in the balance sheet as follows:  
Deferred tax (asset) -18.1 -51.9
Deferred tax (liability) 147.9 151.3
Net deferred tax at 31 December 129.8 99.4

 
Deferred tax pertains to:  
Intangible assets 22.1 19.7
Property, plant and equipment 163.1 156.9
Current assets -1.3 3.0
Provisions -1.6 -1.4
Other liabilities -17.9 -18.0
Tax loss carry-forwards -34.6 -60.8
Net deferred tax at 31 December 129.8 99.4
 
 
Schouw & Co. has capitalised tax assets of DKK 18 million. It is expected that the tax capitalised will 
be absorbed by taxable income within the next few years. 
 
There are no deferred tax liabilities that have not been recognised in the balance sheet. Tax losses 
with an aggregate tax value of DKK 54 million (2014: DKK 43 million) have not been capitalised, be-
cause it is considered unlikely that they will be realised. 

 

23 I N C O M E  T A X  

 

 2015 2014 

  
Net income tax payable at 1 January 122.8 4.7
Exchange adjustments at 1 January -1.5 0.5
Current tax for the year 194.2 242.2
Prior-year adjustments -0.5 4.6
Transferred from deferred tax at 1 January -0.3 -0.3
Current tax for the year recognised in other comprehensive income 1.3 -3.0
Additions on acquisitions 0.0 1.9
Corporate income tax paid during the year -290.5 -127.8
Income tax at 31 December 25.5 122.8

  
Which is distributed as follows:  
Income tax receivable -5.9 -8.4
Income tax payable 31.4 131.2
Income tax at 31 December 25.5 122.8
 
 
Income tax paid by country 

 

* Dividend tax of DKK 132 million paid in Chile in the 2015 related to the accumulated profit for the 
period 2000-2014. 
 

55 195454020 3015 6010 25 50 1900 5 35
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This section of the annual report contains other mandatory notes 
that do not fall within the scope of the other sections of the re-
port. 
 
The following notes are presented in this section: 
 
24. Pensions, provisions and other payables 
25. Securities 
26. Contingent liabilities and guarantees 
27. Financial risk 
28. Categories of financial assets and liabilities 
29. Fair value of categories of financial assets and liabilities 
30. Fees to auditors appointed by the general meeting 
31. Earnings per share (DKK) 
32. Related party transactions 
33. Events after the balance sheet date 
34. New financial reporting regulations 
 

Comments 
 

Securities 
The Group's holding of securities contracted by DKK 31 million to 
DKK 84 million at 31 December 2015. The 13.6% ownership inter-
est in Chilean fish farming company Salmones Austral SpA repre-
sents DKK 82 million of this amount. At 31 December 2014, Sal-
mones Austral SpA was recognised at DKK 113 million. The 
change for the year of DKK 31 million consisted of a DKK 43 mil-
lion write-down and foreign exchange adjustments of DKK 12 mil-
lion.  
 

Accounting policies 
 
Pension obligations  
The Group has set up pension plans and similar arrangements 
with the majority of the Group’s employees. 
 
Liabilities relating to defined contribution plans are recognised in 
the income statement in the period in which the benefits vest, and 
payments due are recognised in the balance sheet under other 
payables. 
 
For defined benefit plans, annual actuarial calculations are made 
of the net present value of future benefits to be paid under the 
plan. The net present value is calculated based on assumptions of 

the future developments of salary, interest, inflation and mortal-
ity rates, among other things. The net present value is calculated 
only for those benefits earned by the employees through their 
employment with the Group to date. The actuarial calculation of 
the net present value less the fair value of any plan assets is rec-
ognised in the balance sheet as pension obligations. See below.  
 
Current service cost is recognised in the income statement based 
on actuarial estimates and financial forecasts at the beginning of 
the year. Differences between the expected development of pen-
sion assets, liabilities and the realised values are termed actuar-
ial gains and losses and are recognised in other comprehensive 
income. 
 
If changes occur in benefits payable regarding the employees’ 
service in the company to date, a change in the actuarial net pre-
sent value arises. This is termed past service cost. Past service 
cost is recognised immediately if the employees' right to the 
changed benefit has already vested. If not, it is recognised in the 
income statement over the period during which the employees' 
right to the changed benefits vests. 
 

Provisions 
Provisions are recognised when, as a consequence of an event 
occurring before or at the balance sheet date, the Group has a le-
gal or constructive obligation, the settlement of which is likely to 
result in an outflow from the Group of economic benefits. 
 
In the measurement of provisions, the expenditure required to 
settle the obligation is discounted. Changes in present values dur-
ing the year are recognised as financial expenses. 
 
Warranty commitments are recognised as the sale of goods and 
services is effected, based on incurred warranty costs from prior 
financial years. 
 
Restructuring costs are recognised as liabilities when a detailed, 
formal restructuring plan has been announced to the parties af-
fected by such plan on or before the balance sheet date. On ac-
quisition of enterprises, restructuring provisions relating to the 
acquired enterprise are included in the calculation of goodwill 
only if the acquired enterprise has a liability at the date of acqui-
sition. 
 

A provision for onerous contracts is recognised when the una-
voidable costs under a contract exceed the expected benefits to 
the Group from the contract.  
 

Other liabilities 
Other liabilities are measured at net realisable value. 
 

Securities 
Security holdings which do not enable the company to exercise 
control or a significant influence, and other securities are meas-
ured at fair value. Value adjustments of listed securities for which 
changes in fair value are regularly monitored, are recognised un-
der financial items in the income statement when they occur. Un-
listed securities for which the fair value is not regularly moni-
tored are classified as available for sale. The securities are meas-
ured at fair value, and unrealised value adjustments are recog-
nised directly in other comprehensive income, except for impair-
ment losses which are recognised in the income statement under 
financial items. On realisation, the accumulated value adjustment 
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified as fi-
nancials in the income statement. 
 

Significant accounting estimates 
 

Pension obligations 
In calculating the present value of pension obligations, a number 
of estimates have been made on the basis of life expectancy, 
price trends and a discount rate. As a result, the actual obligation 
may prove different than estimated.  
 
 

Other notes to the consolidated financial statements 
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24 P E N S I O N S ,  P R O V I S I O N S  A N D  O T H E R  P A Y A B L E S  

 

 2015 2014

  
Pensions 20.6 21.4
Provisions 7.0 5.4
Other payables 5.8 6.0
Accruals and deferred income 72.9 80.3
Pensions, provisions and other payables in total 106.3 113.1
 
It is group policy to fund all pension liabilities and predominantly to avoid defined benefit plans. The 
acquisition of the majority holding in BioMar Holding A/S at 31 December 2005 included defined ben-
efit pension obligations. 
 
Those pension obligations were calculated at DKK 20.6 million at 31 December 2015. The entire 
amount relates to Schouw & Co.’s liability to insure the entitlements to receive supplementary pen-
sions in accordance with the previous practise of the KFK pension funds. The entire obligation is re-
lated to people who were on the labour market at 30 September 2002 and who transferred to em-
ployment with the consortium that took over the divested grain and feed operations (the former 
KFK). Some uncertainty applies as to the amount of the pension obligation. Accordingly, final cover-
age of this liability may impact future financial results in a positive or a negative direction. The pen-
sion obligation has changed, involving payments of DKK 0.8 million in 2015 (2014: DKK 1.0 million). 
 
Provisions made comprise warranty commitments, etc. For certain products, the Group has a con-
tractual commitment to provide warranties of from 12 to 24 months. Under these warranties, the 
Group undertakes to replace or repair goods that do not function satisfactorily. The statement of ex-
pected expiry dates is based on previous experience of when claims for repair are typically received 
or goods are returned. 
 
Deferred income mainly consists of investment grants. 

25 S E C U R I T I E S  

 

   
Non current assets 2015 2014

Securities measured at fair value  
Cost at 1 January 116.3 100.9
Reclassified 0.0 -2.8
Foreign exchange adjustment 13.0 12.4
Additions 0.1 10.0
Disposals 0.0 -4.2
Cost at 31 December 129.4 116.3
Adjustments at 1 January -1.3 -1.4
Foreign exchange adjustment -0.9 0.1
Adjustments recognised in the income statement -43.3 0.0
Adjustments at 31 December -45.5 -1.3
Carrying amount at 31 December 83.9 115.0

 
Current assets 2015 2014

Securities measured at fair value  
Cost at 1 January 6.8 6.8
Cost at 31 December 6.8 6.8
Adjustments at 1 January -6.7 -6.7
Adjustments at 31 December -6.7 -6.7
Carrying amount at 31 December 0.1 0.1
 
Securities are classified as “available for sale”. 
 
Long-term securities consist primarily of a 13.58% shareholding in Salmones Austral SpA. Following 
a fair value calculation, the investment in Salmones Austral SpA was written down by DKK 43.3 mil-
lion in 2015. 
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26 P L E D G E S  A N D  G U A R A N T E E S  

 
Contingent liabilities 
The Schouw & Co. Group is currently a party to a small number of legal disputes. Management be-
lieves that the results of these legal disputes will not impact the Group’s financial position other 
than the receivables and liabilities that have been recognised in the balance sheet at 31 December 
2015. 
 
The Danish tax authorities (“SKAT”) have in a transfer pricing review increased the taxable income of 
the subsidiary Fibertex Personal Care A/S by DKK 122 million for the years 2007–2011. According to 
SKAT, the subsidiary Fibertex Personal Care Sdn. Bhd, Malaysia must pay an annual revenue-driven 
royalty to the Danish company in return for the use of intellectual property rights. The company's 
management disagrees with the decision, because no intellectual property rights have been trans-
ferred to the Malaysian subsidiary. Accordingly, SKAT's decision to increase the taxable income has 
been appealed to the National Tax Tribunal. Furthermore, SKAT has an obligation to negotiate a cor-
responding reduction of income in Malaysia with the Malaysian tax authorities, the outcome of which 
could fully or partly eliminate the consolidated tax effect. Due to the nature of the case, no liability 
has been recognised in respect of this tax matter. 
 
At 31 December 2015, the Group provided a guarantee to an insurance company in the amount of 
DKK 20 million. 
 
The following assets have been provided as security to credit institutions (carrying amount): 
 

 2015 2014

  
Land and buildings 594.6 449.0
Plant and machinery 197.3 197.5
Current assets 459.9 476.1
Other collaterals 0.0 8.7
Total 1,251.8 1,131.3
 
The collateral set out above represents the Group's debt to credit and mortgage-credit institutions of 
DKK 674.9 million (2014: DKK 681.8 million). 
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27 F I N A N C I A L  R I S K  

 
The Group’s risk management policy 
Due to the nature of its operations, investments and financing, the Group is exposed to changes in 
exchange rates and interest rates. Group policy is to not actively speculate in financial instruments. 
Accordingly, the Group’s financial management exclusively involves the management of financial 
risk relating to its operations, investments and financing. 
 
Risk relating to raw materials 
Risk on raw materials prices is not hedged by way of financial instruments. 
 
Credit risk 
The Group’s credit risk is primarily related to trade receivables (see note 6) and cash deposits. The 
Group seeks to avoid significant exposure to individual customers or business partners. The Group’s 
policy for undertaking credit risks involves an ongoing credit assessment of all major customers. At 
31 December 2015, the maximum credit risk considering the collateral provided was DKK 3,677.6 
million (trade receivables less collateral + cash).  
 
Liquidity risk 
It is group policy when raising loans to maximise flexibility by diversifying borrowing in respect of 
maturity/renegotiation dates and counterparties, with due consideration to costs. The Group’s cash 
reserves consist of cash and undrawn credit facilities. The Group's objective is to have sufficient 
cash resources to allow it to continue in an adequate manner to operate the business and to react to 
unforeseen fluctuations in its cash holdings. 
 

 2015 2014

  
Operating credit facility 1,958.8 2,057.3
Drawn operating credits, see note 19 -109.4 -77.6
Cash and cash equivalents 1,410.7 1,087.1
Cash resources 3,260.1 3,066.8
 
The Group's credit facilities have mainly been raised with large Scandinavian banks, with whom the 
Group has had a long-standing relationship. Most operating credits can be terminated at short no-
tice, with the exception of the DKK 600 million credit facility, which is interminable on the part of the 
bank until 31 May 2018, subject to compliance with covenants. The credit facility will be reduced by 
DKK 40 million per year until expiry in May 2018.  
 
Capital management 
Schouw & Co. gives priority to having a high equity ratio in order to ensure financial versatility. The 
company’s significant undrawn credit limits provide it with substantial cash resources. 
 
 
 

Currency risk 
In order to limit currency risk, the group applies a number of financial instruments, mainly forward 
currency transactions. The individual group companies manage and hedge current and future cur-
rency positions in accordance with guidelines determined by Schouw & Co. It is group policy to 
hedge material expected currency flows in currencies not closely correlated with EUR 6–12 months 
forward. Currency positions in EUR are not hedged. The Group has a number of investments in for-
eign subsidiaries, for which the translation of equity into Danish kroner is subject to currency risk. 
Generally, group policy is not to hedge net investments. In addition to risks from actual currency 
streams, the recognition of profit in foreign subsidiaries in the consolidated financial statements is 
also affected by changes in average exchange rates of local functional currencies relative to Danish 
kroner. Such risks are not hedged. 
 
The Group has generally had a relatively modest foreign exchange exposure because its sales have 
to a large degree had a natural hedge through same-currency costs. At the balance sheet date, the 
Group's largest foreign currency exposures relative to its functional currency are to the following 
currencies. 
 
Currency Likely change in exchange rate* Effect on profit for the year** 
DKK/MYR 9% -9.7 
USD/DKK 12% 10.3 
USD/NOK 18% -7.4 
USD/MYR 23% 6.5 
EUR/TRY 11% -9.0 
* Percentage increase in exchange rate  
** A decrease in the exchange rate would reverse the sign 
 
The effect on the profit for the year of likely changes in Danish kroner exchange rates against USD, 
MYR and TRY is shown in the table above. 'Likely change in exchange rate’ is based on changes in the 
year-end exchange rates of the last two years. 
 
Hedging of future cash flows is primarily done in BioMar, which often enters into substantial con-
tracts for the purchase of fish oil and fish meal in currencies other than the functional currency of 
individual Group companies. It is customary to hedge the foreign exchange risk on individual pur-
chases of raw materials at the time of purchase. 
 

 2015 2014   
Currency hedging 10.4 4.8
Interest rate hedging -26.8 -31.5
Hedging agreements before tax -16.4 -26.7
Tax on hedging agreements 4.0 6.7
Hedging agreements after tax -12.4 -20.0

 
Currency hedging expires in maximum (number of months) 9 13
Interest rate hedging expires in maximum (number of months) 132 144
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27 F I N A N C I A L  R I S K  -  C O N T I N U E D  

 
The Group’s debt maturity profile:   
  Cash flows including interests 

2015 Carrying amount
Overdraft facilities w/o 

planned repayment Less than 1 year 1-5 years More than 5 years Total 

Non-derivative financial instruments:    
Banks and other credit institutions 983.0 109.4 201.2 538.0 172.2 1,020.8 
Financial leases 3.6 0.0 2.8 1.0 0.0 3.8 
Trade payables 2,152.0 0.0 2,152.0 0.0 0.0 2,152.0 
Other current payables, etc. 377.7 0.0 377.7 0.0 0.0 377.7 

   
Derivative financial instruments:    
Forward currency contracts used as hedging instruments 0.1 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.1 
Interest rate swaps used for hedging 26.8 0.0 6.6 16.3 5.0 27.9 
Recognised in the balance sheet total 3,543.2 109.4 2,740.4 555.3 177.2 3,582.3 

   
Operational leases  90.6 255.0 148.4 494.0 
Legal obligation at 31 December for the purchase of PPE  299.1 45.9 0.0 345.0 
Total  109.4 3,130.1 856.2 325.6 4,421.3 

   
      

  Cash flows including interests 

2014 Carrying amount
Overdraft facilities w/o

planned repayment Less than 1 year 1-5 years More than 5 years Total 

Non-derivative financial instruments    
Banks and other credit institutions 1,160.5 77.6 252.3 733.4 166.7 1,230.0 
Financial leases 13.6 0.0 10.4 3.6 0.0 14.0 
Trade payables 1,867.4 0.0 1,867.4 0.0 0.0 1,867.4 
Other current payables, etc. 324.0 0.0 324.0 0.0 0.0 324.0 

   
Derivative financial instruments    
Forward currency contracts used as hedging instruments 1.4 0.0 1.4 0.0 0.0 1.4 
Interest rate swaps used for hedging 31.5 0.0 10.3 15.9 6.8 33.0 
Recognised in the balance sheet total 3,398.4 77.6 2,465.8 752.9 173.5 3,469.8 

   
Operational leases  87.4 245.0 195.3 527.7 
Legal obligation at 31 December for the purchase of PPE  66.0 0.0 0.0 66.0 
Total  77.6 2,619.2 997.9 368.8 4,063.5 
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28 C A T E G O R I E S  O F  F I N A N C I A L  A S S E T S  A N D  L I A B I L I T I E S  

 
Financial assets 2015 2014

 
Non-current assets  
Other investments and securities (other equity holdings) 83.9 115.0
Available-for-sale financial assets (3) 83.9 115.0

 
Other receivables 177.7 144.2
Receivables measured at amortised cost 177.7 144.2

 
Current assets  
Trade receivables 2,557.5 2,423.5
Other receivables 189.2 162.4
Cash and cash equivalents 1,410.7 1,087.1
Receivables measured at amortised cost 4,157.4 3,673.0

 
Other investments and securities (other equity holdings) 0.1 0.1
Available-for-sale financial assets (3) 0.1 0.1

 
Other receivables (derivative financial instruments)  10.6 6.2
Trading portfolio (2) 10.6 6.2

 
Financial liabilities  
Non-current liabilities  
Debt to mortgage-credit institutions 216.1 248.0
Other (debt) to credit institutions 470.6 610.5
Other liabilities 5.8 6.0
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 692.5 864.5

 
Current liabilities  
Debt to mortgage-credit institutions 24.3 25.0
Other (debt) to credit institutions 275.7 290.7
Trade payables 2,152.0 1,867.4
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 2,452.0 2,183.1

 
Other debt (derivative financial instruments)  27.0 32.9
Trading portfolio (2) 27.0 32.9

 
 

 
 
1) Listed shares, stated at market value of shareholding (level 1). No items are currently classified at this level. 
2) Financial instruments valued by external credit institutions using generally accepted valuation techniques on the 
basis of observable data (level 2). 
3) Unlisted shares, stated at estimated value (level 3).  
 
The fair value of financial assets and liabilities measured at amortised cost largely corresponds to 
the carrying amount. 
 
 

29 F A I R  V A L U E  O F  C A T E G O R I E S  O F  F I N A N C I A L  A S S E T S  A N D  L I A -
B I L I T I E S  

   
 2015 2014

  
Financial assets  
Derivative financial instruments to hedge future cash flows – level 2 10.6 6.2
Securities measured at fair value through other comprehensive income – 
level 3 84.0 115.1

  
Financial liabilities  
Derivative financial instruments to hedge future cash flows – level 2 16.8 32.9
 
Securities measured at fair value through other comprehensive income – level 3 amounted to DKK 
115.1 million at the beginning of the year. The change for the reporting period was due to foreign ex-
change adjustments of DKK 12.2 million and a write-down of DKK 43.3 million. The write-down of 
DKK 43.3 million relates to the Group’s ownership interest in Salmones Austral and was made due to 
the deteriorated market conditions of Chile’s fish farming industry. 
 
The Group uses interest rate swaps and forward currency contracts to hedge fluctuations in the level 
of interest rates and foreign exchange rates. Forward exchange contracts and interest rate swaps 
are valued using generally accepted valuation techniques based on relevant observable swap curves 
and exchange rates. The fair values applied are calculated mainly by external sources on the basis of 
discounted future cash flows. 
 
The fair value of derivative financial instruments is calculated by way of valuation models such as 
discounted cash flow models. Anticipated cash flows for individual contracts are based on observa-
ble market data such as yield curves and exchange rates. In addition, fair values are based on non-
observable market data, including exchange rate volatilities, or correlations between yield curve, ex-
change rates and credit risks. Non-observable market data account for an insignificant part of the 
fair value of the derivative financial instruments at the end of the reporting period. 
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30 F E E S  T O  A U D I T O R S  A P P O I N T E D  B Y  T H E  G E N E R A L  M E E T I N G  

 

 
 2015 2014

  
Statutory audit fees, EY -4.5 -3.4
Fees for other assurance engagements, EY -0.4 -0.3
Fees for tax and VAT related services, EY -2.3 -1.3
Fees for other services, EY -2.4 -2.2
Total fees, EY -9.6 -7.2

 
Statutory audit fees, other accountants -0.6 -1.7
Fees for other assurance engagements, other auditors -0.1 -0.1
Fees for tax and VAT related services, other accountants -0.6 -0.9
Fees for other services, other accountants -1.0 -0.3
Total fees, other accountants -2.3 -3.0
 
 

31 E A R N I N G S  P E R  S H A R E  ( D K K )  

 

 2015 2014

   
Share of the profit for the year attributable to shareholders of Schouw & Co. 647.8 427.8

  
Average number of shares 25,500,000 25,500,000
Average number of treasury shares -1,924,775 -1,833,701
Average number of outstanding shares 23,575,225 23,666,299

  
Average dilutive effect of outstanding share options * 88,443 73,377
Diluted average number of outstanding shares 23,663,668 23,739,676

  
Earnings per share in Danish kroner of DKK 10 27.48 18.08
Diluted earnings per share in Danish kroner of DKK 10 27.38 18.02
 
* See note 3 for information on options that may cause dilution. 
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32 R E L A T E D  P A R T Y  T R A N S A C T I O N S  

 
Under Danish legislation, Givesco A/S, Svinget 24, DK-7323 Give, members of the Board of Directors, 
the Management Board and senior management as well as their family members are considered to 
be related parties. Related parties also comprise companies in which the individuals mentioned 
above have material interests. Related parties also comprise subsidiaries, joint arrangements and 
associates, see note 13 to the consolidated financial statements and note 9 to the parent company 
financial statements, in which Schouw & Co. has control, significant influence or joint control of as 
well as members of the boards of directors, management boards and senior management of those 
companies. 
 
Management's remuneration and share option programmes are set out in note 3. 
 

 
 2015 2014

Joint Ventures:   
During the financial year, the Group received consulting fees in the amount of 0.2 0.1

 
Associates:  
During the financial year, the Group received management fee in the amount of 0.1 0.1
During the financial year, the Group sold goods in the amount of 20.1 0.0
During the financial year, the Group bougth goods in the amount of 2.4 0.0
During the financial year, the Group received interest income in the amount of 0.4 1.2
At 31 December the Group had a receivable in the amount of 10.9 9.9
At 31 December the Group had debt in the amount of 0.1 0.0
During the financial year, the Group received dividends in the amount of 49.2 76.0
 
The Group traded with Xergi, Kramp, Incuba Invest, LetSea and BioMar-Sagun.  
 
Other than as set out above, no transactions were made during the year with related parties. 
 
Schouw & Co. has registered the following shareholders as holding 5% or more of the share capital: 
Givesco A/S (28.09%), Direktør Svend Hornsylds Legat (14.82%) and Aktieselskabet Schouw & Co. 
(7.48%). 
 
 

33 E V E N T S  A F T E R  T H E  B A L A N C E  S H E E T  D A T E  

 
On 9 November 2015, Schouw & Co. signed an agreement to acquire the Swedish hydraulics busi-
ness Specma AB. The transaction was completed on 4 January 2016, and Specma is thus consoli-
dated with effect from the beginning of 2016.  
 
On 29 January 2016, Schouw & Co. signed an agreement to acquire the Danish EMS manufacturer 
GPV International A/S. The agreement is subject to approval by the relevant authorities, and the 
transaction is expected to be completed around 1 April 2016.  
 
Other than as set out above and elsewhere in this Annual Report, Schouw & Co. is not aware of 
events occurring after 31 December 2015, which are expected to have a material impact on the 
Group's financial position or outlook. 
 
 

34 N E W  F I N A N C I A L  R E P O R T I N G  R E G U L A T I O N S  

 
A number of new standards and interpretations were issued in 2015 that are not mandatory for 
Schouw & Co. A/S, including IFRS 14–16 and Amendments to IFRS 9. 
  
Schouw & Co. expects to implement the adopted standards and interpretations that have not yet 
come into force when they become mandatory as per the EU effective dates. 
  
The amendments are not expected to have any material impact on the financial reporting of Schouw 
& Co. 
 

Other notes to the consolidated financial statements 



 

All amounts in DKK million  Annual  Report 2015  Schouw & Co.  82 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 



 

 All amounts in DKK million  Annual  Report 2015  Schouw & Co.  83 

 

 

 
 

Note Income statement 2015 2014 

    
1 Revenue 5.2 4.5
3 Other operating income 1.9 0.0

2, 22 Administrative expenses -33.6 -28.4
 Operating profit (EBIT) -26.5 -23.9

   
 Recognition of share of profit in subsidiaries 565.8 402.9
 Recognition of share of profit in joint venture 9.2 5.4
 Recognition of share of profit in associates 71.8 22.2

11 Financial income 27.2 21.6
12 Financial expenses -2.0 -4.8

 Profit before tax 645.5 423.4

   
18 Tax on profit for the year 2.3 4.4

 Profit for the year  647.8 427.8

   
   
 Attributable to   

 Proposed dividend, DKK 10 per share (2014: DKK 8 per share) 255.0 204.0
Retained earnings 392.8 223.8
Profit for the year 647.8 427.8

 

 

 
Note Statement of comprehensive income 2015 2014

    
 Items that will be reclassified to the income statement:   
 Hedging instruments recognised during the year -1.0 -2.0
 Hedging instruments transferred to financials 1.9 1.8
 Value adjustment of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures 106.6 177.4
 Other adjustments to parent company shareholders’ equity 1.3 -1.8

18 Tax on other comprehensive income -0.2 0.0
 Other comprehensive income after tax 108.6 175.4

   
 Profit for the year 647.8 427.8
 Total recognised comprehensive income 756.4 603.2

 
  

Statements of income and comprehensive income 1.1–31.12 
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Note Assets 
31/12 
2015

31/12 
 2014 

1/1 
2014 

     
 Land and buildings 16.1 16.1 16.1
 Other fixtures, tools and equipment 2.6 2.6 1.5

7 Property, plant and equipment 18.7 18.7 17.6

  
9 Equity investments in subsidiaries 4,240.8 3,871.2 4,242.3
9 Equity investments in joint ventures 35.2 25.7 20.3
9 Equity investments in associates 561.5 545.8 607.3
 Securities 0.4 0.4 0.4

19 Deferred tax 14.8 13.6 15.1
8 Receivables from subsidiaries 305.8 387.3 381.0
 Other non-current assets 5,158.5 4,844.0 5,266.4

  
 Total non-current assets 5,177.2 4,862.7 5,284.0

  
8 Receivables from subsidiaries 739.0 933.4 405.5
4 Receivables 16.8 10.4 151.4

21 Income tax 4.7 0.0 10.3
 Cash 858.9 380.0 465.5
 Total current assets 1,619.4 1,323.8 1,032.7

  
 Total assets 6,796.6 6,186.5 6,316.7

 

 

Note Liabilities and equity 
31/12
2015

31/12
2014

1/1 
2014

     
14 Share capital 255.0 255.0 255.0

 Hedge transaction reserve -4.9 -5.6 -5.4
 Net revaluation reserve as per the equity method 1,291.3 903.9 673.1
 Retained earnings 4,859.4 4,713.6 4,666.9
 Proposed dividend 255.0 204.0 153.0
 Total equity 6,655.8 6,070.9 5,742.6

  
15 Pensions and similar liabilities 20.6 21.4 22.4
13 Credit institutions 6.2 6.8 14.9

 Non-current liabilities 26.8 28.2 37.3

  
13 Current portion of non-current debt 0.5 8.1 8.8
13 Payables to subsidiaries 67.8 40.2 472.9
6 Trade payables and other payables 16.7 14.0 22.5

20 Joint taxation contribution 29.0 25.1 32.6
 Current liabilities 114.0 87.4 536.8

  
 Total liabilities 140.8 115.6 574.1

  
 Total liabilities and equity 6,796.6 6,186.5 6,316.7

  
 Notes without reference 10, 16, 17 & 23.  

 
  

Balance sheet · Assets and liabilities 
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Note 2015 2014

    
 Profit before tax 645.5 423.4
 Adjustment for operating items of a non-cash nature, etc.  

2 Depreciation and impairment losses 0.3 0.2
 Other operating items, net 2.4 -2.6
 Share of profit from subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures -646.8 -430.5
 Provisions -0.8 -1.0
 Financial income -27.2 -21.6
 Financial expenses 2.0 4.8
 Cash flows from operating activities before changes in working capital -24.6 -27.3

  
5 Changes in working capital 2.6 -0.9
 Cash flows from operating activities -22.0 -28.2

  
 Financial income received 17.3 17.8
 Financial expenses paid -2.2 -2.9
 Cash flows from ordinary activities -6.9 -13.3

  
20,21 Joint taxation contribution received and net tax paid 1.0 8.9

 Cash flows from operating activities -5.9 -4.4

  
 Purchase of property, plant and equipment -0.3 -1.3
 Capital increase in subsidaries -7.5 -42.0
 Dividend from subsidiaries 367.2 1,076.0
 Loans to associates 0.0 -0.5
 Cash flows from investing activities 359.4 1,032.2

 
 

 
Note 2015 2014

  
 Debt financing:  
 Repayment of non-current liabilities -8.1 -8.9
 Increase (repayment) of intra-group balances 307.3 -825.8
 Shareholders:  
 Dividend paid -188.8 -142.5
 Purchase / sale of treasury shares, ect. 14.2 -133.9
 Cash flows from financing activities 124.6 -1,111.1

  
 Cash flows for the year 478.1 -83.3
 Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 380.0 465.5
 Value adjustment of cash and cash equivalents 0.8 -2.2
 Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December ¹ 858.9 380.0

 
 

 

Cash flow statement 1 January – 31 December 
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 Share capital
Hedge transaction re-

serve

Net revaluation 
reserve as per the 

equity method
Retained 
earnings

Proposed 
dividend Total equity

      
Equity at 1 January 2014 255.0 -5.4 0.0 4,123.2 153.0 4,525.8
Change in accounting policies 0.0 0.0 673.1 543.7 0.0 1,216.8
New equity at 1 January 2014 255.0 -5.4 673.1 4,666.9 153.0 5,742.6

 
Other comprehensive income in 2014  
  Value adjustment of hedging instruments recognised during the year 0.0 -2.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 -2.0
  Hedging instruments transferred to financials 0.0 1.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.8
  Value adjustment of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures 0.0 0.0 177.4 0.0 0.0 177.4
  Other adjustments to parent company shareholders’ equity 0.0 0.0 -1.2 -0.6 0.0 -1.8
  Tax on other comprehensive income 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
  Profit for the year 0.0 0.0 430.6 -206.8 204.0 427.8
Total recognised comprehensive income 0.0 -0.2 606.8 -207.4 204.0 603.2
Transactions with the owners  
  Share-based payment, net 0.0 0.0 0.0 5.3 0.0 5.3
  Dividend distributed 0.0 0.0 -376.0 386.5 -153.0 -142.5
  Treasury shares bought/sold 0.0 0.0 0.0 -137.7 0.0 -137.7
Transactions with the owners for the year 0.0 0.0 -376.0 254.1 -153.0 -274.9

 
Equity at 31 December 2014 255.0 -5.6 903.9 4,713.6 204.0 6,070.9

 
Other comprehensive income in 2015  
  Value adjustment of hedging instruments 0.0 -1.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 -1.0
  Hedging instruments transferred to financials 0.0 1.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.9
  Value adjustment of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures 0.0 0.0 106.6 0.0 0.0 106.6
  Other adjustments to parent company shareholders’ equity 0.0 0.0 1.3 0.0 0.0 1.3
  Tax on other comprehensive income 0.0 -0.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 -0.2
  Profit for the year 0.0 0.0 646.7 -253.9 255.0 647.8
Total recognised comprehensive income 0.0 0.7 754.6 -253.9 255.0 756.4
Transactions with the owners  
  Share-based payment, net 0.0 0.0 0.0 7.9 0.0 7.9
  Dividend distributed 0.0 0.0 -367.2 382.4 -204.0 -188.8
  Treasury shares bought/sold 0.0 0.0 0.0 9.4 0.0 9.4
Transactions with the owners for the year 0.0 0.0 -367.2 399.7 -204.0 -171.5

 
Equity at 31 December 2015 255.0 -4.9 1,291.3 4,859.4 255.0 6,655.8
 
The hedge transaction reserve contains the accumulated net change in the fair value of hedging transactions that meet the criteria for hedging future cash flows and for which the hedged transaction has 
yet to be realised. 
 
Net revaluation reserve as per the equity method contains the accumulated change of investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates from the date of acquisition until the balance sheet date 
and expresses the accumulated change in value of the investment while in the Group’s ownership. 

Statement of changes in equity 
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The structure of the parent company Schouw & Co.’s financial statements is consistent with that ap-
plied last year.  
 

Accounting policies 
General reference is made to the description of accounting policies provided in the consolidated fi-
nancial statements. Matters particular to the parent company are described in the following. 

 
Changes in accounting policies 
The Group has prospectively implemented IAS 27, which allows for the recognition of investments in 
subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates at a share of net asset value. Schouw & Co. has changed 
its accounting policy from recognition of investments at cost to a share of net asset value. 
 
Under the previous accounting policy, subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates were recognised in 
the balance sheet at cost less any write-downs. Dividends received were recognised as financial in-
come in the parent company income statement. Under the new accounting policy, subsidiaries, joint 
ventures and associates are recognised in the balance sheet at a share of net asset value. The share 
of profit of an investment is recognised in the parent company’s income statement after tax and 
added to the value of the investment in the balance sheet. Dividends received are deducted from the 
investment in the balance sheet. The change in accounting policy provides consistency between 
profit and equity in the parent company and the consolidated financial statements.  
 
In the parent company financial statements for 2015, comparative figures for 2014 have been re-
stated accordingly. The change has resulted in the following adjustments for the parent company: 
  

 
New 

practice 
2015

Old 
practice 

2015

New 
practice 

2014

Old
 practice

2014

Income statement     
Recognition of share of profit in subsidiaries etc. 646.8 0.0 430.5 0.0 
Financial income 27.2 394.4 21.6 1,097.6 
Financial expenses -2.0 -2.0 -4.8 -707.5 
Profit for the year 647.8 368.2 427.8 370.8 

   
Balance sheet    
Investments in subsidiaries, etc. 4,837.5 3,001.1 4,442.7 2,993.6 
Shareholders' equity 6,655.8 4,819.4 6,070.9 4,621.8 
Total assets 6,796.6 4,960.2 6,186.5 4,737.4 

 
The change in accounting policy has increased the profit for the year by DKK 279.6 million (2014: 
DKK 57.0 million). In the balance sheet, investments in subsidiaries etc. increased by DKK 1,836.4 
million (2014: DKK 1,449.1 million). As the change has only affected the value of subsidiaries etc., 
the total assets and equity have both increased by the same amounts. 
 
Other than as set out above, the accounting policies are consistent with those applied last year. 

Profit/(loss) from investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures 
The proportionate share of the profit or loss from individual subsidiaries, associates and joint ven-
tures after tax and after elimination of the proportionate share of intra-group gains or losses is rec-
ognised in the income statement. 

 
Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures 
Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures are measured at cost on initial recognition 
and subsequently at the proportionate share of the companies’ net asset value calculated in accord-
ance with the parent company’s accounting policies with the deduction or addition of unrealised in-
tra-group gains and losses and with the addition or deduction of goodwill calculated according to the 
purchase method. 
 
Companies with a negative net asset value are recognised at DKK nil, and any receivable amount 
from these companies is written down, to the extent it is deemed to be irrecoverable, by the parent 
company’s share of the negative net asset value. If the negative net asset value exceeds the amount 
receivable, the residual amount is recognised under provisions to the extent that the parent company 
has a legal or constructive obligation to cover the subsidiary’s negative balance. 
 
The net revaluation of investments is taken to the reserve for net revaluation under equity according 
to the equity method to the extent the carrying amount exceeds cost. 
 
Newly acquired or newly established companies are recognised in the financial statements from the 
date of acquisition. Enterprises disposed of or wound up are recognised until the date of disposal. 
 

Shareholders' equity 
The purchase and sale sums of treasury shares and dividends thereon are taken directly to retained 
earnings under equity. 
 
Treasury shares 
Proceeds from the sale of treasury shares in Schouw & Co. in connection with the exercise of share 
options or employee shares are taken directly to equity. 
 

Dividend 
Dividend is recognised as a liability at the time of adoption by the shareholders at the annual general 
meeting (the date of declaration). Dividends expected to be declared in respect of the year are stated 
as a separate line item under equity. 
  

Notes · Basis of preparation of the parent company  
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1 R E V E N U E     
 2015 2014

  
Management fee 5.2 4.5
Total revenue  5.2 4.5
 

2 C O S T S     
 2015 2014

  
Staff costs  
Remuneration to the Board of Directors of Schouw & Co. -2.8 -2.6
Wages and salaries -15.9 -15.0
Defined contribution pension plans -1.0 -1.0
Other social security costs -0.1 -0.1
Share-based payment -2.4 -1.7
Total staff costs -22.2 -20.4

 
Average number of employees 11 11

 
 

Depreciation  
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment -0.3 -0.2
Total depreciation -0.3 -0.2

 
Depreciation is recognised in the income statement as follows:  
Administration -0.3 -0.2
Total depreciation -0.3 -0.2
 
For more information on salaries, pensions and share-based payment to the Executive Management 
of Schouw & Co., see note 3 to the consolidated financial statements. 
 
Staff costs including share-based payment are recognised under administrative expenses. 
 

3 O T H E R  O P E R A T I N G  I N C O M E   
 2015 2014

   
Other operating income 1.9 0.0
Total other operating income 1.9 0.0
 
Other operating income in 2015 relates to  an expected reimbursement of VAT in connection with a 
change in the deductibility of VAT in holding companies. 
 

4 R E C E I V A B L E S  -  C U R R E N T   
 2015 2014

   
Receivables from associates 9.9 9.9
Other current receivables 6.5 0.2
Accruals and deferred income 0.4 0.3
Receivables current 16.8 10.4
 
No impairment losses were recognised on receivables during the year. 
 

5 C H A N G E S  I N  W O R K I N G  C A P I T A L    
 2015 2014

   
Change in receivables -6.2 0.5
Change in trade payables and other payables 8.8 -1.4
Changes in working capital in total 2.6 -0.9
 

6 T R A D E  P A Y A B L E S  A N D  O T H E R  P A Y A B L E S    
 2015 2014

   
Trade payables 0.2 0.5
Other payables 16.5 13.5
Trade payables and other payables in total 16.7 14.0
  

Notes to the parent company financial statements 
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7 P R O P E R T Y ,  P L A N T  A N D  E Q U I P M E N T   

2015 
Land and 
buildings

Other fix-
tures, tools

and 
equipment Total

Cost at 1 January 2015 18.9 7.2 26.1
Additions 0.0 0.3 0.3
Disposals 0.0 -0.2 -0.2
Cost at 31 December 2015 18.9 7.3 26.2

 
Depreciation and impairment at 1 January 2015 -2.8 -4.6 -7.4
Depreciation and impairment of disposed assets 0.0 0.2 0.2
Depreciation 0.0 -0.3 -0.3
Depreciation and impairment at 31 December 2015 -2.8 -4.7 -7.5
     
Carrying amount at 31 December 2015 16.1 2.6 18.7

 
Depreciated over 25 years 3-8 years  
 

2014 
Land and 
buildings

Other fix-
tures, tools

and 
equipment Total

Cost at 1 January 2014 18.9 5.9 24.8
Additions 0.0 1.3 1.3
Cost at 31 December 2014 18.9 7.2 26.1

 
Depreciation and impairment at 1 January 2014 -2.8 -4.4 -7.2
Depreciation 0.0 -0.2 -0.2
Depreciation and impairment at 31 December 2014 -2.8 -4.6 -7.4
     
Carrying amount at 31 December 2014 16.1 2.6 18.7

 
Depreciated over 25 years 3-8 years  
 
At 31 December 2015, Schouw & Co. owned the property at Chr. Filtenborgs Plads 1, Aarhus, which 
is the Group’s head office, and an undeveloped site at Hovmarken 18, Lystrup. 

8 R E C E I V A B L E S  F R O M  S U B S I D I A R I E S   
 2015 2014

   
Receivables from subsidiaries - non-current 305.8 387.3
Receivables from subsidiaries - current 739.0 933.4
Receivables from subsidiaries in total 1,044.8 1,320.7

  
Break down of receivables from subsidiaries:  
Interest-bearing 1,043.5 1,319.1
Non-interest-bearing 1.3 1.6
Receivables from subsidiaries in total 1,044.8 1,320.7
 
No impairment losses were recognised on receivables during the year. 
 
For receivables which mature within 12 months after the end of the financial year, the nominal value 
is estimated to correspond to the fair value.  

Notes to the parent company financial statements 
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9 I N V E S T M E N T S  I N  S U B S I D I A R I E S ,  J O I N T  V E N T U R E S  A N D  A S S O C I -
A T E S  
 
The parent company has the following subsidiaries: 
 

Name Registered office 
Ownership interest

- 2015
Ownership interest

- 2014
BioMar Group A/S Aarhus, Denmark 100% 100%
Fibertex Personal Care A/S  Aalborg, Denmark 100% 100%
Fibertex Nonwovens A/S  Aalborg, Denmark 100% 100%
Hydra-Grene A/S  Skjern, Denmark 100% 100%
Schouw & Co. Finans A/S Aarhus, Denmark 100% 100%
Niels Bohrs Vej A/S Aarhus, Denmark 100% 100%
Saltebakken 29 ApS Aarhus, Denmark 100% 100%
Alba Ejendomme A/S Aarhus, Denmark 100% 100%
 

 
31/12 
2015

31/12 
2014

1/1
2014

 
Cost at 1 January 2,817.1 3,475.1 3,475.1
Dividends exceeding accumulated profit 0.0 -700.0 0.0
Additions 7.5 42.0 0.0
Cost at 31 December 2,824.6 2,817.1 3,475.1

 
Adjustments at 1 January 1,054.1 767.2 -477.0
Change in accounting policies 0 0 1,244.2
Share of profit for the year 565.8 402.9 0.0
Dividends paid -318.0 -300.0 0.0
Other capital entries 114.3 184.0 0.0
Adjustments at 31 December 1,416.2 1,054.1 767.2

 
Carrying amount at 31 December 4,240.8 3,871.2 4,242.3

 
Of which carrying amount of goodwill 510.2 510.2 510.2
 
Schouw & Co. has tested investments, including goodwill in subsidiaries, for impairment. The impair-
ment tests did not result in investments being written down. 
 
The parent company has the following joint ventures: 
 

Name Registered office 
Ownership interest

2015
Ownership interest

2014
Xergi A/S Støvring, Denmark 50% 50%

 

 
31/12 
2015

31/12 
2014

1/1 
2014

 
Cost at 1 January 60.0 60.0 60.0
Cost at 31 December 60.0 60.0 60.0

 
Adjustments at 1 January -34.3 -39.7 -39.9
Change in accounting policies 0 0 0.2
Share of profit for the year 9.2 5.4 0.0
Other capital entries 0.3 0.0 0.0
Adjustments at 31 December -24.8 -34.3 -39.7

 
Carrying amount at 31 December 35.2 25.7 20.3
 
No goodwill has been capitalised in respect of investments in joint ventures. 
 
The parent company has the following associates: 
 

Name Registered office 
Ownership interest

- 2015
Ownership interest 

- 2014 
Incuba Invest A/S Aarhus, Denmark 49% 49% 
Kramp Groep B.V. Varsseveld, The Netherlands 20% 20% 
 

 
31/12 
2015

31/12 
2014

1/1 
2014

   
Cost at 1 January 661.5 661.5 661.5
Cost at 31 December 661.5 661.5 661.5

   
Adjustments at 1 January -115.7 -54.2 -26.6
Change in accounting policies 0 0 -27.6
Share of profit for the year 71.8 22.2 0.0
Dividends paid -49.2 -76.0 0.0
Other capital entries -6.9 -7.7 0.0
Adjustments at 31 December -100.0 -115.7 -54.2

   
Carrying amount at 31 December 561.5 545.8 607.3

   
Of which carrying amount of goodwill 300.5 299.8 300.4
 
For more information about significant associates, see Note 13 to the consolidated financial state-
ments. 
  

Notes to the parent company financial statements 
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10 O P E R A T I N G  L E A S E  L I A B I L I T I E S   
 

 2015 2014

  
Due for payment within 1 year 0.2 0.2
Due for payment within 1-5 years 0.3 0.2
Due for payment after 5 years 0.0 0.0
Operating leases in total 0.5 0.4
 
An amount of DKK 0.2 million (2014: DKK 0.4 million) relating to operating leases has been recog-
nised in the income statement for 2015. The parent company has lease agreements for cars only. 
 

11 F I N A N C I A L  I N C O M E  

 

 2015 2014

  
Interest income from subsidiaries 16.8 14.0 
Currency transaction adjustments 9.5 3.4 
Other interest income 0.9 4.2 
Total financial income 27.2 21.6 
 
 

12 F I N A N C I A L  E X P E N S E S  

 

 2015 2014

  
Interest payable to subsidiaries 0.0 -0.4
Interests on financial liabilities -0.1 -0.2
Fair value adjustments of hedging transactions transferred from equity -1.9 -1.8
Currency transaction adjustments 0.0 -2.4
Total financial expenses -2.0 -4.8
 

13 N E T  I N T E R E S T - B E A R I N G  D E B T  

 
Debt recognised in the balance sheet: 
 

 2015 2014

  
Mortgage debt (non-current) 6.2 6.8
Recognised under non-current debt to credit institutions, total 6.2 6.8
Current portion of non-current liabilities 0.5 8.1
Payables to subsidiaries  63.1 40.2
Interest-bearing debt in total 69.8 55.1

  
Fair value of the interest bearing debt 69.9 55.1
 
Maturity profile of interest-bearing debt: 
 

 2015 2014

  
Payment  
Payables to subsidiaries without planned repayment 63.1 40.2
Less than 1 year 0.6 8.4
1-5 years 2.4 2.4
More than 5 years 4.2 4.9
Total 70.3 55.9

  
Rate of interest  
Payables to subsidiaries without planned repayment 0.0 0.0
Less than 1 year 0.1 0.3
1-5 years 0.2 0.2
More than 5 years 0.2 0.3
Total 0.5 0.8

  
Carrying amount  
Payables to subsidiaries without planned repayment 63.1 40.2
Less than 1 year 0.5 8.1
1-5 years 2.2 2.2
More than 5 years 4.0 4.6
Total 69.8 55.1
 
Spot rate used for floating rate loans. 
  

Notes to the parent company financial statements 
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13 N E T  I N T E R E S T - B E A R I N G  D E B T  ( C O N T I N U E D )  

 
The weighted average effective rate of interest for the year was 3.4% (2014: 1.8%). 
The weighted average effective rate of interest at the balance sheet date was 2.8% (2014: 3.9%). 
 
Distribution of interest-bearing debt by currency:  
DKK 86%, EUR 11% and USD 3% (2014: DKK 87% and EUR 13%).  
 
Interest rate risk 
The parent company hedges parts of the interest rate risk on its debt subject to a case-by-case as-
sessment. Such assessments include, in addition to expectations for interest rate developments, the 
amount of the total floating rate debt relative to equity. Hedging consists of interest rate swaps and 
rate caps. 
 
Interest profile of interest-bearing debt: 
 

 2015 2014

 
Fixed rate debt 0.0 7.6
Floating rate debt 69.8 47.5
Variable rate debt swapped to fixed rate debt 50.1 47.5
 
An increase in interest rates of 1 percentage point would cause the annual interest expense to in-
crease by about DKK 0.2 million after tax (2014: DKK 0.0 million). An increase in interest rates of 1 
percentage point would cause equity to rise by DKK 1.3 million after tax (2014: DKK 1.7 million). The 
fair value of the interest rate swap has been calculated using generally accepted valuation tech-
niques on the basis of observable data (level 2). The interest rate swap has a term to maturity of 3.5 
years. 
 
Fixed rate debt consists only of items, for which the rate of interest will not be reset within the next 
12 months. 
 
 

14 S H A R E  C A P I T A L  

 
The share capital consists of 25,500,000 shares with a nominal value of DKK 10 each. All shares 
rank equally. 
 
The share capital is fully paid up. Each share carries one vote, for a total of 25,500,000 voting rights. 

 

Treasury shares Number of shares
Nominal value

 in DKK Cost
Percentage of 
share  capital 

1 January 2014 1,621,113 16,211,130 206.0 6.36% 
Share option programme -301,667 -3,016,670 -36.5 -1.18% 
Additions 690,487 6,904,870 180.2 2.70% 
31 December 2014 2,009,933 20,099,330 349.7 7.88% 

  
Share option programme -177,000 -1,770,000 -21.5 -0.69% 
Additions 73,197 731,970 23.8 0.29% 
31 December 2015 1,906,130 19,061,300 352.0 7.48% 
 

In 2015, Schouw & Co. sold shares held in treasury for proceeds of DKK 33.2 million used for the 
Group's share option programme. The shares had a fair value of DKK 57.9 million at the time of sale. 
 
Schouw & Co. has been authorised by the shareholders in general meeting to acquire up to 
5,100,000 treasury shares, equal to 20.0% of the share capital. The authorisation is valid until 1 April 
2017. 
 
The company acquires treasury shares for allocation to the Group’s share option programmes. At 31 
December 2015, the company's treasury shares had a market value of DKK 737.7 million (2014: DKK 
582.9 million). 
 

15 P E N S I O N S  A N D  S I M I L A R  O B L I G A T I O N S  

 
It is company policy to fund all pension liabilities, so as predominantly to avoid defined benefit plans. 
However, as part of the merger with BioMar Holding, Schouw & Co. assumed a defined benefit obli-
gation. 
 

 2015 2014

   
Net liability at 1 January 21.4 22.4
Paid out -0.8 -1.0
Net liability at 31 December 20.6 21.4
 
The pension obligation was calculated at DKK 20.6 million at 31 December 2015. The entire amount 
relates to the liability to insure the entitlements to receive supplementary pensions in accordance 
with the previous practise of the KFK pension funds. The entire obligation is related to people who 
were on the labour market at 30 September 2002 and who transferred to employment with the con-
sortium that took over the divested grain and feed operations (the former KFK). Some uncertainty ap-
plies as to the amount of the pension obligation. Accordingly, final coverage of this liability may im-
pact future financial results in a positive or a negative direction.  
 
Amounts recognised in the consolidated income statement in respect of defined contribution plans 
and defined benefit plans are shown in note 3 to the financial statements.  

Notes to the parent company financial statements 
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16 P L E D G E S  A N D  G U A R A N T E E S  

 
Contingent liabilities 
The company is taxed jointly with the other Danish group companies. As a management company, 
the company is joint and severally liable with the other Danish group companies for Danish income 
tax and withholding tax on dividends, interest and royalties within the joint taxation pool. 
 
Guarantees 
The following assets have been provided as security to credit institutions: 
Land and buildings with a carrying amount of DKK 16.1 million (2014: DKK 16.1 million). 
The collateral set out above represents the parent company's debt to mortgage-credit institutions of 
DKK 6.9 million (2014: DKK 7.4 million). 
 
Surety for group debt to mortgage-credit institutions amounted to DKK 0.0 million (2014: DKK 8.7 
million). 
 
In addition, the Group has provided a guarantee to an insurance company in the amount of DKK 20 
million. 
 

17 F I N A N C I A L  R I S K  

 
The parent company’s risk management policy 
Due to the nature of its operations, investments and financing, the parent company is exposed pri-
marily to changes in the level of interest rates. Interest rate risks are described in greater detail in 
note 13. The parent company’s financial management exclusively involves the management of finan-
cial risk relating to operations and investment. 
 
Currency risk 
The parent company’s foreign exchange risks relate to its subsidiaries' foreign business operations. 
The parent company does not hedge these investments. In addition, the parent company has limited 
exposure to foreign exchange risk relating to EUR-  and USD-denominated net debt. The DKK/USD 
exchange rate can fluctuate to a considerable extent, whereas fluctuations in the DKK/EUR exchange 
rate are relatively modest. 'Likely change in exchange rate' is based on historical developments of 
the year-end exchange rates of the last two years. 

 
2014    

Currency Net position
Likely change in exchange 

rate*
Effect on profit for the 

year**
EUR/DKK 1,204.2 0.2% 2.4
USD/DKK 70.3 12.0% 8.4

   
2013    

Currency Net position
Likely change in exchange 

rate*
Effect on profit for the 

year**
EUR/DKK 610.4 0.2% 1.2
USD/DKK 67.5 13.0% 8.8
 
*) Percentage increase in exchange rate. 
**) A decrease in the exchange rate would reverse the sign. 
 
Credit risk 
The parent company credit risk relates primarily to receivables from subsidiaries and secondarily to 
cash deposits. 
 
Liquidity risk 
To ensure that the company always has the necessary cash resources to capitalise on opportunities 
for investment that may arise and to be able to settle obligations agreed, the company has entered 
into a number of agreements with recognised financial institutions, under which they provide credit 
lines to Schouw & Co. It is company policy to diversify borrowings on short term drawing facilities 
and long-term loans from an assessment of its current leverage as well as an assessment of the cur-
rent and expected future interest rate levels. The company's cash resources consist of cash, short-
term receivables from subsidiaries and undrawn credit facilities. 
 

 2015 2014

  
Operating credit facility 680.0 300.0
Cash and cash equivalents 858.9 380.0
Current receivables from group companies 737.7 931.8
Current liabilities to group companies -63.1 -40.2
Credit limits allocated to subsidiaries -1,061.4 0.0
Cash resources 1,152.1 1,571.6
  
Operating credits can be terminated at short notice. 
 
The maturity profile of the parent company’s interest-bearing financial liabilities is shown in note 13. 
  

Notes to the parent company financial statements 
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18 T A X  O N  T H E  P R O F I T  F O R  T H E  Y E A R      
 2015 2014

 
Tax for the year is composed as follows:  
Tax on the profit for the year 2.3 4.4
Tax on other comprehensive income -0.2 0.0
Tax in total 2.1 4.4

 
Tax on the profit for the year has been calculated as follows:  
Current tax 1.1 5.8
Deferred tax 0.4 -1.4
Adjustment of prior-year tax charge 0.8 0.0
Tax  recognised in the income statement in total 2.3 4.4

  
Specification of the tax on the profit for the year:   
Calculated 23.5% (24.5%) tax of the profit for the year -151.7 -103.7
Tax effect of non-deductible costs and non-taxable income 153.2 108.1
Tax effect of adjustment of prior-year tax charge 0.8 0.0
Tax recognised in the income statement in total 2.3 4.4

  
Effective tax rate -0.4% -1.0%
 
Non-taxable income and non-deductible expenses relate primarily to non-deductible income from in-
vestments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates. 

 
Tax on items taken to other comprehensive income Before tax Tax After tax
Hedging instruments for the year -1.0 0.2 -0.8
Hedging instruments transferred to financials 1.9 -0.4 1.5
Value adjustment of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures 106.6 0.0 106.6
Other adjustments to parent company shareholders’ equity 1.3 0.0 1.3
Total tax on items taken to other comprehensive income 108.8 -0.2 108.6

   
Tax on items taken to other comprehensive income Before tax Tax After tax
Hedging instruments for the year -2.0 0.4 -1.6
Hedging instruments transferred to financials 1.8 -0.4 1.4
Value adjustment of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures 177.4 0.0 177.4
Other adjustments to parent company shareholders’ equity -1.8 0.0 -1.8
Total tax on items taken to other comprehensive income 175.4 0.0 175.4

 

19 D E F E R R E D  T A X   
 2015 2014

  
Deferred tax at 1 January -13.6 -15.1
Deferred tax adjustment at 1 January -0.8 0.1
Deferred tax for the year recognised in profit for the year -0.4 1.4
Net deferred tax at 31 December -14.8 -13.6

  
Deferred tax pertains to:  
Property, plant and equipment -2.8 -3.1
Other liabilities -11.5 -9.6
Tax loss carry-forwards -0.5 -0.9
Net deferred tax at 31 December -14.8 -13.6
 
There are no deferred tax assets or tax liabilities that have not been recognised in the balance sheet. 

 
   2015  

     

Change in deferred tax Balance at 1 Jan
Recognised in profit 

for the year Balance at 31 Dec 
Property, plant and equipment -3.1 0.3 -2.8 
Other liabilities -9.6 -1.9 -11.5 
Tax losses -0.9 0.4 -0.5 
Total change in deferred tax -13.6 -1.2 -14.8 

   
   
   2014  

     

Change in deferred tax Balance at 1 Jan
Recognised in profit 

for the year Balance at 31 Dec 
Property, plant and equipment -4.3 1.2 -3.1 
Other liabilities -9.5 -0.1 -9.6 
Tax losses -1.3 0.4 -0.9 
Total change in deferred tax -15.1 1.5 -13.6 
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20 J O I N T  T A X A T I O N  C O N T R I B U T I O N S   
 2015 2014

 
Joint taxation contribution at 1 January 25.1 32.6
Current tax for the year -17.1 -18.6
Joint taxation contribution received/paid 21.0 11.1
Joint taxation contribution in total 29.0 25.1

 
Which is distributed as follows:  
Joint taxation contribution receivable 0.0 0.0
Joint taxation contribution payable 29.0 25.1
Joint taxation contribution in total 29.0 25.1
 

21 I N C O M E  T A X  

 

 2015 2014

 
Net income tax payable at 1 January 0.0 -10.3
Current tax for the year -1.2 -6.0
Transferred from deferred tax at 1 January 0.0 -0.1
Current tax for the year recognised in other comprehensive income -0.6 0.0
Current tax for the year from jointly taxed companies 17.1 18.6
Corporate income tax paid during the year -20.0 -2.2
Income tax in total -4.7 0.0

 
Which is distributed as follows:  
Income tax receivable -4.7 0.0
Income tax payable 0.0 0.0
Income tax in total -4.7 0.0
 

22 F E E S  T O  A U D I T O R S  A P P O I N T E D  B Y  T H E  G E N E R A L  M E E T I N G   
 2015 2014

  
Statutory audit fees, EY -0.2 -0.3
Fees for tax and VAT related services, EY -0.1 -0.1
Fees for other services, EY -1.1 -0.2
Total fees, EY -1.4 -0.6

23 Related party transactions 

 
Related parties are described in note 34 to the consolidated financial statements. 
 
Management's remuneration and share option programmes are set out in note 3 to the consolidated 
financial statements. 
 

 2015 2014

Subsidiaries:   
The parent company has during the year received a management fee of 5.0 4.4
The parent company has during the year received interests of 16.8 14.0
The parent company has at 31 December a receivable of 1,044.7 1,320.7
The parent company has at 31 December a debt of 67.8 40.2
The parent company has during the year received dividends of 318.0 1,000.0

  
Associates:  
The parent company has during the year received a management fee of 0.1 0.1
The parent company has during the year received interests of 0.4 1.2
The parent company has at 31 December a receivable of 9.9 9.9
The parent company has during the year received dividends of 49.2 76.0

  
Joint Ventures:  
The parent company has during the year received concultancy fee of 0.2 0.1
 
Other than as set out above, no transactions were made during the year with related parties. 
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To the shareholders of Aktieselskabet Schouw & Co. 
 
The Board of Directors and the Executive Management have considered and 
approved the annual report for the 2015 financial year. 
 
The annual report has been prepared in accordance with the International Fi-
nancial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU and Danish disclosure re-
quirements for listed companies.  
 
In our opinion, the consolidated and parent company financial statements 
give a true and fair view of the Group’s and the parent company’s assets, lia-
bilities and financial position at 31 December 2015 and of the results of the 
Group’s and the parent company’s operations and cash flows for the finan-
cial year ended 31 December 2015. 
 
In our opinion, the management’s report includes a fair review of the devel-
opment and performance of the Group and the parent company, the financial 
results and cash flows for the year and of the financial position, together 
with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties that the Group and 
the parent company face. 
 
We recommend that the annual report be adopted by the shareholder at the 
annual general meeting. 
 
Aarhus, 4 March 2016 
 
 

 
 
Executive Management 
 
 
 
 
 
Jens Bjerg Sørensen  Peter Kjær 
President and CEO 
 
 
 
 
Board of Directors 
 
 
 
 
 
Jørn Ankær Thomsen  Erling Eskildsen Niels Kristian Agner   
Chairman Deputy Chairman 
 
 
 
 
Erling Lindahl  Kjeld Johannesen Jørgen Wisborg 
 
 
 
 
 
Agnete Raaschou-Nielsen 
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To the shareholders of Aktieselskabet Schouw & Co. 
 
Independent auditors’ report on the consolidated financial statements and the 
parent company financial statements 
We have audited the consolidated financial statements and the parent company financial statements 
of Aktieselskabet Schouw & Co. for the financial year 1 January – 31 December 2015. The consoli-
dated financial statements and the parent company financial statements comprise income state-
ment, statement of comprehensive income, balance sheet, statement of changes in equity, cash flow 
statement and notes, including a summary of significant accounting policies for the Group as well as 
for the parent company. The consolidated financial statements and the parent company financial 
statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted 
by the EU and Danish disclosure requirements for listed companies.  
 

Management’s responsibility for the consolidated financial statements and the 
parent company financial statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial statements and parent com-
pany financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU and Danish disclosure requirements for listed companies 
and for such internal control that Management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 
consolidated financial statements and parent company financial statements that are free from mate-
rial misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 

Auditors’ responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements and the parent 
company financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with Inter-
national Standards on Auditing and additional requirements under Danish audit regulation. This re-
quires that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance as to whether the consolidated financial statements and the parent company financial 
statements are free from material misstatement.  
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 
in the consolidated financial statements and the parent company financial statements. The proce-
dures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements and the parent company financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors consider internal con-
trol relevant to the Company’s preparation of consolidated financial statements and parent company 
financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appro-
priate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the Company’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by Management, as well as eval-
uating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements and the parent company fi-
nancial statements. 
 
 
 

 
 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion. 
 
Our audit has not resulted in any qualification. 
 

Opinion 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements and the parent company financial statements 
give a true and fair view of the Group’s and the parent company’s financial position at 31 December 
2015 and of the results of the Group’s and the parent company’s operations and cash flows for the 
financial year 1 January – 31 December 2015 in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards as adopted by the EU and Danish disclosure requirements for listed companies.  
 

Statement on the Management’s review 
Pursuant to the Danish Financial Statements Act, we have read the Management’s review. We have 
not performed any further procedures in addition to the audit of the consolidated financial state-
ments and the parent company financial statements. On this basis, it is our opinion that the infor-
mation provided in the  Management’s review is consistent with the consolidated financial state-
ments and the parent company financial statements. 
 
 
 
Aarhus, 4 March 2016 
 
 
Ernst & Young 
Godkendt Revisionspartnerselskab 
CVR no. 30700228 
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